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Chairman’s Statement
FEERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the
“Company”), I am pleased to present the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The increase in net loss for the year was mainly attributable
0 (i) the gross loss and written down of inventories on the
liqguor and wine business of approximately HK$27 million due
to the bulk sales of the inventories of the liquor for more cash
inflow; (ii) a fair value loss of approximately HK$70 million in
respect of the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss; and (iii) the impairment loss on loans receivable of
approximately HK$13 million.

During the year under review, the hotel hospitality business
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$15.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$18.8 million) and a segment 10ss of
approximately HK$9.1 million (2021: approximately HK$22.6
million). The decrease in segment loss was mainly due to the
strict cost control of the operation.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had loans receivable with
gross principal amount of approximately HK$162.7 million
(2021: approximately HK$200.6 million) with related gross
interest receivables of approximately HK$51.6 million for the
year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: approximately HK$41.1
million).
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Chairman’s Statement
FREWE

The money lending business recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$10.9 million (2021: segment profit of
approximately HK$13.3 million). The segment loss was mainly
resulted from the impairment loss on loans receivable.

The revenue of the liquor and wine business for the year
ended 30 June 2022 was approximately HK$18.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$0.4 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$26.9 million was recorded for the year
ended 30 June 2022 (2021: approximately HK$0.8 million). The
bulk sales to the distributor that the Company can liquidate
the inventories to be cash for general working capital and
other investment opportunity. The Group had continually
source the customers to sell the inventories during the year.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere appreciation to our staff
for their dedication and commitment as well as to our valued
shareholders, customers, suppliers and other business
partners for their support and encouragement to the Group
in the past year.

Cheng Chi Kin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2022

EEEEE5 D FEE1E4710,900,0008 (=
T S FI413,300,0007T) ©
HERBETZERANERERZREBEBE -

EEEREGHNEE_E-_—_FXA=1H
I 2 W2 4 518,900,000 T ( = Z
——4 : 47400,000FT)  MEEZZT ==
FRANAZ+THLEFEZDBEEBBANA
26,900,000 7T ( — & = — 4 : #7800,000%
TL) e AMMEE FHOHEAREARRINEET
BEAEERRS  AfE—REEES REMEK
Biteg  c RAFE  AEETEMERFIA
HEFE -

o=

RiE AABHRKREZE RAE2EET
BHENBAROHE - WHREHEEE
PR BP - HERREMEBERFBE—
FHAREE 2 FF RS

N

FE
BFE

E% —E-_—FHHA=+H

TECCFFR o BERFHFEEERAT 5



Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group was engaged in four business
segments, (i) hotel hospitality business; (i) provision of money
lending services; (iii) trading and distribution of liguor and
wine; and (iv) investments in listed securities and funds.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s continuing operations
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$41.1 million (2021:
approximately HK$24.1 million). The net loss for the year
ended 30 June 2022 was approximately HK$135.8 million
(2021: approximately HK$36.9 million) while the loss for the
year attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$135.8 million (2021: approximately HK$35.4
million). Basic loss per share was approximately 0.87 HK cent
(2021: approximately 0.23 HK cent). The increase in net loss
for the year was mainly attributable to (i) the gross loss and
written down of inventories on the liqguor and wine business
of approximately HK$27 million due to the bulk sales of the
inventories of the liquor for more cash inflow, (i) a fair value
loss of approximately HK$70 million in respect of the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss; and (iii) the
impairment loss on loans receivable of approximately HK$13
million.

Hotel hospitality business

During the year, the hotel hospitality business recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$15.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$18.8 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$9.1 million (2021: approximately HK$22.6
million). The decrease in segment loss was mainly due to the
strict cost control of the operation.

Hotel hospitality business is the core business of the Group
which contributed approximately 39% of the Group's revenue
for the year ended 30 June 2022. The hotel, One Niseko
Resort Towers (the “Resort Towers”), is located in the famous
Japanese skiing destination of Niseko, Hokkaido, Japan.
Niseko is one of the famous ski resort areas in Japan and is
well known for its heavy light powder snow and spectacular
backcountry. The Resort Towers consists of 110 units of high-
end accommodation and has an onsen with an indoor and
outdoor bath. It attracts many tourists from world-wide for
skiing in the winter time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

In the course of preparing the financial statements, the
management had engaged an independent qualified valuer
(the "Hotel Valuer”) to determine the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit of the hotel hospitality business (the
“Hotel Hospitality Business CGU"). For the sake of prudence,
the management had further engaged another independent
qualified valuer to conduct an independent review of the
valuation report issued by the Hotel Valuer on the valuation
methodology and key valuation parameters. Both valuers are
members of Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and with
extensive experience in valuation of properties. In assessing
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit of the
hotel hospitality business as at 30 June 2022, the fair value
less cost of disposal method was adopted which based on
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
sales of similar transactions in the market.

Given the worldwide prevalence of the Novel Coronavirus (the
“COVID-19") pandemic, the Japanese Government adopted
the border enforcement measures, including in particular, the
denial of permission to entry for foreign nationals and the
quarantine measures. As a result, there was a drastic
decrease in the number of visitors to Japan in the year under
review which affected the global financial markets and the
real estate market in Japan. As the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit of the hotel hospitality business as at 30
June 2022 was lower than its carrying amount, impairment
loss on freehold land and building was recognised for the
year ended 30 June 2022.

As at the end of each financial year, the Company was
required to assess any indication that its assets and/or cash
generating unit may be impaired (i.e. the carrying amount
may be higher than the recoverable amount). Recoverable
amount is the higher of the assets’ or the cash generating
unit's value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposal. The
value-in-use is developed under the income approach while
the fair value less cost of disposal is developed based on
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
sales transaction evidences for similar premises in the
proximity. Comparable transactions vary along the change in
valuation date.

Direct comparison method under market approach is
considered to be the most popular and common valuation
approach in valuing the property. Moreover, income
approach has been indirectly adopted from the business
perspective in the calculation of the value-in-use of the Hotel
Hospitality Business CGU. Thus, direct comparison method is
adopted for valuing the fair value of property.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

The Company has consistently applied the same
methodology to determine the recoverable amount and the
fair value less cost of disposal was adopted for impairment
assessment as at 30 June 2022 and 2021.

The value-in-use calculation was the estimated future cash
flows discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflected current market assessment of
time value of money and the risk specific to the hotel
hospitality business. The calculation used in cash flow
projections was based on latest financial budgets covering a
period of 5 years with compound average annual growth rate
of revenue of approximately 16.0% (2021: 4.23%). The
compound annual growth rate of revenue was determined
with reference to historical revenue in the current year and
the 5-year forecasted revenue taking into account of the
expected number of tourists who would visit Niseko. Due to
worldwide prevalence of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
travel restrictions imposed by most of the countries, the
revenue growth rate in 2022 was lower than that in 2021 by
approximately 15.4%. The Company expects the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic would be contained and under
control in 2023 and consider the vaccination program
launched by the government in different countries, the
revenue in 2023 and 2024 would boost by approximately 28%
and 40% respectively. After the one-off event of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Directors expect the revenue would return to
normal level from the peak level and expected to record a
steadily annual growth rate of approximately 5% in the
subsequent years. The gross profit ratio of the forecasted
period was expected to be approximately 94% (2021: 94%)
with reference to the historical record. The pre-tax discount
rate of 17% (2021: 18%) was determined with reference to the
market conditions, such as company specific risk premium
and cost of debt of the hotel hospitality business. The cash
flow projections beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using a perpetual growth rate of 2% (2021: 2%) which was
referred to long-term growth rate of tourism in Niseko and
the long-term inflation rate in Japan.

The key assumption adopted in the fair value less cost of
disposal approach for 30 June 2022 and 2021 was the cost of
disposal which was 3.5% of the market value of the property.
It included the average market rate of brokerage fee and
other miscellaneous administrative and legal costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

Money lending services

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had loans receivable with
gross principal amount of approximately HK$162.7 million
(2021: approximately HK$200.6 million) with related gross
interest receivables of approximately HK$51.6 million for the
year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: approximately HK$41.1
million).

The loan portfolio comprises loans to independent third party
borrowers with term ranging from eight months to forty
months and interest rate ranged from 5.5% to 20% (2021:
5.5% t0 20%) per annum.

The money lending business recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$10.9 million (2021: segment profit of
approximately HK$13.3 million). The segment loss was mainly
resulted from the impairment loss on loans receivable.

In the course of preparing the financial statements, the
management had engaged an independent qualified valuer
(the "1st ECL Valuer”) to determine the expected credit losses
(the "ECL") of the Group’s loans receivable. For the sake of
prudence, the management had further engaged another
independent qualified valuer to conduct an independent
review of the valuation report issued by the 1st ECL Valuer on
the valuation methodology, the underlying assumptions, the
parameters and inputs used in the valuation for accounting
purpose. In assessing the ECL of the Group’s loans receivable,
a credit rating analysis of the underlying debtors was adopted
by reviewing the historical accounting information to estimate
the default risk. The Group applied different expected loss
rates to different classes of receivables according to their
respective risk characteristics. In determining the default risk,
factors including but not limited to, the ageing analysis of the
receivables, the Group's internal assessment of the debtors’
credit worthiness, historical and forecast occurrence of event
of default, existence and valuation of the collaterals, the
relevant regulatory framework and government policies in
Hong Kong and global economic outlook in general and the
specific economic condition of Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), would be considered. The rate
of ECL ranged from 10.52% to 100% (2021: 0% to 100%)
depending on the nature, probability of default and loss given
default of the loans receivable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBEWE S Hh

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money
lending business which includes compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations, credit assessment on
potential borrower and his/its assets, the credibility of the
potential borrower, the necessity in obtaining collaterals and
determination of suitable interest rate to reflect the risk level
of the provision of loan.

The Group has performed credit risk assessment before
granting the loans by (a) reviewing the financial information
of the potential borrower; and (b) performing an assessment
on the financial condition of the potential borrower and its
shareholder (for enterprises), such as the type and value of
assets owned by the potential borrower.

The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and the
value of security/collateral for granting of each loan, whether
to an individual or enterprise, on a case by case basis
considering factors, including but not limited to, the
repayment history, results of public search towards the
borrower, the value and location of the assets owned by the
borrower and the financial condition of the borrower.

For loan collection/recovery, the Group issues overdue
payment reminder to the borrower, instructs its legal advisers
to issue demand letter for loans overdue for a longer period
of time, negotiates with the borrower for the repayment or
settlement of the loan and/or commences legal actions
against the borrower.

Liquor and wine bhusiness

The revenue for the year ended 30 June 2022 of the liquor
and wine business was approximately HK$18.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$0.4 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$26.9 million was recorded for the year
ended 30 June 2022 (2021: approximately HK$0.8 million). The
bulk sales to the distributor that the Company can liquidate
the inventories to be cash for general working capital and
other investment opportunity. The Group had continually
source the customers to sell the inventories during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
THREFWRESH

Investments in Listed Securities and Funds

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had invested into a fund with a
value of approximately HK$75.8 million (2021: approximately
HK$59.8 million).

(1

TAR High Value Fund SP (the “TAR Fund”)

TAR Fund is a segregated portfolio created by TAR
Opportunities Fund SPC (“TAR SPC") which is a
segregated portfolio company incorporated under the
laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability. TAR
SPC is registered as a “segregated portfolio company”
with the Registrar of Companies of the Cayman Islands
and principally engaged in the investment and fund
related services. TAR SPC has appointed TAR Fund
Management (Cayman) Limited ("TAR Fund
Management”) as its investment manager. TAR Fund
Management is an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The director of
TAR Fund Management has over 10 years of experience
in manufacturing, management and investment and has
been involved in financial industries in the PRC and
Hong Kong for many years, and has considerable
experience in stock and derivative products. The
purpose of TAR Fund is to carry on the business of
investing, holding, monitoring and realising investments
made with the principal objective of achieving a high
rate of return through capital appreciation through
investments that operates in or derive significant
business opportunities from the financial services,
natural resources and/or property investments sectors.
Such investment can be in form of equity investments
and/or debt instruments including but not limited to
convertible or exchangeable bonds, notes and
debentures.

The value of the TAR Fund as at 30 June 2022 was
approximately HK$75.8 million, represented
approximately 10.5% to the Group’s total assets. The
TAR Fund had an average return of approximately
26.73% and 0.95% for the years ended 30 June 2022 and
2021 respectively.

thRERESRE

KRB —FXA=1+H AEERE—(AE
SHITRE - BEXT75800008T(ZF
——% : 4959,800,0005&7T) °
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— - —
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Fund )

TAR Fund &TAR Opportunities Fund
SPC(I[TARSPCH) R MBI E A
& MTAR SPC BiIRIEFR SRS EET
MR WB IR EHEEBR AR - TAR
SPCRIMERESAREMEERERA
[(BURERERR)] WEERER
ERESHEBRS -TARSPCE £ £
TAR Fund Management (Cayman)
Limited ([ TAR Fund Management!|) %&
H & & 4532 » TAR Fund Management
AERASHEIMANIMNEREERA
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(2) Listed Securities (2) LtmESH
For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group managed a BE_T-__FA=tHILFEE"
portfolio of listed securities. Details of the listed AEEEEFTEAFEE -BHELT
securities investments are as below: EHFREZFBWT
Significant listed securities investments as at 30 June R-ZIE-_—_FNA=1+HZEX LT
2022 EHRE
As at 30 June 2022
R-B--%xA=1H
Approximately
percentage
to total
Stock Number of  Proportion of  Investment Market  assets value
Name of listed securities code  Brief description of the business shares held share held cost value  of the Group
e
%) Firts ‘ BEAE
tHREER % EBE FisRO#E 134 RERF T BHED
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT BT
(Note )
GRE))
CLP Holdings Limited 2 Generation and supply of electricity
REERARAF EEREEEN 218,000 0.009% 17,023 14,192 197%
Shenzhen International 152 Toll roads and general-environmental
Holdings Limited protection business; and
logistics business
REBIERBRAF WEBARRRBRES  WRDTER 648,000 0.027% 5,020 5,003 0.70%
Hong Kong Exchangesand 388 Principally engaged in the business of
Clearing Limited operating the only Stock Exchange
inHong Kong
BERHREEMARAR TERSRERBE-NRER S 88,000 0.007% 30,386 33,968 4.73%
Shenzhen Expressway 548 Construction, operation, management,
Corporation Limited investment of toll highways and
N environmental protection in China
SRR RERRR FEUBLARRRREHORR
BRAR BEEBRREE 640,000 0.086% 5,037 5216 073%
Techtronic Industries 669 Power equipment business
Company Limited
EREEBRAR RRREER 10,000 0.001% 927 818 0.11%
Tencent Holdings Limited 700 VAS; Online advertising; FinTech
and Business Services
ERERERAR RERY  BEES 2RBER
DR 4,800 0.000% 1653 1,701 0.24%
China ConstructionBank 939 Provision of banking
Corporation and related financial services
REERETRHERAR REBITREESBRE 3,000,000 0.001% 16946 15810 2.20%
China Mobile Limited 941 Provision of telecommunications
and information related services
HEBHERAA RUBAREEEERS 330,000 0.002% 16,898 16,170 2.25%
AIA Group Limited 1299 Writing of life insurance business,

providing life insurance, accident
and health insurance and
savings plans

RARBERERAR ARERER  REAS IR
RERRAGSTE 32,000 0.000% 2517 2122 0.38%
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Stock

Name of listed securities code

B

taEsER ok

Hong Kong Aerospace 1725
Technology Group Limited

Brief description of the business

S IS

Electronics manufacturing services
business and aerospace business

Number of
shares held

FERHHE

As at 30 June 2022

R=B==FAA=1H

Proportion of
share held

i
Rtptefl

Approximately

percentage

to total

Investment Market  assets value

cost value  of the Group

hALE

BELE

RERS mE  BOESE
HK$'000 HK$'000

(Note)

EEMANRERERAA EFRERBEBRMARS 3,787,400 1.226% 113,881 67,491 9.39% (o
B &D Strategic Holdings 1780 Civil engineering works and
Limited provision of services on alteration
and addition works
B & D Strategic Holdings TARTENREHESER
Limited M TERE 2,815,000 0454% 6,957 3125 043%
Diwang Industrial Holdings 1950 Manufacturing and sales of
Limited faux leather chemicals
FIERERERAR AIEHERYEREE 9,216,000 0.768% 2073 1677 0.23%
BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) 2388 Provision of banking and related
Limited financial services
mREE (FR)ERAA RERTRAESBRE 950,000 0.009% 25,291 29,450 4.10%
Tracker Fund of HongKong 2800 Funds management
REES ESEE 233,000 0.005% 4,859 5,303 0.74%
Meituan 3690 Food delivery, In-store, hotel & travel,
and New initiatives
%M@ %Wh%ﬂ@ﬂﬁ < BB RIREEA R
MER 5,000 0.000% 782 A 0.14%
ID.com, Inc. 9618 Providing products and services to
consumers, third-party merchants,
B Suppliers and other business partner
REEEROBERARA MEEE  E=HER - fEER
EthEBEERHREER RS 6,500 0.000% 1,334 1,603 023%
251,584 205,260
Notes: PIE
(@  The percentage of shareholdings is calculated with reference to (8 BEASLLDSEBBIMBU EAIARE

the monthly return of equity issuer on movements in securities
for the month ended 30 June 2022 of the issuers publicly
available on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The Group will liquidate a portion of the shares with an aim to
enhance the liquidity position of the Group.

MrMEE—T-_—FXA=THILAMHZ
BN BEITANBESFEE ARKTESE -

FEBBERITHKNG  AREEAEHZ
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Significant gains/(losses) for the year ended 30 June B — T - —FNA=1+HIFEZ
2022 EAWa(E1E)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
BE-_E__EXA=THLEE
Realised Unrealised

Stock gains/ gains/  Dividend
Name of listed securities code (losses) (losses) received
B =8 $: RER
IhREEH K% WE/(BB) ks (BR) SHERR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TET FAET
CLP Holdings Limited REZRARA 2 - (2,831) 399
Shenzhen International Holdings  RYIBEERR B R A A
Limited 152 - (17) 534
Hong Kong Exchanges and ERRGREEMBRAT
Clearing Limited 388 - 3,582 366
Shenzhen Expressway Corporation  FISR ALK E R
Limited BRAT 548 - 179 -
Techtronic Industries Company EIMEXBRAR
Limited 669 34 (109) -
Tencent Holdings Limited BARERERA 700 65 48 7
Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group A ERSHNBEEBR A
Limited 767 (36,847) - -
China Construction Bank FRERBITROBRAT
Corporation 939 - (1,136) 1,259
China Mobile Limited REBHERAF 941 - (728) 802
AIA Group Limited RBREERARA 1299 - 205 34
Hong Kong Aerospace Technology  EAMARH RSB AR AH
Group Limited 1725 (1,312) (46,390) -
B & D Strategic Holdings Limited B & D Strategic Holdings Limited 1780 (368) (3,832 338
Diwang Industrial Holdings Limited ~ #EEX£ZRAERA 1950 (1,895) (396) -
BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited s8R &8 (FA%) AR A 2388 - 4,159 -
Tracker Fund of Hong Kong REES 2800 39 444 19
Meituan XA 3690 351 189 -
JD.com, Inc. RREEROHERAF 9618 78 309 49
(39,855) (46,324) 3,807
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PROSPECTS

The worldwide prevalence of the COVID-19 pandemic has
affected every sector across the globe, and the hotel
hospitality business is among the hardest hit.

Given the outbreak and widespread of the COVID-19, the
Japanese Government adopted the border enforcement
measures, including in particular, the denial of permission to
entry for foreign nationals and the quarantine measures. As a
direct result, there is a drastic decrease in the number of
visitors to Japan.

Despite the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group is still optimistic
about the prospects of the hotel hospitality business in Japan
in the long run with reference to: (i) the Japanese Government
will resume visa-free entry for individual travelers on 11
October 2022 with an aim to attract international visitors to
Japan, (ii) Niseko (where the Resort Towers is located) as a
premium skiing and sightseeing destination; and (iii) the
passing of the integrated resort law in Japan in 2018 and the
fact that the availability of integrated casino resorts in Japan
in future will attract more tourists travelling to Japan.

Although the businesses of the Group had been disrupted by
the COVID-19 pandemic, the impact of the pandemic should
be temporary. Given that the COVID-19 vaccination programs
have been launched by the government in different countries,
the Directors are confident in the future prospects of the
businesses of the Group, especially the hotel hospitality
business.

In the meanwhile, the Group will grasp investment
opportunities to diversify the Group’s business and, at the
same time, strive to control the costs to maintain stable
return to the shareholders of the Company.

26 B2
=[] s
HAUBREEEBEEEHELDTEL RS
T&EE  BERSEBZIRBRENITE -

ERFREREERENEIE - BHARTR
HUSHoa bl LERBRERIEAR
AZRFR] MARE R B b - Bt - BAER
ABZBI T -

BEBRFHUBRRERE  REMS * &
SEMNEANBERFES IS FHFEERE
B DER : (HABRSER-_ZE=-=
+TAT—HEREBERITIREAE B
AERS|HEERREH A A ¢ (i) - (Resort
TowersFifE ) & —Em A8 S KB it
i) BARZZ—N\FBBLEEERNE
KRR B AN Z SO E EBRTERIIES
R AT B AR

BEARENEGRMLETRESREM S
b ERENTEERBERIE - ENTRE
XOBACHEEFTEERESREEB
B BEFRUAKEXRB(LERBEERGTE
) R RT R FEmiE 0 o

R - AEERICERERSE  ZTEBRR
AEBEY  RRRIEHRAE - BARRE
PRI E @R
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND
GEARING

As at 30 June 2022, the Group has in aggregate approximately
HK$87.5 million (2021: approximately HK$336.1 million) in
deposits in a financial institution, pledged bank balances, and
bank balances and cash. The net current assets value was
approximately HK$331.3 million (2021: approximately
HK$397.5 million).

The Group's gearing ratio as at 30 June 2022 was
approximately 0.09 (2021: approximately 0.16), being a ratio
of total interest bearing debts, including borrowings of
approximately HK$54.6 million (2021: approximately HK$128.5
million) to the total equity of approximately HK$609.6 million
(2021: approximately HK$802.9 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

The Company completed a rights issue on 13 June 2018,
pursuant to which the Company issued 10,463,687,800
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.05 each as rights
shares at HK$0.052 per rights share on the basis of two rights
shares for every one existing share held on 18 May 2018. The
net proceeds from the rights issue (after deducting the
expenses) were approximately HK$523.6 million. The net
subscription price per rights share after deducting the related
expenses of the rights issue was approximately HK$0.050.

AR
ERGBATRARBE "2 -——Ff
SHALFERMEARE(ZT-—F
) o

gﬁ%ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁk

MZZE-—FXA=1+0 XEENSRHE
B2ER  CEPRITESRURBITESRR
R4 H#4A87,500,0008 T (ZFE = —F :
#7336,100,000 ) - MEBEEFEN A
331,300,000 t( = T = — F: 4
397,500,000/ 7T) ©

MN-ZT-—FXA=1+0 X&EBEESR
B ELHA009 (= —F : £0.16) B
STEEKEE(BIEREE) 454,600,000 7% 70
— T —4F : 49128,500,000% 7T ) 48 ¥ 42
T 25 49609,600,0008 T(Z T = —F : 4
802,900,000/8 7T ) Z th & °

HBzFR s IR A&
RRBRZZE—NFRA+T=B MR
BUEARREER-_ZE—N\FREA+/\BE
R — IR AR EEM ARG 2 &
% L8 Rk gt BAX {90.05278 Tt 17
10,463,687,800 A & X E18.0.0578 7T Z AR
Al B E R AR D » RAXPTIS SIRF AR
(£ HN R B 2 12 ) #) 73 523,600,000 7T © £
AR E - SREBRROBEE
R /30.050/8 7T °
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HUOARARHPEA-E—N\FNA+BEERZ
T-NF—A+LtHZAEHE B3
SREMEHBABRIEFEZAR - AAA
HA—ZS— N\FRA-_+—HHIERER
Frat AT S sk B R M EE B ([ TS 3BT
BtEIAR])  IERIBEFENEENE
(TFBRIEFELETRAR]) KT =
FRAZTHBREFENSABR (A
BIEFESHABER]) RATERIEFENE
BEHI|T

As set out in the announcements of the Company dated 10
August 2018 and 17 January 2019, the Board resolved to
change its use of the net proceeds from the rights issue. The
proposed allocation of the net proceeds as stated in the
prospectus of the Company dated 21 May 2018 (the “Planned
Use of Net Proceeds”), the revised allocation of the net
proceeds (the “"Revised Use of Net Proceeds”), the utilisation
of net proceeds as at 30 June 2022 (the “Utilisation of Net
Proceeds”) and the remaining balance of the net proceeds
are set out below:

Utilisation
of Net
Proceeds
&
FRIEFH
ERAER
HK$ million
BESATT

Revised
Use of Net
Proceeds
K=
FIEFE
RIBFTRZE
HKS$ million
BEATT

Planned
Use of Net
Proceeds
s

Remaining

Intended use balance

FRIE R
T E A%
HK$ million
BEBTT

EREE
HKS$ million
BEBT

Repayment of outstanding

(Note)
(MF&E)

borrowings 1939 193.9 140.6 53.3
Contribution to the facility RERRIBERER

to be made available BRARKILLZ

to a joint venture company BERNEEIER

formed with Zhongke ZRETE

International Capital Limited 196.0 - - -
Expansion of the Group's BEEASEZ

money lending business EEES 100.0 1113 1M1.3 -
Future potential investments RREBERER,

and/or general working capital F—REEES 337 218.4 218.4 -
Total Bt 523.6 523.6 470.3 53.3

Note: I &E

It is expected that the remaining balance would be utilised on or before 30
December 2022. The remaining balance of the net proceeds allocated for
repayment of outstanding borrowings would be utilised for repayment of the
remaining instalments of the outstanding bank loan with the last instalment of
the outstanding bank loan to be repaid in December 2022.

The amount was equivalent to JPY0.74 billion with reference
to an exchange rate of JPY: HK$0.072 being the exchange
rate used in the prospectus of the Company in relation to the
rights issue.

—TFFR o BRHEREEERATF

FEHRSBEER S —F+-_A=+HEXZMHH - D
REEEHNREEEENAMERBFESEBHNESR
HMAREBRITERFSBD AT - MREERITERD
HEHNFR_ZE_—_FF+_AEE-

KeEAReRARKRCERAAERTH
#00727%8 L B & B|MEE RN
740,000,000 H [# -
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The unutilised net proceeds have been placed as the interest
bearing deposits with licensed banks and a financial
institution in Hong Kong.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2022, the Group pledged hotel land and building
in Japan with an aggregated carrying value of approximately
HK$299.0 million (2021: approximately HK$375.8 million),
investment property in Hong Kong with an aggregate carrying
value of approximately HK$19.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$19.6 million), bank deposits of approximately HK$0.7
million (2021: approximately HK$1.1 million) and the entire
equity interest of certain subsidiaries of the Company to
secure borrowing facilities of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company had no changes in capital structure during the
year ended 30 June 2022.

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had invested in one unlisted
private fund with carrying amount of approximately HK$75.8
million (2021: approximately HK$59.8 million). The purpose of
the fund portfolio is to carry on the business of investing,
holding, monitoring and realising the equity investments and/
or debt instruments from the financial services, natural
resources and/or property investment sectors. The value of
fund portfolio was based on fair value.

Starting from August 2021, the Group has diversified its
business into securities markets. As at 30 June 2022, the
Group managed a portfolio of listed securities with fair value
of approximately HK$205.3 million. The global equity market
is unstable throughout the year. Accordingly, the trading
securities recorded a trading and revaluation loss of
approximately HK$86.2 million in current year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Company has conducted a series of disposal on listed
securities from 11 March 2022 to 7 September 2022. A total
of 1,072,600 shares of Hong Kong Aerospace Technology
Group Limited ("HKATGL") were disposed on the open market
at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$18,170,000. The average selling price of disposal of each
HKATGL share is approximately HK$16.94.

Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 7 September 2022.

RERFIERIBFHECIE R B RERR
FAERERRIT R —HE RS

BEEWN

R-ZE-Z—FA=Z+H AEEEBER
B4 H49299,000,000& L (- = —F : 4
375,800,000 70) 2 H AE JE £ R AEF -
BRE{E A 49 19,000,000 (ZF = —4F :
#719,600,00087L) 2 BB EWME - BAH
#9700,000% 7T ( — & = — 4F : 491,100,000
BIL) ZRITEREARBETHERARZ
FEARIE  UAAEBEERERMEER -

BFiEE
AARNBE-_ZE - A=THIEE

REAKR B BB
BAVESABRRZEREE

RZE-_—FA=Z+H AEELRER—
HEIEEMAAES - BREE) 75,800,000 7%
TT(ZZ = —4 : #759,800,000/8 7T) - H&
HEEBMABETRE  BH  BEREEEXK
ARG - KAERK WK E BT
AL E R SREB TR %K - o4
AEBETIRATFEETE -

BE-ZT-—F)\ARR ~EECBEEBES
BWEEETH R-BE-__FXA=1+8"
AEEEEN TR EEERATFENA
205,300,000/87C c REEAFE » 2IRESHT
BAREE - Al BFEERAFEHSFE
= N B EE 486,200,000 T ©

REHEER

AABRIN —_E-—F=A+—RAE-_ZT -
FAA+BHET—#ER tHEALESE
BB 418,170,000 TE AR S - H
EAH1,072,600 B EMAEEEBGR
A F) ([HKATGL]) %15 » H & & 8% HKATGL %
PHFHEBL A 16948 TT ©

RHHBEHNARRBY AT __FNA
tHZAE -
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2021: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2021: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Most of the Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and Japanese Yen which are the
functional currencies of respective group companies. The
Group has not entered into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange
rate movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce
the exchange risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had approximately 27 (2021:
30) employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan. The Group’s
remuneration policy is reviewed periodically and determined
by reference to market terms, company performance, and
individual qualifications and performance. Other staff benefits
include bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis, medical
schemes and share option scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the
year ended 30 June 2022.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“2022 AGM") is scheduled to be held on Monday, 5 December
2022, at 11:00 a.m. For determining the entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2022 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Wednesday, 30 November 2022
to Monday, 5 December 2022, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order for a shareholder of the Company to be
eligible to attend and vote at 2022 AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited of 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 29 November 2022.

BARAR
RIZE-_—FRA=1TH AEBYTEEKX
FRBE(CE_—F &)

BEKIE
R-ZB-—_FXA=1H AEBEWESE KX
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HEB -

& B 5 %7l B 3%

RZZE-__FRA=1H ~AEEEEE
FERBARREEN27EZ(ZE—F:30
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Biographical Details of Directors
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Biographical information of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report
is set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (“Mr. Cheng"), aged 54, has been
appointed as an executive Director since August 2021. He is
also the chairman of the investment committee. Mr. Cheng
obtained a Degree in Business Studies from University of
Glamorgan and a Master Degree in Business Administration
from University of Wales. He is a fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of International Accountants. Mr.
Cheng is currently the chairman and an executive director of
Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (stock code: 1466) and the
executive Director and the Chief executive officer of China
Uptown Group Company Limited (stock code: 2330), the
securities of both companies are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng was an executive director of
Ming Lam Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sino Haijing
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1106) from February 2017 to
August 2018 and a non-executive director of IRC Limited
(stock code: 1029) from February 2017 to March 2020, the
securities of both companies are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng has over 28 years of working
experience in merger and acquisition, finance and
accounting, banking, asset management and funds
operations in various industries including real estate
developments, infrastructure developments, real estate
investment trusts (REITS), securities investments and natural
resources industries.

RAFHRAY  EZRAEESHERERE
BEEREHIINT
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Mr. WONG Siu Keung Joe

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (“Mr. Wong"), aged 57, has been
appointed as an executive Director with effect from 25 March
2022. Mr. Wong has been appointed as the company
secretary, the authorised representative and the chief
financial officer of the Company on 10 January 2022. He is
also a member of the investment committee. Mr. Wong holds
a Degree of Master of Arts in International Accounting from
City University of Hong Kong and a Master’'s Degree of
Corporate Governance from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Wong
has extensive experience in taxation, accounting, financing,
audit field and public listed companies for many years. Mr.
Wong is currently an independent non-executive director (the
“INED") of China Water Industry Group Limited (stock code:
1129) and Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (stock code:
1466), both companies whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an INED of
Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8081) and
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (stock code: 8292), both
companies are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

HIREELE

Bk AEAE(TEEE]) 575 CEZRTA
WITEE BT -_—_F=-F-_ftHBELE
HeowmEAPR-_E-_—E—F+HESF
ERDNBZARWE BRE/RKREVELR
E-BNAKREZEEKE -BLERED
BETASEE B S NBELEMR
ERBIRBLEETRBELIEMN - HARE
S ACEEREBRBFARSHMAE
BREE - BUERTY - @5 BERE
SAENAER ETRBBEZFERERH -
HAEAEBETREKEEEAR AR (R
MARSE - 1129) REBFEERAR AR (BRHAK
5% 1 1466) (RZME AR BRE AT ER £
MZ AR 2B IERITEE([BILIERTT
BF)) BAANMAEFTHERIERERA
A (B D57 - 8081) R R ¥/ B BR AR
(B RER - 8292) (‘Z MM AR BREER
FTGEM EMZAR]) 2B FERITES ©

“EoogER « RENERREERAT 21



Biographical Details of Directors
EEEEFS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chiu Wai On

Mr. Chiu Wai On (“Mr. Chiu"), aged 52, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since June 2009.
Mr. Chiu is also the chairman of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Chiu
possesses over 10 years of professional experience in
accounting and auditing services. Mr. Chiu is also an
independent non-executive director of New Times Energy
Corporation Limited (stock code: 166), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (“Mr. Man”), aged 75, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since
May 2009. Mr. Man is also a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company. He is a solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong and a civil celebrant of marriages. Mr. Man has
extensive experience in the legal practice. He had been
appointed by Xinhua News Agency as a district advisor from
1995 to 1997. He is currently appointed as a director of
Apleichau Kai Fong Primary School, the deputy chairman of
Apleichau Kai Fong Welfare Association, the secretary of
Apleichau Promotion of Tourism Association and the
honorary legal advisor of Junior Police Officers” Association.
Mr. Man is currently an independent non-executive director
of Hong Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (stock code: 2322), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho

Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (“Mr. Sheung”), aged 41, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in May
2021. Mr. Sheung is also a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Sheung holds a Bachelor of
Commerce in Accounting from Macquarie University in
Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and has more than 15 years of
experience in corporate governance, mergers and
acquisitions, auditing and financial management. Mr. Sheung
is an executive director of each of Far East Holdings
International Limited (Stock code: 36), the securities of the
company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Sheung was an executive director of Jimu Group Limited
(stock code 8187) for the period from 25 May 2021 to 13
November 2021, the securities of the company are listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance. The Board believes that effective
corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhance
the shareholders’ value and safeguard the interests of the
shareholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound
corporate governance principles that emphasize an effective
internal control and accountability to all shareholders.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company has
complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since the resignation of
Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth in March 2020, the Company does
not have any officer with the title of Chief Executive Officer.
The overall responsibility of supervising and ensuring that the
Group's business in line with the order of the Board in terms
of day-to-day operations and execution is vested in the Board
itself.

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The existing independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term as
required under the code provision A.4.1 but are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company
(the "Bye-laws”). As such, the Company considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company has good corporate governance practices.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the full set of Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
the code of the conduct for securities transactions by
directors. The prohibitions on securities dealing and
disclosure requirements in the Model Code apply to specified
individuals including the Group’s senior management and
also persons who are privy to price sensitive information of
the Group. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Board confirmed that all Directors had complied with the
Model Code regarding directors’ securities transactions
during the year and up to the date of this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five
Directors, with two executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Chi Kin
(Chairman) and Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe; and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On,
Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho.
Biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section “Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual
report.

During the year ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report, the changes to the composition of the Board
were as follows:

— Mr. Chan Wai Ki resigned as an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), Mr. Yiu To
Wa resigned as an executive Director and Mr. Eric Todd
was appointed the Chairman, with effect from 22 July
2021,

— Mr. Liu Shihao was appointed and resigned as an
executive Director with effect from 2 August 2021 and
25 March 2022 respectively;,

—  Mr. Eric Todd resigned as the Chairman, Mr. Charles Lu
was appointed as an executive Director and the
Chairman, with effect from 16 August 2021, Mr. Charles
Lu resigned as an executive director and the Chairman,
with effect from 26 November 2021;

— Mr. Eric Todd resigned as an executive Director with
effect from 1 September 2021;

— Mr. Cheng Chi Kin was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 24 August 2021, Mr. Cheng Chi
Kin was appointed as the Chairman, with effect from 26
November 2021; and

—  Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 25 March 2022.

EFE

RAFHEH EXSRAREFTEN 8
ERMERTEEEFR(TE)EERFTIIR
A RZBBIFATESFRERLE
BERREENEELE - EEZBREERH
RAFREEREFIS] —80 -

BE_ZE-_—_F#"A=1tHRIFEREERN
FRAH  BESHAREFHUOT -

— MREETEEBHARNTESRESTS
FHEIETFE])  hBEEEDBEEIH
TEENERZELECEZTAERF
B -—FtA-+-BEBER:

— BB AAERIREEIHTES
DB E-—FNAZ-ZBR=-F
T THF=ZA-t+HRB®BAEW:

— ERFEALEEHITERE aRBTE
EZERATESFREIF B=F
T—FN\ATRBRER BREBE
FEBREIRNTESZRER B-F
T F T AT HRBERAER

— BEBEEEBROAGTEF 4°F
S ERA—BRER

— HFRELEZER/RWNTESF B
E_-FNAAZTHARER BF
BELEZRIRER B=-FT——
tT—AZt+RBERER: K

— EBREAEEZTAHNTEE B
Eo—F=RA-+HBEBAERN-

o oEER « ENERREERAR 25



Corporate Governance Report
ERELWRE

An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions is maintained on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship between Board members.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for
assessing independence as set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers them to be independent.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance. Directors take decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company. Some functions
including, inter alia, monitor and approval of material
transactions, matters involving conflict of interest for a
substantial shareholder or Director, the approval of the
interim and annual results, other disclosures to the public or
regulators and the internal control system are reserved by
the Board and the decisions relating to such matters shall be
subject to the decision of the Board. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily operations
of the Company are delegated to the management under the
supervision of the respective Directors.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times throughout
the financial year. All Directors are given the opportunity to
put items on the agenda for regular Board meetings. All
Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure
that all Board procedures, rules and regulations are followed.
Full minutes of Board meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are available for inspection on reasonable
notice. Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties, take
independent professional advice where necessary at the
expense of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed to fill a causal vacancy on the Board shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and any director appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

According to bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws and the CG Code, at
each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every 3 years, and shall then be eligible for re-
election. Any further re-appointment of an independent non-
executive director, who has served the Board for more than
nine years, will be subject to separate resolution to be
approved by the shareholders.

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws, the
shareholders of the Company may by an ordinary resolution
remove any Director (but without prejudice to any claim for
damages under any contract) before the expiration of his
period of office, and may by an ordinary resolution appoint
another person in his stead.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman is Mr.
Cheng Chi Kin. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership
of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its
role for setting its agenda and taking into account any
matters proposed by other directors for inclusion in the
agenda.

The Chief Executive Officer was responsible for supervising
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Since
the resignation of Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth in March 2020,
the Company does not have any officer with the title of Chief
Executive Officer. The overall responsibility of supervising and
ensuring that the Group’s business in line with the order of
the Board in terms of day-to-day operations and execution is
vested in the Board itself. The Board considered that this has
the advantages of allowing contributions from all executive
Directors with different expertise and the Company will
review the current situation from time to time and shall make
necessary arrangements when the Board considers
appropriate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”),
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the
investment committee (the “Investment Committee”) for
overseeing particular aspects of the Group's affairs. Details of
which are set out below. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of
reference which are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the chairman of
the Audit Committee), Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Mr. Sheung
Kwong Cho.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review
the Group’s financial reporting system, the nature and scope
of audit review; (i) review the effectiveness of the system of
internal control procedures and risk management and the
Company’s internal audit function; and (iii) review and
monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity.
In addition, the Audit Committee discusses matters raised by
the external auditor and regulatory bodies to ensure that
appropriate recommendations are implemented. The Audit
Committee meets as and when required to perform its
responsibilities and at least twice a year.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the interim
and annual results with the external auditor and made
recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditor, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems and the effectiveness of the internal audit
function of the Company in accordance with the Audit
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Audit
Committee also reviewed and approved the risk assessment
in relation to the hotel business in Japan.

The Audit Committee held two meetings and has a written
resolution done during the year ended 30 June 2022. The
attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out in the sub-section “Attendance Record of Directors
and Committee Members” below.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Man Kwok
Leung and Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to (i)
make recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for remuneration policy; (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package
of individual executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
senior management; and (iii) review and approve
compensation payable to executive Directors and senior
management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee meets at least
once a year.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and packages of the Directors and senior
management and made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration policy and packages of the Directors and
senior management in accordance with the Remuneration
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Remuneration
Committee also approved and recommended to the Board
the terms of letters of appointment and the Directors’ fee
payable to two newly appointed Directors.

The Remuneration Committee held five meetings during the
year ended 30 June 2022. The attendance record of each
member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in the
sub-section “Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members” below.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the
chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Man Kwok
Leung and Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board; (ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (iii) to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
directors. The Nomination Committee meets at least once a
year.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach by the Company to
achieve diversity on the Board. According to the Diversity
Policy, selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience and length of service.

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”). A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

1. Criteria
The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
consider the following criteria in evaluating and
selecting candidates for directorships:

o Character and integrity.

o Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

e Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments.

o Requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

o Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity
on the Board.

o Such other perspectives appropriate to the
Ccompany'’s business.
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2. Nomination Process 2. REER
2.1 Appointment of New Director 21 EEHES

2.1.1 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board

shall, upon receipt of the proposal on
appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in section 1
to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

2.1.2 If the process yields one or more desirable

candidates, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

2.1.3 The Nomination Committee shall make

recommendation to the Board in respect of
the appointment of appropriate candidate
for directorship.

2.1.4 For any person that is nominated by a

shareholder for election as a director at the
general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in section 1 to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.
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2.2 Re-election of Director at General Meeting
2.2.1 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall review the overall contribution and
service to the Company of the retiring
director including his/her attendance of
Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

2.2.2 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall also review and determine whether the
retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out in section 1.

2.2.3 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall then make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed,
considered and approved the structure, size and diversity of
the Board and the Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy, the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and
made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
the Directors in accordance with the Nomination Committee’s
written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee also
approved and recommended to the Board the appointment
of two newly appointed Directors.

The Nomination Committee held six meetings during the year
ended 30 June 2022. The attendance record of each member
of the Nomination Committee is set out in the sub-section
“Attendance Record of Directors and Committee Members”
below.
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee has been established by the
Board on 2 August 2021. The members of the Investment
Committee shall consist of not less than two members from
amongst Directors and senior management of the Company
of which at least one shall be Director. The Investment
Committee currently comprises an executive Director, Mr.
Cheng Chi Kin (the chairman of the Investment Committee)
and the executive Director, Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe.

The Investment Committee is responsible for, among others,
to exercise delegated authority from the Board, to handle any
issues or affairs related to the investment aspects of the
Company, to review the investment performance from time
to time and advise the Board on how the Company’s funds
are to be used to enhance the Group’s investment returns, to
consider, approve and/or recommend the Board taking any
steps appropriate and necessary in relation to the investment
activities of the Company and preserve the value of the
Company'’s funds and/or achieving capital appreciation.

The Investment Committee held nine meetings since its
establishment and up to the date of this report. The
Investment Committee considered, approved and
recommended to the Board, among others the terms of
reference of the Investment Committee and several listed
securities listed on the Stock Exchange for acquisitions which
the Investment Committee members considered worthwhile
for the Company to generate returns in fulfilling its investment
objective.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS
AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Board held 34 Board
meetings.

EFRETERERRACHIFEL®
BE_ZT-_—_FXA=1THIEE EF¢

BEITUREER R -

The attendance record of each Director at the Board RBEENFRNRTIEEe S T8
meetings, the committees’ meetings and the annual general R AAFRERAFE RS 7 HFE 085500
meeting of the Company held during the year is set out T :

below:

No. of meetings attended/held
BHE/BTeENY
Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Directors Meeting ~ Meeting  Meeting  Meeting  Meeting  Meeting
ENZEE $MZEe REZEE® REZEE BR
Ez Ezeed 83 g3 83 83  BEA®
Executive Directors BES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin grens
("Mr. Cheng’) (Note 1) (184 ) (Rzx1) 212 - - - - 1"
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe EY i
("Mr. Wong') (Note 2) ([&EE ) (F5E2) 22 - - - 212 -
Mr. Charles LU aRBEE
('Mr. L") (Note 3) (EFEAER) 017 - - - - -
Mr. Liu Shihao ARELE
("Mr. Liu") (Note 4) (1BI% 4 ]) (Biska) 28/28 - - - 99 10
Mr. Chan Wai Ki REMHLE
("Mr. Chan’) (Note 5) (TR 4 1) (H3ES) 012 - - - - -
Mr. Eric Tood ('Mr. Todd") (Note 6) &4 (%4 ) (H6) 33 - - - 01 -
Mr.YiuToWa ('Mr. Yiu') (Note 7). Sk (k4 ) (H7) 44 - - - 99 10
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chiu Wai On BeREE 34/34 22 5/5 6/6 - 10
Mr. Man Kwok Leung ERRRE 34/34 22 55 6/ - 171
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho ks 3/34 m 5/5 8/6 - N

34

DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Corporate Governance Report
ERELIWRE

Notes:
1. Mr. Cheng was appointed on 24 August 2021.
2. Mr. Wong was appointed on 25 March 2022.

3. Mr. Lu was appointed on 16 August 2021 and resigned on 26 November
2021.

4. Mr. Liu was appointed on 2 August 2021 and resigned on 25 March
2022.

5. Mr. Chan resigned on 22 July 2021.
6. Mr. Todd resigned on 1 September 2021.

7. Mr. Yiu was resigned on 22 July 2021.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTOR

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors are provided with
comprehensive induction training to ensure that they have a
thorough understanding of the Group's operations, applicable
laws and rules as well as their role and responsibilities. Every
new Director also receives a Director’'s handbook which
contains guide on Directors’ duties and continuing
obligations, applicable Laws, Regulations and Governing
documents and information on other key governance
matters.

The Group continuously updates Directors on developments
in the statutory and regulatory regime and the business
environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development for directors will be arranged at the expenses of
the Company where necessary.

BfsE -
1. WEER_ZTE_—FNATHHEZRT -
2. BARENR_E_—_F=-A-_+HHEZ{T-
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——F+—A=+/NBEHITE -

4. BAEAER-_ZE-—F)\A-RAEZERR=-F
ZHE=ZA-+HBEITE-

5. REENR _Z-_—F+A-+_HEHT -
6. EEAENR T —FNA—BHEIT-

7. hEERZT_—FLtAZ+ZHEHT -
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REZSEENERFA  RES2EUTF
BEXER:

48

The Directors, participated in continuous professional
development during the year or their respective tenure of
office as follows:

Reading
materials
Attending relating to
seminars directors’
conducted by development
professional and duties or
Directors parties relevant topics
MEEHES
HEEEEE BREBBY
S BACHNE  HABIEZMR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Charlie Lu aRkBEE - 4
(appointed on 16 August 2021 and (N=—ZT=—
resigned on 26 November 2021) NATBEZER
RZTB_—F
+—AZ+NHET)
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin BrREL - 4
(appointed on 24 August 2021) (R=—E=——%F
NAZ+HAEZET)
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe Ekm ks 4 4
(appointed on 25 March 2022) (R=—ZE-—F
“AZTHBEZME)
Mr. Liu Shihao S - 4
(appointed on 2 August 2021 (R=—E-—%F
and resigned on 25 March 2022) NAZBEZER
i S
ZAZTHBET)
Mr. Chan Wai Ki BRIZH A - 4
(resigned on 22 July 2021) (R=ZZT=_—F
+AZ+=HEHT)
Mr. Eric Todd ERZEE - 4
(resigned on 1 September 2021) (R=ZZT=_—F
NLA—HEHE)
Mr. Yiu To Wa (resigned on 22 July 2021)  #kiEzEk 4 - 4
(RZZT=—%

+A=-+=-HEHT)

Independent non-executive Directors B EHTESE

Mr. Chiu Wai On BEREE 4 4
Mr. Man Kwok Leung EEHREE v 4
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho [Eibutic it 4 4
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board has the following responsibilities:

(@ to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations from time to time;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Group,

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the
Directors and the employees of the Group; and

(e) toreview the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for each financial year to give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company. In
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2022, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Company is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
covering the liabilities of the Directors that may arise out of
the corporate activities, which has been complied with the
CG Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe, is
responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for ensuring the Board is fully appraised of
the relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments relating to the Group and facilitating the
induction and professional development of directors.

During the year under review, Mr. Wong has attended
relevant professional seminars to update his skills and
knowledge. He met the training requirement set out in Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
for the year ended 30 June 2022 provided by the Company’s
auditor, BDO Limited, are as follows:

LFWE
NAWERELRELRNEETSTEE - R
BREFSRETFREVALSHETESS
A ARNETAERRESTGE2ERALE
HEAKBERRBEN EEREEER
BREN FARSBHEETERNEXER -

REBEERE  sX4EC L EREEREERE
ESSHBONEENS HEFALETE
BIZE 3294 2 AR

BN &

AR AIRBEE S ARG BB
ARATREE_E-_—# X A=+ALF
EFRHEZ IR ZHSMT

HK$'000
TR

Audit services RS 1,750
Non-audit services (Note) FEEILARFE (Bf5%) 120
Total st 1,870
Note: [

The non-audit services mainly included professional fees in relation to agreed
upon procedures on the Group's interim financial information.

FERRBEIECRERAKRET MU BEENBERT
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DIVIDEND POLICY B B BUR
The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend ZZ=epHBRERE(KEEE]) - K2
Policy”). A summary of the Dividend Policy is disclosed as B EHENT -

below.

1. The Company may declare and pay dividends to the 1.
shareholders of the Company by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is
the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to
allow the shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth. The
Company'’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends
in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and
future operations, financial condition, liquidity position
and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries
and associates, which in turn will depend on the ability
of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend.
In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the shareholders. The
declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of
Bermuda, the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s bye-
laws and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

2. Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board's current 2.
views on the financial and cash-flow position of the
Group, the Board will continue to review the Dividend
Policy from time to time and the Board may exercise its
sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit
and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends
will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any
given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no way
constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that any dividend will be paid in any particular
amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

)

(m

(1)

40

Convene a Special General Meeting
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at the
general meetings of the Company can at all times
submit a signed written requisition, specifying the
purpose, to the Board or the Company Secretary to
require the convening of a special general meeting
("SGM"). If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene the SGM, the requisitionists, or
any of them representing more than one half of the
total voting rights of all of them, themselves may
convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from 21 days
of the deposit.

Send Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries of shareholders can be sent to the Company
either by email at info.dt@detai-group.com or by post to
the Company’s Hong Kong head office at Room 905,
9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road Central,
Hong Kong. Shareholders can also make enquires with
the Board directly at the general meetings.

Make Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights of all shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting or who are no less than 100 shareholders can
submit a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary to propose a resolution at a general meeting.
The written requisition must state the resolution,
accompanied by a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in the
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
the general meeting and contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists (which may be contained in one document
or in several documents in like form). Such requisition
must be deposited to the Company's registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda not less than 6 weeks before the general
meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution and not less than 1 week before the general
meeting in the case of any other requisition and be
accompanied by a sum of money reasonably sufficient to
meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of
the resolution and circulating the statement given by the
requisitionists to all shareholders in accordance with the
requirements under the applicable laws and rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business. The
Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meeting and other general meetings. The website of the
Company at www.detai-group.com has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, there has not been any
change in the Company’s constitutional documents. A
consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional
documents is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board ensures the maintenance of sound and effective
internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment
and the assets of the Group. It has been an important duty of
the Directors to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control and risk management of the Group
on an on-going basis. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, as
well as risk management functions. The systems of risk
management and internal control are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatements or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the
Audit Committee and the management would assist the Audit
Committee to carry out the risk management procedures.
The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees the
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 30 June 2022.

A Risk Management Policy has been established for
formalizing the risk management system of the Group, so as
to ensure the Group is operating in a safety and steady
environment and the Group's operational strategy and target
could be achieved. The current practices will be reviewed
and updated regularly to follow the latest practices in
corporate governance.
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The risk management process of the Group will involve,
among others, (i) a periodical risk identification and analysis
exercise which involves assessment of the consequence and
likelihood of identified risk and the development of risk
management plans for mitigating such risks; and (ii) an annual
risk management meeting for the review of the identified
risks, the implementation of the risk management plans and
enhancing the implementation plan when necessary.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management and
internal control systems, Executive Directors and the senior
management would meet regularly to review the financial
and operating performance of each segment. The operational
management of the key operating subsidiaries is also
required to keep senior management and Executive Directors
informed of material developments of the department’s
business and implementation of the strategies and policies
set by the Board on a regular basis. The processes used to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks by the Group
are summarized as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
e Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood
of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk
and ensures that appropriate internal control processes
are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
Situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.
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During the financial year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
engaged a professional advisory firm as internal control
reviewer (the “Internal Control Reviewer”) and to report
directly to the Audit Committee to conduct the annual review
for effectiveness the risk management and internal control
systems of the selected subsidiaries. The Internal Control
Reviewer adopted a risk-based approach and independently
reviewed and tested the controls. The scope of review
included fixed assets management process, borrowing
process, handling and dissemination of inside information
process and investment management process for the
headquarter and hotel hospitality business segments.
Findings and recommendations are reported to the Audit
Committee. In addition, progress on audit recommendations
implementation will be followed up on a regular basis and
discussed with the Audit Committee.

During annual review, the Audit Committee also considers
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group, accounting and financial reporting function
and their training programs and budgets. Based on the
results of evaluations, the Audit Committee was satisfied that
there was an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks faced by the Group that would
threaten the achievement of its business objectives; and an
appropriate, effective and adequate system of internal
control and risk management had been in place during the
financial year ended 30 June 2022.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and for compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal
control element, a series of disclosure procedures of price
sensitive information on reporting and dissemination of inside
information and preservation of confidentiality. Under the
current practice, the directors aware any potential/suspected
inside information event as soon as practicable when it
materializes for determining the nature of developments, and
if required, making disclosure. All staff are also required to
observe the code of ethical standards to keep non-public
information confidential.
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2022.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is
Room 905, 9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on pages 110 and 111.

The Board resolved not to pay any final dividend for the year
ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Company for the year ended
30 June 2022 is set out in the “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT" and
"MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” on pages 4 to 5
and pages 6 to 19 respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the five largest customers
of the Group together accounted for approximately 61%
(2021: approximately 21%), with the largest customer
accounted for approximately 46% (2021: approximately 9%)
of the Group's total turnover. The five largest suppliers of the
Group together accounted for approximately 12% (2021:
approximately 28%), with the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 3% (2021: approximately 9%) of the Group’s
total purchases during the year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, at no time during the
year did a Director, an associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the movements during the year in the share capital
and share options of the Company are set out in respective
notes 30 and 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

At 30 June 2022, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2021: Nil).

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group had not made charitable or other donation during
the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years are set out on
pages 227 and 228.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The Company has conducted a series of disposal on listed
securities from 11 March 2022 to 7 September 22. A number
of 1,072,600 shares of Hong Kong Aerospace Technology
Group Limited ("HKATGL") on the open market at an
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$18,170,000.
The average selling price of disposal of each HKATGL share is
approximately HK$16.94.

Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 7 September 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Charlie Lu (appointed on 16 August 2021
(Chairman) and resigned on 26 November 2021)

Mr. Cheng ChiKin  (appointed on 24 August 2021)

(Chairman)
Mr. Liu Shihao (appointed on 2 August 2021
and resigned on 25 March 2022)
Mr. Wong (appointed on 25 March 2022)
Siu Keung Joe
Mr. Chan Wai Ki (resigned as both the Chairman and
an executive Director
on 22 July 2021)
Mr. Eric Todd (appointed as the Chairman
on 22 July 2021, ceased to
act as the Chairman
on 16 August 2021 and
resigned as an executive
Director on 1 September 2021)
Mr. Yiu To Wa (resigned on 22 July 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chiu Wai On

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho

According to bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed to fill a causal vacancy on the Board shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and any Director appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.
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According to bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Wong Siu
Keung Joe, who has been appointed with effect from 25
March 2022, shall hold office until the 2022 AGM and shall
then be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to bye-law 87 of the
Bye-laws, Mr. Cheng Chi Kin and Mr. Chiu Wai On will retire
from office as Directors at the 2022 AGM and all retiring
Directors are eligible and will offer themselves for re-election
at the 2022 AGM.

Pursuant to the code provision set out in paragraph A.4.3 of
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, any further appointment of
independent non-executive director serving more than nine
years should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders. The Nomination Committee
considered the independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Chiu has served the Company
as an independent non-executive Director for more than nine
years during which period of Mr. Chiu has provided
professional advice and insight to the Board with his
respective extensive experience and knowledge in the
accounting and legal aspects. Mr. Chiu has in-depth
understanding of the Group’s business and operation and
have also demonstrated strong independence by providing
comments at Board and Board committee meetings during
his tenure of office. In addition, none of Mr. Chiu has any
financial or family relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company, which could give rise to a
conflict of interests situation or otherwise affect his exercise
of independent judgement. In view of the aforesaid factors,
the Nomination Committee considered that long service of
Mr. Chiu would not affect his exercise of independent
judgment and was satisfied that Mr. Chiu has the required
integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of an
independent non-executive Director. The Nomination
Ccommittee affirmed each of the independent non-executive
Directors remain independent and is of the view that the
Retiring Directors will continue to contribute to the Board
with their respective perspectives, skills and experience. In
view of the aforesaid factors and the experience and
knowledge of the relevant individuals in the business sectors
in which the Group operates.
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The independent non-executive Directors are not appointed
for a specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Bye-laws.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which
would be required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
would be taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing
Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2022, so far as was known to the Directors or
chief executive of the Company based on the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had an interest or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and were
directly or indirectly interest in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote on
all circumstances at general meeting of any other members
of the Group were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company
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Mr. Tong Liang Beneficial owner
REEE BB A

Note: The percentage is calculated on the basis of 15,695,531,700 shares in
issue as at 30 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, so far as was
known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company
based on the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO, no person (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company and the
movements during the year are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme of the Company, at no
time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executives of
the Company (including their spouses and children under 18
years of age) to hold any interest or short positions in the
shares, or underlying shares, or debentures, of the Company
or its associated corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As the Board is independent of the boards of the aforesaid
companies and maintains three independent non-executive
Directors, the Group operates its businesses independently
of, and at arm'’s length from, the businesses of the aforesaid
companies.

The Company has no Directors or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in
a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the year and up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which any of the Company's subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
the year or at the end of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into by the Company, or
existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8 of the Corporate
Governance Code set out under Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and subject to the provisions of the Companies
Ordinance, the Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance cover for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of any losses or liabilities incurred, or any legal
actions brought against the directors and senior management
of the Group which may arise out of corporate activities. The
permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the
directors as required by section 470 of the Companies
Ordinance.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme, at no time during the
year was the Company or its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole and any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or in existence during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the
year ended 30 June 2022.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on
the business and operations of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT
BENEFITS

The emolument policy of the senior employees of the
Company is set and recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board on the basis of the employees’ merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are formulated and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Board,
having regards to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance of the Directors and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to the Directors and eligible employees of the
Company, details of which are set out in the note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Company encourages environmental protection and
promotes awareness towards environmental protection. The
Company has adhered to the concepts of recycling and
reducing by implementing green office practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, using recycle papers and
reducing energy by switching off those idle lighting. The
Board will review the Company’s environmental saving
practices and identify other energy efficiency opportunities
from time to time.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Company recognises that employees are our valuable
assets. Thus the Group provides competitive remuneration
package to attract and motivate the employees. The Group
regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees
and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with business partners to achieve its long-
term goals. Accordingly, our senior management have kept
good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared
business update with them when appropriate. During the
year, there was no material and significant dispute between
the Group and its business partners.

BTHEAERRER

Py AR A - AEELEEKRR
ST MTHARB LGRS BEREALE
2 EREE RS -

B B 3R B SR R

ARA@REE ZFMBRAFTMES S
BEEE BEMENEE YRNEFSE

EENHFM I BFNEZE SR ARFKE?
B BEEEARBENAIE BT S BIE
o YREFESEHEEEE -

RATEHEPNERETE - (EAHEZERA
NAIRERRE ZEE  FBHSRAVHIR
REIEES7 ©

RIRER

ARARERRREL HERERFEE -
ARBIBRTRERRBENDOMEIED - B
ERERAEERER - FIINEITERETE
MM AE R BEAR - Bie B AR 2R
R FERARER - EF SRR ARE 2R
TRENK) T 3R B T 30 Ny 35 9 H 8 A B IR X
mIEE -

B NEZME

ARRRE  EEDHAEERAE - it &
EBBHART N 2 HHHE - AR3ILH
ByES - AEET R ES 2 S
I & BB SR AR S BB -

AEBETAR - BEERHRERIFEEY
EREREAEMEBEHEE At ' &
REEESHEBEE BN TEFSETRIOE
B OBERRRELRRERNEBER - F
N AEBEAEMEBHYBESAMARL
A o

52 DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Directors’ Report
EFEEHE

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition,
operations and prospects. The followings are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to the Group or which may not be
material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Risks pertaining to hotel operation

The Group’s hotel hospitality business may be significantly
affected by outside factors such as the occurrence of
extreme climates, the changes of government regulations,
foreign exchange fluctuations, and other natural and social
factors which may affect the level of global travel and
business activities. The extreme climates such as typhoon,
earthquake, tsunami and avalanches may increase
maintenance costs, affect the daily operation and safety of
employees of hotel hospitality business. The changes of
government regulations, such as the denial of permission to
entry for foreign nationals imposed during the period of
COVID-19 pandemic, which adversely affected the daily
operation of the hotel hospitality business.

As the Group’s hotel is located in Japan Hokkaido, the
revenue from this business is sensitive to changes in the
tourism industry in Japan, which is greatly influenced by the
attractiveness of Japan as a destination for tourists,
particularly welcomed by family groups and long-stay guests
for its spacious condominium rooms, which is the major
source of business for our hotels.

Risks pertaining to financing requirements and
access to capital

The amount and timing of the expenditures required to carry
out the product development/testing activities and potential
investments of the Group are uncertain and will depend on
numerous factors, some of which are outside the Group's
control. Factors that could increase the Group’s funding
requirements including but not limited to higher costs and
slower progress than expected to develop products and
slower progress than expected in securing development of
the Group’s products/potential investments. Greater than
expected expenditure requirements may materially and
adversely affect the Group's financial results and their ability
to introduce new products/investments profitably.
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Risks pertaining to exchange rate fluctuations
AS a consequence of the international nature of the Group, it
will be exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. The Group's future sales operations
will be affected by fluctuations in exchange rates to the
extent that its sales and purchases are denominated in
currencies other than its reporting currency. Movements in
exchange rates to translate foreign currencies may have a
significant impact on the Group’s results of operations,
financial position and cash flows from year to year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the exercise of any pre-emptive
rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for
the year ended 30 June 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Full details on the Company'’s corporate governance practices
are set out on pages 24 to 43.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Mr. Sheung Kwong
Cho. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i)
review the Group's financial reporting system, the nature and
scope of audit review; (ii) review the effectiveness of the
system of internal control procedures and risk management
and the Company’s internal audit function; and (iii) review
and monitor the external auditor’'s independence and
objectivity. In addition, the Audit Committee discusses
matters raised by the external auditor and regulatory bodies
to ensure that appropriate recommendations are
implemented. The Audit Committee meets as and when
required to perform its responsibilities and at least twice a
year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’'s annual
results for the year ended 30 June 2022 with the management
of the Company and the external auditor, and was of the
opinion that the preparation of such results are in compliance
with the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations
and that adequate disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s issued share capital were held by
members of the public as at the date of this report as
required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
BDO Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Cheng Chi Kin
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 September 2022
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”),
is pleased to present the 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an overview of
the Group’s management of significant issues affecting the
operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the
professional assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy
and Internal Control Services Limited.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”) — “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” and has complied with “comply or explain”
provision in the Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in
respect of corporate social responsibility, covering its
operating activities which are considered as material by the
Group — (i) hotel hospitality business in Japan (“hotel
hospitality business”); (i) provision of money lending services
and investments in listed securities and funds in Hong Kong
(“money lending & investment business”); and (iii) trading and
distribution of liquor and wine in the PRC. With the aim to
minimize and improve the disclosure requirements in the
Report, the Group has taken the initiative to formulate
policies, record relevant data as well as implement and
monitor measures. This Report shall be published both in
Chinese and English on the website of the Stock Exchange.
Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and
the English versions, the English version shall prevail. The
board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company confirmed that during the reporting period, the
Company complied with the applicable provisions contained
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” of the Listing Rules.

REPORTING PERIOD
This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during
the reporting period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a)
have invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability
to influence the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are
interested in or affected by or have the potential to be
affected by the impact of the Group's activities, products,
services and relationships. This allows the Group to
understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue
to ensure effective communication and maintain good
relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the
Group's roles and duties, strategic plan and business
initiatives. The Group engages with its stakeholders to
develop mutually beneficial relationships, seek their views on
its business proposals and initiatives, as well as promote
sustainability in the marketplace, workplace, community and
environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence
gained from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and
continuous interest in the Group’s business activities. The
Group has identified key stakeholders who are important to
the business and established various channels for
communication. The following table provides an overview of
the Group's key stakeholders, and various platforms and
methods of communication which are used to reach, listen
and respond to stakeholders.
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Stakeholders
E5E

Management
BERE

Employees

(=]

Shareholders and Investors

BRI EE

Hotel Guests

Suppliers

HIER

Communities and
non-governmental organisations

e RIFBFEE

Engagement Channels
SERE

Regular meetings
EHEHR

Business meetings

Training programs

Regular performance appraisals
¥%es

LA

EHIRIRFZ

General meetings
Annual reports

Direct communication
Company’s website
e N

FEHRSE

HEEB
PA/NFERTS

Customer hotlines
Website and social media
Online customer feedback
Guest satisfaction surveys
Day-to-day communication
company’s website
PR

DY E Ay
WEXPKREE
EXMEERAES

H&&E®

ZAN/NS R

Business communications
Meetings and discussions
Tender Notice

E -]

PG

B

Charitable and volunteering Activities

company'’s website
ESG Report
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the
Group understands the expectations and concerns from
stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained can allow the Group to
make more informed decisions, and better assess and
manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are
important to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues
and key performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the
Report according to recommendations of the ESG Reporting
Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules) and the guidelines of
Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”).

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in
ESG aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review
of relevant ESG reports of the local and international
industry peers.

e The materiality of each ESG area was determined based
on the importance of each ESG area to the Group
through internal discussion of the management and the
recommendation of ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27
of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder Engagement

o The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG
areas identified above to ensure all the key aspects
were covered.

Step 3: validation — Determining Material Issues

o Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and
internal discussion among the management, the
Group’s management ensured all the key and material
ESG areas, which were important to the business
development, were reported and in compliance with
ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out during the reporting
period, those important ESG areas to the Group were
discussed in this Report.
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In order to align the concerns of the stakeholders on ESG
issues related to the Group, the Group invited stakeholders to
score the degree of importance of every ESG issue to them
and to the Group from 0 to 10 marks (0 represented irrelevant
and 10 represented the most important) for ranking the 19
ESG issues.

Environmental

Rz

RE—HBHEHAEEERRE HEakE
RRBNEDT - ARBEEBRNENEERR
B odeghkEamBaua s RAKENER
&S - 0= 102 (0K THEE - 10K
RER)HI19RRE - L8 NEARBETT
HE o

Operating Practices

1 Air Emissions 8  Staff Welfare 13 Ethically Responsible Sourcing
2 Waste Management 9 Equal Opportunity 14 Customer Service
3 Greenhouse Gas Emission and 10 Occupational Health and Safety 15 Anti-corruption
Energy Use 11 Staff Development and Training 16  Community Investment
4 Water Consumption 12 Employment Compliance 17 Data Protection and Cyber
5 Climate Change Risk Security
6 Green Procurement 18 Economic Performance
7 Supply Chain Environmental Risk 19 Business Growth
1 BRI 8 BIEF 13 6TEEEECEE
2 BUER 9 TE#wg 14 BPR%
3 RERBHMRKERER 10 BEREERZSE 15 R&EF
4 FEK 1M BIEREKE 16 #HEERE
5 RiEE R 12 EREER 17 BRMRERBKLZE
6 HERE 18 KEXRR
7 HESERERR 19 XBER

The management aligned the opinions and expectations of
our key stakeholders with the development of the Group so
as to prioritize the ESG issues in two dimensions: “Importance
to Business” and “Importance to Stakeholders” as the below
materiality matrix. This materiality assessment enables us to
direct our attention to each ESG issues and enables the
Group to perform a more comprehensive sustainable
development plan in the future.
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The materiality analysis results are shown in the materiality
matrix which allows the Group to identify ESG issues that are
material to the Group so as to manage and adjust our
approach to sustainability. The issues located on the top
right-hand corner imply the most material issues and will be
emphasized in this ESG Report.
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REPORTING STANDARDS AND
PRINCIPLES

This Report is in compliance with the reporting principles
determined by the ESG Reporting Guide of contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules issued by of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Besides, the reporting
principles are detailed as follows:

Materiality

Through conducting a materiality assessment and engaging
stakeholders of the Group, the Board reviews and prioritises
the ESG issues that are most relevant to the Group. Details of
the stakeholder engagement can be found in the “Materiality
Assessment” section.

Quantitative

This ESG Report discloses the relevant standards and
methodologies in the calculation of environmental and social
key performance indicators (“KPIs") with the aim of ensuring
the data disclosed is measurable and comparable.

Performance targets of KPIs are set by the Group based on
historical data and business development plan.

Balance

This ESG Report provides an unbiased picture of the ESG
performance of the Group during the reporting period by
avoiding the selection, omission, or presentation formats that
may inappropriately influence the judgement of the readers.

Consistency
The data calculation methodologies of this ESG Report shall
be consistent to facilitate comparisons with historical data.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting and identified the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG areas, aspects
and key performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in this
Report are according to recommendations of the ESG
Reporting Guide.
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ESG GOVERNANCE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board's overall vision and strategy in managing ESG
issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in
overseeing the management of the Group’s sustainability
issues. During the year, the Board and the ESG Working
Group spent significant time in evaluating the impact of ESG-
related risks on our operation and formulating relevant policy
in dealing with the risks. The oversight of the Board is to
ensure the management to have all the right tools and
resources to oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy
and long-term value creation.

ESG Working Group

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and
accountability, our Group has established an ESG Working
Group, which has clear terms of reference that set out the
powers delegated to it by the Board. We highly value the
opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as the
cornerstone for the development of the Group. During the
reporting period, the ESG Working Group mainly consisted of
executive directors, Chief Financial Officer ('CFQ"), Finance
Manager, HR Manager and project managers.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process, and risk management of
the Group. Different ESG issues are reviewed by the Working
Group at the meetings, which holds annually. During the
reporting period, the ESG Working Group and the
management reviewed the ESG governance and different ESG
issues.

Board’'s ESG management approach and
strategy for material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations
of different stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality
assessment is conducted annually. We ensure various
platforms and channels of communication are used to reach,
listen and respond to our key stakeholders. Through general
communication with stakeholders, the Group understands
the expectations and concerns from stakeholders. The
feedbacks obtained can allow the Group to make more
informed decisions, and better assess and manage the
resulting impacts.
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The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in
ESG aspects through the following steps: (1) material ESG
area identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area
prioritisation with stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation
and determining material ESG issues based on the results of
communication among stakeholders and the management.

Hence, this can enhance understanding of their degree and
change of attention of our stakeholders to each significant
ESG issue, and can enable us to plan our sustainable
development direction more comprehensively in the future.
Those important and material ESG areas identified during our
materiality assessment were discussed in this Report.

Board review progress against ESG-related
goals and targets

The progress of target implementation and the performance
of the goals and targets shall be closely reviewed from time
to time. Rectification may be needed if the progress falls
short of expectation. Effective communication about the
goals and targets with key stakeholders such as employees is
essential, as this can enable them to be engaged in the
implementation process, and to feel that they are part of the
changes that the Company aspires to achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years
enables the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus
on results of achieving the visions.

Setting targets require the ESG Working Group to carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which shall be
weighed against the Company’s ambitions and goals. During
the reporting period, our Group set targets on an absolute
basis.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS A. BIREmR

A1. Emissions A1l. el

The Group believes in the importance of
sustainable development and environmental
protection and integrates environmental
protection into all aspects of our business
activities while supporting local sustainability
action plans. Our ESG Strategy and Policy provided
a guiding framework for the Group to develop and
implement relevant guidelines, operations
procedures and measures based on our business
nature, covering greenhouse gas emissions, air
emissions, energy use, water use, and waste
disposal.

Despite the fact that little environmental impact
can be caused by office-based operations in Hong
Kong, the Group is committed to operating its
business in an environmental-friendly manner,
fostering mindful resources consumption in daily
operations and arousing its employees’
environmental awareness. We constantly monitor
our environmental performance and strive hard to
reduce the negative impacts on the environment.

For the hotel hospitality business, the Group is
committed to driving sustainability among the
local community by regularly attending the
monthly meetings with Niseko Town & Hotel
Association to support the Niseko Eco-Model City
Action Plan and to discuss environmental issues
with the Niseko Environmental Division.

For the trading and distribution of liquor and wine
business in the PRC, the operation is office-based
and no manufacture activity is involved. As the
electricity expenses and water consumption
charges are included in office rental expense paid
to the landlord of the PRC office, the PRC
electricity usage data and water consumption data
cannot be recorded and available this year.
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During the reporting period, the Group strictly
complied with all relevant environmental laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and was not aware of
any non-compliance of laws and regulations that
could have significant impacts on the Group
relating to air pollutants and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, or
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes, including but not limited to the followings:

o Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311
of the Laws of Hong Kong);

o Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

° The Basic Environmental Law (BEL) of Japan;
e The Air Pollution Control Act of Japan;

o The Waste Management and Public
Cleansing Act of Japan; and

° The Water Pollution Prevention Act of Japan

Air Pollutants Emission

Air pollutant emissions control is essential to
mitigate the impact on the environment and to
protect the health of employees. The Group strictly
complied with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and The
Air Pollution Control Act of Japan during the year.
For money lending and investment business, the
operation is mainly office-based and it is not
involved in the combustion of stationary sources.
For the trading and distribution of liguor and wine
business in the PRC, there is no air pollution as no
vehicle use is involved in daily operation. For hotel
hospitality business, the air pollutants emitted are
mainly generated from the diesel and gasoline
consumed by business vehicles, such as tour
buses and private cars, electricity purchased from
the grid, as well as heavy oil and kerosene for the
hot spring operation and bathroom water heating
in hotel guest rooms. Despite of it, the Group
encourages employees to adopt alternative
communication means, such as telephone
conferences and video conferences, in order to
reduce air pollutants emission arising from
additional traffic.
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The decrease in the air pollutant emissions in 2022
was mainly attributable to the reduced fuel usage
in the hotel operation for the decrease in the
number of visitors to Japan and drop in number of
hotel guest nights, as a result of adopting the
border enforcement measures on foreign
travellers by the Japanese Government in order to
cope with the continuing outbreak of the
prevalence of the Novel Coronavirus (the
“COVID-19") pandemic during the year.
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Furthermore, the Group targets to reduce the
emission of air pollutants by around 5% by 2032.

During the reporting period, the air pollutants RBERRE - 2RSSR E
emission was as follows: PONNE
Money
lending & Hotel
investment  hospitality
Air Pollutants business business
BER
REEK BEERGEHR
Nitrogen oxides (NO) kg - 1,065.79 1,065.79 1,255.80"
Z&1LhiRINOY T
Sulphur dioxide (SO,) kg - 3,394.72 3,394.72 3,935.68'
Z&1bHi (S0, T
Particulate matter (PM) kg - 246.99 246.99 28691
BRI (PM) T
T The data of 2021 has been restated for comparative purpose. T IR -FENEBDENRAELLE AR
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emission

The Group recognises that climate change is
gradually concerned by the community as it
affects our daily life and poses a risk to its
business. Hence, the Group is committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change and
protecting the health of employees. For money
lending and investment business, electricity
accounts for their GHG indirect emission during
the office operation. For hotel hospitality business,
the diesel and gasoline consumed by business
vehicles, such as tour buses and private cars, as
well as heavy oil and kerosene for the hot spring
operation and bathroom water heating in hote
guest rooms contribute to GHG scope 1 emission.
The electricity purchased from the grid for hotel
guest rooms accounts for the GHG scope 2
indirect emission in Japan. In an effort to minimise
the carbon footprint, the Group is devoted to
maintaining an efficient and effective use of
resources by adopting energy-saving initiatives
which will be further elaborated in the section
“Use of Resources” of this Report. The decrease in
GHG emissions in 2022 was mainly attributable to
the reduced electricity and fuel usage in the hotel
operation for the decrease in the number of
visitors to Japan and drop in number of hotel guest
nights, as a result of adopting the border
enforcement measures on foreign travellers by
the Japanese Government in order to cope with
the continuing outbreak of the prevalence of the
COVID-19 pandemic during the year. Furthermore,
the Group targets to reduce the GHG emission by
around 5% by 2032.
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During the reporting period, the GHG emission
was as follows:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE HEREIRE

OREREBHRED

Money
lending &
investment  hospitality
GHG Emission? business business
BER
BERBHKRE? REXB BERGER
Scope 1° tonnes of CO-e - 565.38 565.38 632.81
#E 1 M-aiikgE
Scope 2 tonnes of CO-e 6.19 418.45 424.64 481.67
#E 2 M_fliREE
Scope 3° tonnes of CO,-e - 0.32 0.32 0.28
#EP B_El ke
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO-€ 6.19 984.15 990.34 1,114.76
mERBHNEE B_El ke
GHG emission intensity ~ tonnes of CO,-e/ N/A 0.03 N/A 0.09
equivalent guest nightt T TER
mERBHENEE ut‘uﬁ:ﬁftﬁﬁiﬁg% i
YNG4
GHG emission intensity ~ tonnes of CO,-e/HK 0.7 N/A N/A N/A
employee i TER TEH
mERBHENEE B_SREE

2 The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the “Corporate 2 JREREHNENFENERNEEREZTEN D
Accounting and Reporting Standard” from GHG protocol. EertmmELER] -

3 Scope 1: Scope 1 GHG emissions include fuel used by the Group’'s * &E1: SEVEEREHNEEAEENEBLE
business vehicle fleet in Hong Kong and Japan, as well as the hot spring. A2 RSB K SR SR P R 2 SR o

4 Scope 2: Scope 2 GHG emissions include purchased electricity consumed ¢ #E2: #E 2R EREEMBEAEEER 2 CE

by the Group. BE

Scope 3: Scope 3 GHG emissions include business air travel, the relevant  ° #E3: SE IR EREH N EREREEIR - 1

GHG emissions are calculated by the International Civil Aviation R = RSB E R B R A AR AL ([1CAO L) B R Ak

Organisation (“ICAQ") Carbon Emissions Calculator. FrERE -

Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in =~ ¢ FEEAZBREIE EENREHHEZAERFEE

our hotel during the reporting period. LB EN o
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

Waste management is considered as one of the
material topics in environmental protection. The
Group recognises the importance of waste
reduction. Waste management measures have
been introduced and implemented to minimise
the amount of waste generated and the impact on
the environment. With our business nature, no
hazardous waste is generated or discharged
during the office and hotel operations. The Group
strictly complied with the Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and The Waste
Management and Public Cleansing Act of Japan
during the year.

For money lending and investment business, the
major source of their non-hazardous waste is the
general office waste consisting of paper and
plastic waste, which is considered as insignificant
to the Group’s business. For the trading and
distribution of liguor and wine business in the PRC,
the office waste generated is considered as
immaterial to the Group and no waste was
recorded during the year. The PRC office will try its
best to develop a proper waste data recording
system in the coming year. For hotel hospitality
business, the non-hazardous waste includes paper
and cardboard, plastics, metals, glass and
disposable room amenities and linens. The Group
endeavours to reduce the amount of waste and
strengthen the environmental awareness of the
employees. The Group ensures all the wastes
generated are properly collected and handled by
the property management company. The Group
will plan to establish an effective non-hazardous
waste data collection system to record the waste
amount in the future.
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With the aim to reduce the amount of waste
generated, we recommend our staff to use
reusable cups and bowls in the workplace to
reduce the use of disposable containers and
minimise the wastage and harm to the
environment. We recycle every printer toner
cartridge, rechargeable battery and CD-ROM disc,
as well as encourage proper sorting of recyclable
materials including waste paper, metals and
plastic. Moreover, we encourage duplex printing
for most of the printing jobs in our office in order
to avoid overuse of paper. We pre-set the fax
machine to convert incoming messages to
electronic files and transfer them directly to the
server to avoid bulk printing of promotional copies.
Single-sided paper, envelopes and the backside of
letter pads are also reused to the greatest extent.

Our hotel operation strictly complied with the
Water Pollution Prevention Act of Japan during the
year. Supporting the Niseko Eco-Model City Action
Plan, the Group has installed a sludge circulation
filtration system, which treats domestic
wastewater generated by the hotel operations by
sedimentation and filtration, before discharging
into the municipal sewage network of Niseko
Town. Sludge generated by the treatment system
is collected annually by the authorised vendor for
further treatment. The sludge collection was
conducted during the hotel’s maintenance closure
4th~6th of November 2021. During the reporting
period, 20.21 tonnes sludge was collected through
the system.

— - —
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The decrease in amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in 2022 was mainly due to the reduced
hotel operation for the decrease in the number of
visitors to Japan and drop in number of hotel guest
nights, as a result of adopting the border
enforcement measures on foreign travellers by
the Japanese Government in order to cope with
the continuing outbreak of the prevalence of the
COVID-19 pandemic during the year. Furthermore,
the Group targets to reduce the non-hazardous
waste generation by around 5% in 2032. The non-
hazardous wastes generated by the Group were

TECCFMEECEZEEYE
BT EBZHRFANEABIT A
[EHFERENFTRERRER
15 1 48 M i 5 BRENGE SRR Hil 18
M BB BIRE ASURD B
EEEAEBREURD  BUFERE
EERAD o MHN AEBAEE
BR-_E=-_FREMEEZE
EREMIR A H)5% o REBELR
BmEEYAT

as follows:
Money
lending&
Non-hazardous investment
waste generated business
RER
FEEZBERY REXHK
Non-hazardous waste generated kg 0.01
FELZEEREY TR
Non-hazardous waste kg/equivalent N/A
generated intensity guest night’ Nl
MELZEERNEE Fr/BEAE
BYEE’
Non-hazardous waste kg/HK employee 0.002
generated intensity
MELZEERNEE Tr/E5EE

Hotel
hospitality
business
BEREER
975.00 975.01 1,030.00
0.03 N/A 0.08
TR
N/A N/A N/A
REm TR TNEH

7 Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in 7
our hotel during the reporting period.

FEREATBREE RN REHHETAERIEE
2R o
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A2. Use of Resources A2. EREH

The Group strives to take all feasible measures to
incorporate sustainability into its business
operations and improve its environmental
performance. Realising that resource conservation
is crucial for maintaining environmental
sustainability, we promote green office
management and encourage our employees to be
aware of the need for resource conservation in
daily operations. We pledge to reduce resource
consumption and carbon footprint in all our
businesses and operations through the application
of several actions and practices.

Energy

The energy consumption of the Group mainly
comes from purchased electricity for our hotel
operation, the diesel and gasoline consumed by
business vehicles, such as tour buses and private
cars, as well as heavy oil and kerosene for the hot
spring operation and bathroom water heating in
hotel guest rooms. The PRC electricity usage data
cannot be recorded and available this year as the
electricity expense is included in office rental
expense paid to the landlord of the PRC office. In
order to reduce the energy consumption, the
Group advocated various energy conservation
strategies as follow:

o Installed hot water pipes for hotel guest
room heating purpose

o Double glazed windows that reduce the
absorption of heat through the outer layers
of the building while still keeping high levels
of natural light

o Chiller system that contains automatic
temperature management function to
improve energy efficiency

o Gradually replacing light bulbs with light-
emitting diode (“LED") bulbs

o Used daylight whenever possible to save
electricity used for lighting

o Switched off all electronic appliances when
they are not in use

o Used energy-saving light bulbs to reduce
power consumption

o Given a choice whether to change the bed
linen everyday as a part of our environmental
responsibilities for energy saving from
washing machines use.
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The decrease in energy consumption in 2022 was
mainly attributable to the reduced electricity and
fuel usage in the hotel operation for the decrease
in the number of visitors to Japan and drop in
number of hotel guest nights, as a result of
adopting the border enforcement measures on
foreign travellers by the Japanese Government in
order to cope with the continuing outbreak of the
prevalence of the COVID-19 pandemic during the
year. Furthermore, the Group targets to reduce
total energy consumption by 5% in 2032.

During the reporting period, the energy
consumption was as follows:

CE - _FRESERLIITER
RERBARBIT BRI EE
0 372U AR R R 18 1 8 IMNIR
FIREGERR M - B H
REAEUR D FOBEE T AR
R BUEBELEENREER
RERELAE T - o - NEE
HNEZAER -—Z= _FRiBR
HFERER D 5% °

K& HIRE - BERBRT ¢

Money
lending &
investment hospitality

Energy consumption business business
RREH BERREEE  BEILER
Indirect energy
B
Purchased electricity MWh 871 762.21 770.92 800.00
BEEE KELB
Direct energy
ERHR
Kerosene MWh - 263.61 263.61 263.00
8 KEE
Diesel MWh - 37.07 37.07 62.84°
S KFL
Heavy oil MWh 1,880.17 1,880.17 2023.16°
B KELB
Gasoline MWh - 4684 46.84 78.008
U KEE
Total energy consumption MWh 8.71 298990 2,998.61 322700
Eehir KEE
Energy consumption intensity MWh/equivalent N/A 0.10 N/A 025

guest night? TER TER
WIRERRE KRE/EX

ANEBEEE®
Energy consumption intensity MWh/HK 1.09 N/A N/A N/A

employee TER TEA TER
HRERTE KEE

E#ES

& The data of 2021 has been restated for comparative purpose. 8 T —FHEREEMMELRAR -
9 Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayedin =~ ° EEAETBRHEERRREHEEZAEHFEE
our hotel during the reporting period. 2 KRRRE -
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Water

Water is another important resource. The water
used by the Group is supplied by the Water
Supplies Department. For money lending and
investment business, the office water supply is
solely controlled by the building management
company. In this case, it is not feasible for us to
provide water consumption data as there is no
separate sub-meter to record the water
consumption data for office operation. The Group
strives to reduce water consumption by
strengthening the water-saving awareness of the
employees. It reminds the employee to conserve
water by emails and posting signs. The PRC water
consumption data cannot be recorded and
available this year as the water charges are
included in office rental expense paid to the
landlord of the PRC office. In our hotel operation,
customers are given a choice whether to change
the bed linen everyday as a part of our
environmental responsibilities for water saving
from washing machines use.

The Group installed a spring water circulation
system at its Niseko Moiwa-Mountain Natural Hot
Springs, which utilizes natural spring water to
operate our spa centre. Fresh water and chlorine
were added to the spring water in order to
maintain its quality in accordance with Niseko
Hygiene Management Office Standards. This
system reduces the need to rely on freshwater
supplied by the water utility network.

Wastewater generated from our operations is
primarily municipal wastewater. The effluent is
promptly discharged into the local sewage pipeline
network for further treatment by the local drainage
services department. Therefore, the Group’s
wastewater discharge has a minimal
environmental impact.

— - —
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The decrease in water consumption in 2022 was
mainly due to the reduced hotel operation for the
decrease in the number of visitors to Japan and
drop in number of hotel guest nights, as a result of
adopting the border enforcement measures on
foreign travellers by the Japanese Government in
order to cope with the continuing outbreak of the
prevalence of the COVID-19 pandemic during the
year. The Group targets to reduce water
consumption by around 5% by 2032.

During the reporting period, the total water
consumption was as follows:

TECCFRKERLIHEERH
RERBARBIT BRI EE
0 372U AR R R 18 1 8 IMNIR
FIREGERR M - B H
REAEUR D FOBEE T AR
R  BUFEBREEER D o K
EENBEZAER_TZ_Fi%
FERE A HI5% ©

RIEHME - @FKENT

hospitality

Money
lending &
investment
Water Consumption i business
BER
¥kE ) REXK
Water consumption m? N/A
FEKE FHk TR
Water consumption intensity m3/equivalent N/A
guest night™ Nl

FKEE FHEK/BEEAN

FBEEE

A3. The Environment and Natural
Resources

Regarding the business nature of the Group, we
are not aware of any significant impact of the
business activities on the environment and natural
resources. With the implementation of
aforementioned green office and hotel practices
to reduce air pollutants and GHG emissions, waste
generation and resources consumption, the Group
strives to enhance environmental sustainability
and minimise the impacts on the environment.

BEREER

business
17,838 17,838 18,459
0.60 0.60 141
RERRRER

MARENEBZMHEMS - B
WAMBEEB EEBEIRIBERRA
BRERTEMNERTE - KEE
FRER FGEERAENBE
fﬁ%lf/(/md\ﬁ% FERM R ER
BEEW - BYEERE \/ﬁﬁ
@Zjﬁmﬂ'f&iﬁu—ﬁ BEER MORR

HIRENTE -

0 Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in =~ © E&ALE HﬁE%Z EEERREHEAETATEMEE

our hotel during the Reporting Period.
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A4. Climate Change Ad. RIRE1t

Governance

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based
on the nature of the risk to our operations. The
physical impacts of climate change, including
extreme weather events, or damage to facilities
have immediate operational impacts and are
treated as operational risks. Long-term challenges,
such as emerging ESG issues and climate-related
risks and opportunities, may be discussed by the
ESG Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board
oversees climate-related issues and risks regularly
during board meetings and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.

To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest
trend of climate-related issues, climate
competence training will be provided to ensure it
has the necessary expertise and skills to oversee
the management of climate-related issues. Our
Board also seeks professional advice from external
experts when necessary to better support the
decision-making process.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective
governance for integrating and addressing ESG
issues, including climate change, within our
business. The ESG Working Group is responsible
for approving operational emissions targets for the
Group and commissioning an ESG benchmarking,
as well as gap analysis exercise to identify gaps in
both disclosure and policy relative to the best
practice standards. Moreover, the ESG Working
Group works closely with the Group’s different
operation departments, with an aim to develop
consistent and enhanced approaches on
addressing ESG risk issues and report to the
management.
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Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk
profile through its role in increasing the frequency
and intensity of certain diseases, and the health
and mortality impacts resulting from natural
disasters. We assess the overall level of risk by
taking into consideration a range of diverse risk
factors across the many categories in our services
range. This diversity of risk is combined with our
business strategy and broad geographic footprint
helps us mitigate risk and provide protection
against the impacts of short-term climate change
effects.

Our services continue to provide protection for
people in our communities against weather and
heat-related disease. Besides, we plan to explore
opportunities to engage our business partners and
encourage them to develop climate resilience and
reduce their operational carbon footprint by taking
into consideration of different climate-related
scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario”
through the following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate
Change Effects

As climate change measures proceed, there is a
possibility that the industry will be exposed to
substantial changes, such as stricter policies
including the introduction of and increases in
carbon pricing, as well as advances in technology
and changes in customer awareness.

In light of these climate change effects, based on
the International Energy Agency (“IEA”") scenarios
and others, we developed multiple future images
of 2025 as the external environment that will
surround our Group. With regard to the IEA
scenarios, we put focus on the 2°C scenario and
pictured future images in case where climate
change measures do not progress and where
such measures progress further Beyond 2°C
scenario.
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Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each
of the future images developed in Step 1. We
believe that in such a society, it will be possible to
expand carbon dioxide emission reduction effects.

With regard to effects on our Group’s procurement,
office operation and hotel operation, introduction
of an increase in carbon pricing is anticipated in
accordance with the global advance of climate
change measures, leading to the possibility of
higher procurement, office operation and hotel
operation costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate
change measures are not adequate throughout
society, business operation interruptions and
supply chain disruptions are likely to increase as a
result of higher frequency and intensification of
natural disasters such as typhoon and flooding.

Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of
the use of non-renewable energy in our office
operation and hotel operation. This strategy will
allow for flexible and strategic responses to each
demand for the regions where the emission
factors of purchased electricity consumptions are
high. By promoting real carbon emissions
reductions throughout the world through
comprehensive energy-saving policies and
introduction of renewable energy, we are working
to achieve zero carbon emission in our business.

With respect to renewable energy in particular, we
have set a new target, achieve a 5% reduction rate
for purchased electricity and fuel consumption by
2032. With regard to the ongoing confirmation of
the suitability and progress of the Group’s
strategies, we believe that we will have
opportunities for stable funding and sustainable
increases in corporate value through appropriate
information disclosure, dialogue with institutional
investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related
risks or to test the existing risk management
strategies under climate change with the aid of
risk assessment. Hence, the areas where new
strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based
approach using national data, local information
and expert knowledge, which can identify how
climate change may compound existing risks or
create new ones. The risk assessment is
conducted through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

o Objective/goal

o Scale

o Time frame

o Climate change scenario for most climate
variables and sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and

current)

o Identify the record of occurrence of climatic
hazard in the past in the area

o Risk management strategies in place to
tackle future occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

o Explore climate change projections for the
selected time frame(s) and emission
scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

o Investigate whether any existing risk from
Step 2 may get worse under future projected
changes

o Identify new risks that can emerge under
future projected changes

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

o Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.
geographical areas, business operation,
assets, ecosystems, etc.) that has the
potential to be at risk in future
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As outlined in the “governance section of climate
change” above, the Group has robust risk
management and business planning processes
that are overseen by the board of directors in
order to identify, assess and manage climate-
related risks. The Group engages with government
and other appropriate organizations in order to
keep abreast of expected and potential regulatory
and/or fiscal changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change
in regard to monitoring of carbon and energy
footprint in our daily operation. However, there
remains gaps in understanding how such climate
risks and opportunities may impact our
operations, assets and profits. Our Group assesses
how the business addresses climate change risks
and opportunities and takes the initiative to
monitor and reduce their environmental footprint.

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant
climate-related physical risks and transition risks,
which have impacted and/or may impact our
Group'’s business and strategy in (i) operations,
products and services, (i) supply chain and value
chain, (i) adaptation and mitigation activities, (iv)
investment in research and development, and (v)
financial planning, as well as the steps taken to
Mmanage these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks
AEEZERBMRINNIER

15 48 B L B Y i 3t g3 -2
Physical Risk

BRER

Acute physical risks

SMERER

e Climate change can lead to more
frequent extreme weather. Super
typhoon may be an extreme weather
in Hong Kong. It can cause serious
impacts on the office and hotel
infrastructure. Office and hotel
windows may be broken due to
heavy wind and rain. The Group'’s
equipment, documents, systems,
back up storage may be destroyed as
a result of typhoon.

e QOperating cost and
maintenance cost
increase.

e Employee safety issues caused by
extreme weather may not be always
properly considered.
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o Office and hotel will take sufficient
and necessary measures when
there is an announcement of
typhoon. All documents will be
stored in a proper manner and
kept away from the window.
Additionally, the electronic version
of the documents will also be
saved for backup. The backup will
be kept by the senior management
and stored in centralised backup
of internal network.

e The Group will provide safety
training for employees to enhance
their safety awareness and
formulate contingency plan to
ensure a timely response during
an emergency.
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact Steps taken to manage the risks
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Chronic physical risks

B HERREE
e Prolonged hot weather may increase e Operating cost increases. e The Group has implemented
the energy consumption. As lighting zone control and adopted
electricity supply is very important for efficient lamps in the office and
running a business, a surge of energy hotel.
consumption may lead to fuel
shortage, results in shortage of e By posting energy-saving notices,
electricity supply. employees are reminded to
switch off the electrical
e Climate change can lead to an appliances when they are not in
increase in extreme weather, such as use.
drought, super typhoon, flood, etc.,
which can affect the ecosystem. The e Room temperature is maintained
Group is dependent on paper for at an energy-efficient level of 25
printing and consumes a huge degrees Celsius.
amount of paper. Paper is essential
for office operation. One of the major
raw materials for paper is wood. If
prolonged extreme weather events
occur, the supply of wood will be
affected, hence, affecting the supply
of paper.
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact

SR 5% A A e B B 3 g2

Steps taken to manage the risks
AEEZERBMRINNIER

Transitional Risk

BIERE R

Policy risk

BURE B

e Mandates on and regulation of existing
services. If there is a restriction on logging
for environmental protection purpose
imposed by relevant governments,
the supply of wood will be affected,
hence, affecting the supply of paper
and other natural resources.
Furthermore, there may also be a
restriction on fossil fuel and electricity
use as their supply may be limited
and controlled by the government.
Hotel guests and staff in our office
will be affected correspondingly.

e QOperating cost increases
for high compliance costs
and increased insurance
premiums for the Group.

e Major local and international
guidelines for sustainability reporting
and rating are not always
strengthened with emphasis on
climate change.
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Monitor the updates of the
relevant climate-related
environmental policies, to avoid
the unnecessary increase in cost
and expenditure due to the
violation of the climate-related
environmental policies.

Monitor the regulatory trends and
ensure the Group’s operation
complies with relevant ESG
requirements.

Identify areas of improvement on
ESG and implement relevant
measures if applicable.
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imate-related risks description
15 4 B [ B Y i i

Legal risk

*
o

ZEkE

Exposure to litigation. We have to
adapt the tightened law and
regulations issued by the government
due to climate change. We may have
the risk of litigation once we fail to
obligate the new laws.

Strict ESG reporting requirement. The
Group may have to spend much time
on fulfilling the report standards to
comply the new requirement.
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Technology risk

#®

i 2 B

More low carbon energy-saving
material and energy saving
technologies are developed, the
capital investment and research and
development expense increase
consequently.

More green building strategies with
low-carbon, energy-saving
technologies are adopted by industry
peers. Lagging behind may weaken
our competitive edges.

3% B LR AR ERBEAT R SR B RE AT -
& AR F ARG o

FIZRRE S AIEH R Rl
b R SEAERS - TE A T AL R IR
MBS ES: -

Financial Impact
g3 -2

e Operating cost increases

for high compliance costs
and increased insurance
premiums for the Group.

REBEBRKAR D MR
BN BREBRALE
hn e

Upgrade office and hotel
supplies with low-carbon
and energy saving
technologies may involve
higher investment cost and
research and development
expense.

A= BB TE BTt R
A8 PR AR X B RE BT Y
R e BIRE KA K
fiiE& & AN -

Steps taken to manage the risks
AEEZERBMRINNIER

e Monitor the updates of the relevant
climate-related environmental laws
by checking against the service and
procurement agreement terms, as
well as reviewing internal policies
and procedures on climate change
issues. This aims to avoid
unnecessary and unexpected
increase in cost and expenditure
due to non-compliance.
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e Examined the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
low-carbon and energy-saving
technologies into our operation.

o FHHNEE R A AT IR AR M A
EZFAEICIEREE YT Sl

o oEER « ENERREERAT 85



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIE HERELIERE

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact Steps taken to manage the risks
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Market risk
m%ﬂﬁ
More customers are considering e Revenue decreases forthe e Tightened the control of the
climate-related risks and opportunities, change in customers’ climate-related environmental
which may lead to changes in preference. pollution in daily business
customers’ demand for services. operation.

¢ Procurement cost increases
e Loss of clients due to poor as abrupt and unexpected e Planned to carry out study of the

environmental condition of hotel. shifts in market price of application of recycled materials
office and hotel supplies. and lower-emission energy
e Shift in consumer preference sources.

jeopardizes the viability of certain
business models.

e Increased cost of office and hotel
supplies. More environmental-friendly
office and hotel supplies may be
much more expensive, which may
increase the operating cost.
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact
g3 -2

Steps taken to manage the risks
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Reputational risk
Fﬂﬂﬁ

Unable to fulfil the expectations of
the customers which may lead to
potential damage the Group’s
reputation and image.

Stigmatisation of our business sector,
such as more stakeholder concern or
negative stakeholder feedback on our
business operation, in a less
environmental-friendly way.

Fail to meet the social expectation on
the Group's ESG performance may
negatively affect our reputation and
result in loss of potential customers.
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e Revenue decreases from
the drop in income as a
result of reduced customers.

e Operating cost increases
from negative impacts on
workforce management
and planning.
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Planned to support and participate
in the activities that related to
environmental protection,
conservation.

Planned to select suppliers who
carry out relevant policies to
protect the environment.

Disclose ESG information through
the annual ESG report.

Planned to maintain a close
relationship with major
stakeholders to ensure timely
response to their enquiry
regarding the Group’s ESG
performance.
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Furthermore, the significant climate-related
opportunities and associated financial impacts on
our Group during the reporting period were as

follows:

Detailed description of
climate-related opportunities

R AR A BB BV = A

AN - RRERE > AREBONE
RRIREREEE RN EEE
LU

Financial Impact
[ E

Resource efficiency
e Reduce paper usage

e Reduce water and energy consumption
BER#ME

o BMARAK

KR EEIREFE

Energy source
e Use of lower-emission sources of energy

e Use of supportive policy incentives

e Use of new technologies

ﬁb/

o {ERAEMEEIR

o RAXEEBURERE

o fERAFTEIM

Products and services

e Development of climate adaptation and

insurance risk solutions

e Ability to diversify business activities
Emk RS

o T E SR 15 3 FE 2 AR B L B R O B
o ZILEBREHIEE S

Markets
* Access to new markets

W%
o EAFTS

88

Operating cost reduces through efficiency
gains and cost reductions

375 38 N8 UK N B8 AR P AE 2 &R AR

Operating cost reduces through use of
lowest cost abatement

Returns on investment in low-emission
technology increases
F R A AR AR B R B AR

IEAME B BT B9 4R 2 [ 3R

Revenue increases through new solutions to
adaptation needs, such as insurance risk
transfer of products and services

iﬁiﬁiﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ;(ZZDED%&HW%
MR R EE) BT e

Revenue increases through access to new
and emerging markets
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Detailed description of
climate-related opportunities Financial Impact
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Resilience

e Participation in renewable energy programs e

and adoption of energy-efficiency
measures

e Resource substitution or diversification

HEEAD
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Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and
manage climate-related risks and opportunities.
The energy consumption and greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions indicators are the key metrics
used to assess and manage relevant climate-
related risks where we consider such information
is material and crucial for evaluating the impact of
our operation on global climate change during the
year. Our Group regularly tracks our energy
consumption and GHG emissions indicators to
assess the effectiveness of emission reduction
initiatives, as well as set targets to contribute our
effort to have minimal impact on global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target
applies and base year from which progress is
measured are described in the Section A1:
“Emissions” and Section A2: "Use of Resources” of
this Report. Our Group adopts absolute target to
manage climate-related risks, opportunities and
performance.

2

Market valuation increases through
resilience planning, such as planning of the
research in the use of renewable energy
sources

Reliability of supply chain and ability to
operate under various condition increases

Revenue increases through new products
and services related to ensuring resiliency
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

90

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR
PRACTICES

B1. Employment

Employees are regarded as the Group's important
and valuable assets to the Group’s success. We
aim to provide a safe and healthy working
environment to our employees, ensuring their
rights and welfare and providing them with
optimal development and training. The
commitment is incorporated into staff handbook
and other human resources management policies.
Our staff handbook covers the Group's policies in
respect of compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods and other benefits and welfare.

Employees’ Rights and Welfare

The Group prioritises the rights and benefits of its
employees. We believe well-being of employees is
correlated to their productivity and sense of
belonging to the Company. We strive to move
forward with high labour standards, respect
human rights and minimise the staff turnover rate.

The Group strictly complies with applicable local
regulations, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) of the Hong
Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC, the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485), the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480) and the
Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602) in
Hong Kong, the right and the obligation to work
(Art. 27 para.1) of the Japan, a ban on child labour
(Art. 27 para. 3) of the Japan and the freedom of
workers’ association — the worker’s right to
organize, to bargain and to act collectively (Art. 28)
of the Japan to ensure fair remuneration and
benefits for our employees. We provide
remuneration for our employees according to their
qualifications, experience, performance, job duties
and service years as well as to the market
benchmark. We review performance appraisal on
an annual basis to ensure our remuneration
practices are competitive and aligned with market
rates. In addition to salary, we provide mandatory
provident fund, allowances, medical benefits and
variable incentive-based remuneration such as
discretionary bonus to our employees. Employees
are also entitled to various types of leave including
annual leave, paid sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, compassionate leave, etc.
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Equal opportunities, diversity and anti-
discrimination

The Group strives to construct a diverse and
inclusive workplace where all our employees are
treated with dignity and respect. We strongly
oppose to all discriminatory behaviour against any
individual on their gender, age, nationality, race,
colour, disability, creed, religion, sexual
orientation, marital status or family status. The
principle of equal opportunities is applied in all
employment practices, including but not limited to
recruitment, promotion and transfer, work
allocation, benefits and training and development.
During the reporting period, there were no
instances of non-compliance of laws and
regulations relating to employment and labour
practices in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan.

Employee Composition

The employee compositions by gender, age group
and geographical region, employment type and
employment mode at the end of the reporting
period were as follows:
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Employee composition

By gender RER 8D

e Male o Hik

e Female o %

By age group RERMAERE D
e Age 30 or below o 30BREkAT
e Age 31-40 o 31E405%

e Age41-50 o AMZES0R

e Age 51 or above

o STERMAL

By geographical region Rt EE D

e Hong Kong o HAE

e Japan e HX

e PRC o

By employment type RERERES
e Senior management s RNERRE
e Middle management o HREIEE
e General staff o EWMBET

e Contract/short term o BH/RH
By employment mode REREXSES
e Full-time staff e 2HET

e Part-time staff e FBEBET

— - —

=

63% 57%
37% 43%

7% 7%
19% 33%
30% 30%
44% 30%
30% 37%
66% 63%

4% -
33% 20%
15% 33%
22% 47%
30% -
70% 73%
30% 27%
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The employee annual turnover rate by gender, age
group, geographical region during the reporting

period was as follows: T

Employee turnover rate EERLE

By gender BRI S

e Male o FHik 63% 118%
e Female o ik 50% 69%
By age group RERMARE D

e 30 years old or below e 30mREIAT 80% 200%
e 31-40years old e 31ZE403% 77% 100%
e 41-50 years old o A1 E50BR 63% 67%
e 57 yearsold or above o 51pRakAE 40% 100%
By geographical region Rt EE D

e Hong Kong o HE 70% 45%
e Japan e AR 54% 126%
e PRC e - NAT@EAM
Overall st 58% N/ATEA"

B2. Health and Safety B2. REREZZ

The Group provides its employees with a safe and
healthy working environment. We ensure that our
daily operations are compliant with all applicable
rules, to minimise and protect employees from
any occupational health and safety hazards that
may cause risks. We strictly comply with the rules
and guidelines stipulated in the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance by the Labour
Department in Hong Kong, Employees’
Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Law
of the PRC on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases ( # B B % & B )8 0% ),
Industrial Safety and Health Act (8% 2/ 4%)
of the Japan and Industrial Accident Compensation
Insurance Act ( 4 8) & X &= # 18 {R B2 )% ) of the
Japan.

" The data of 2021 was not available.
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Safe and Hygienic Workplace

The Company provides its employees with a set of
guidelines to ensure a safe and healthy workplace
for all its workforce. We provide medical benefits
to our employees, prohibit smoking in non-
smoking areas or bringing in explosives or illegal
drugs without permission. We also circulate
internal memorandum among our staff to remind
them of the information related to occupational
health and safety. We care about employees’
physical and mental health, conduct regular
interviews to understand employees’ concerns,
and launch employee surveys to learn more about
employees’ needs. We also implement daily
disinfection in hotels and regular disinfection in
office, and actively arrange pandemic prevention
supplies such as masks, protective clothing, and
disinfectants for front-line employees.

During the reporting period, there was no
employee (2020: nil, 2021 nil) injured and no lost
day (2020: nil, 2021: nil) due to work-related
injuries. There was no fatality case (2020: nil, 2021:
nil) during the year. Moreover, there was no
violation of any laws and regulations relating to
occupational health or safety in Hong Kong, the
PRC or Japan.

Managing business during the outbreak of
COVID-19

The operations of our One Niseko Resort Towers
in Hokkaido, Japan, has been affected significantly
by COVID-19. The travel bans and border
restrictions imposed by the Japan Government
have reduced the number of visitors to our hotel
premises by a large extent. We have taken
proactive steps to reduce the risk of disease
transmission and protect our staff and guests by
setting up the Emergency Action Plan against
COVID-19. This Plan outlines the communication
channels with the local Health Department in
Hokkaido as well as procedures designed to
prevent and manage guest and staff infection
events. For example:
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B3.

o Hotel rooms were arranged for guests with
suspected diseases so that they could
practice self-isolation

o Provision of personal protective equipment
to staff, such as masks, gloves and
protective clothing

o Closure of facilities such as bathhouses with
a high risk of cross-infection

o Keep the restaurant’s operating hours and
seating capacity limited in order to maintain
social distance

o Frequent disinfection of high touchpoints of
the premises, such as guest rooms,
doorknob, switches, elevators, receptions,
etc.

Development and Training

The Group believes that development and training
are crucial to enhance its employees’ potential for
work advancement. We support our employees in
the performance of their designated roles and
help them to fulfill their potential during the course
of their employment. To improve employees’
professional knowledge and skills in discharging
their duties, we provide on-job trainings to our
employees with contents covering occupational
health, corporate governance, etc. Our employees
are funded suitable seminars, aiming to encourage
and support them in pursuing professional
development and continuous learning through
external training.

To uphold our services quality, understand
different case scenario faced by the frontline staff
and timely respond to the views from our staff, the
Group always seeks for improvements on the
trainings by conducting assessment and collecting
feedback of participants. This can help the Group
continuously improve the training programs
covering various aspects offered to all levels of
employees so as to enhance their job
performance.

B3.
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During the reporting period, the percentage of RS - R RERER
employees trained and average training hours by EoHTINREE B D R E
gender and employment type was as follows: SIS -
Percentage of Average training hours
employees trained (hours/employee)
ZIEEEDL FAE I (N BE)
2022 2021 2022 2021
Employment category {E{EE5 —2-C T ZE-C T -F
By gender BRI D
e Male o Bt 51% 50% 1.94 1.06
e Female o Ik 142% 50% 5.67 4.23

By employment type  REGBERES
o Senior management o SHEREE = - -
RRERE 20% 13% 0.40 0.70

o Middle management e

o General staff o LTHMET 57% 87% 2.29 471

o Contract/shortterm o A#)/‘GHE 247% - 9.88 -
During the reporting period, the breakdown of RSB - =R RIERED
employee trained by gender and employment type ElnmZIEERMIT -

was as follows:

Breakdown of

employee trained (%) F 5{E & BH A (%)

By gender RER &

e Male o BHif 35% N/A T3 A 12

e Female o I 65% N/A T3 A 12

By employment category RERERNES

e Senior management s RREEE - NATER™

e Middle management s FREEE 4%  N/ATGER™

e General staff o ETWBT 15%  N/ATEA ™

e Contract/short term o BH/RH 81%  N/ATEF™
2 The data of 2021 was not available. 7 WEZIT T —FEE
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B4. Labour Standards

The Group prohibits engagement of child and
forced labour in compliance with the relevant law
of the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) of the
Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, Labor
Standards Act (& 8)E%)%) of the Japan,
Employment Security Act (8 % % 7€ J%). We have
implemented a preventive recruitment procedure
with a thorough background check, to ensure that
no underaged or illegal persons are employed.
Furthermore, to prevent unlawful recruitment of
employees under the age of 15 as child labour,
employees are required to provide identity proofs
to Human Resources Department to verify the age
as part of the recruitment process. All work should
be voluntarily performed and shall not involve
forced labour. If any violation against laws and
regulations in relation to labour standards is
found, we will investigate the incident, impose
appropriate penalty to accountable staff subject to
the severity and review any defects in the human
resources system in place. Besides, the Group
does not in any way force its employees to work
overtime. Employees are compensated in
accordance with labour laws and company
practices on overtime compensation in cases
where working outside normal working hours is
inevitable.

During the reporting period, there was no
employment of child labour discovered, nor any
non-compliance of laws and regulations relating to
forced labour.
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OPERATING PRACTICES EEER

B5. Supply Chain Management B5. {ftEHEEE

The Group has established a set of guidelines for
procurement of goods and services, with an
objective to maintain proper supply chain
management in the Company. We expect our
suppliers to share the same values and operate
business in a responsible, fair and honest manner.
For office operation, the Group mainly works with
third party services providers which provide
services such as information technology services,
property management services, advertising
service and legal and consulting services. We also
work with suppliers that supply office equipment,
printing and stationery. For hotel operation, the
Group works closely with a number of suppliers in
providing a range of hospitality goods, including
guestroom consumables, tableware, furniture, and
electrical appliances.

Stringent procedures are applied in the selection
of suppliers. In addition, we maintain a well-
established system to monitor the quality of
suppliers, ensuring that the goods supplied and
services provided are of high standard. The Group
also emphasises on the selection of products that
cause minimal impacts on the environment, for
example, we purchase green cleaning products
and reusable items instead of single-use
disposable ones. To raise awareness and engage
our suppliers to contribute to sustainable
development, we welcome suppliers who
demonstrate their commitment to sustainability.
During the year, the Group had 46 suppliers (2021:
52 suppliers) in Hong Kong and 126 suppliers
(2021: 168 suppliers) in Japan.
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B6. Product Responsibility

Service levels are deemed essential by the Group
because quality service is indispensable factors in
remaining the market position of the Group in the
highly competitive market. Our employees fully
understand the obligation of delivering high quality
service to customers. Striving to achieve a high
standard of professionalism, we seek continuous
improvement in service quality by welcoming
comments and feedback from our customers. To
improve our service, the Group’s complaint
handling policy is strictly in accordance with
regulatory standards to ensure that customers’
opinions are heard and responded in a timely
manner. During the reporting period, no material
products and service-related complaints were
received, and no products sold or shipped
subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Quality Management System

The Group believes the opinions from customers
can drive our continuous improvement and are
essential to our pursuit for excellence. We
welcome the opinions from customers by
establishing various communication channels with
customers, such as customer service hotline and
email. We have also established a customer
service survey form on our website to understand
the needs of our customers and improve our
service quality.

The Group has established procedures of guest
complaint handling, to clarify the responsible
departments and handling procedures for guest
complaints, and handle the complaints in a timely
and effective manner. The Group assigned specific
persons-in-charge to conduct complaint handling,
complaint supervision and tracking of hotel
management issues.

We have also partnered with Online Travel
Agencies ("OTA") and used their online platforms
for sales and marketing, as well as receiving
comments from guests. The information collected
will be reviewed regularly to identify key areas for
improvement on our hotel hospitality services.
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During the reporting period, the Group was not
aware of any violation of relevant laws and
regulations that has a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress. During the
reporting period, the Group has received 3
complaint cases (2021: 6 complaint cases) that
were related to our hotel hospitality services and
facilities, the cases were well documented and
reported to the hotel management, refunds and
compensations were provided to the clients,
where appropriate.

Personal Data Privacy and Protection

The Group protects its customers’ privacy by
confidentially processing and maintaining personal
data in compliance with Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance of the Laws of Hong Kong and the Act
on the Protection of Personal Information of Japan.
For all our businesses, we handle customers’
personal data with extra care, to ensure that the
information is properly stored in a locked room
and is accessible only to authorised staff to
prevent from improper disclosure or misuse.

During the reporting period, there was no non-
compliance of laws and regulations relating to
data privacy.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to maintaining and
safeguarding intellectual property rights to comply
with the relevant regulations and to protect our
employees and customers. Our Staff Handbook
strictly prohibits the use and installation of
unauthorised or illegal software on the Company’s
computers. During the Reporting Period, we are
strictly complying with the relevant regulations,
including but are not limited to, the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528) and Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486) of Hong Kong as well as the
Copyright Law of Japan, the Group is not aware of
any incident on intellectual property rights
infringements.
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B7. Anti-Corruption

The Group treasures integrity as its core value. As
a financial services provider, we consider money
laundering as an important risk and are obligated
to achieve high standards of openness and fight
against any corruption activities. We strictly
comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201) of the Hong Kong, the Criminal Law
of the PRC, the Unfair Competition Prevention Act
(Act No 47 of 1993) (the UCPA) of the Japan and
the Penal Code (Act No 45 of 1907) (the Penal
Code) of the Japan.

The Group expects employees at all levels to share
the value of integrity and honesty. The Group
strictly abides by the laws and regulations on
integrity and prevention of corruption, bribery,
fraud and extortion in regions where it operates,
such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in
Hong Kong. The Group explicitly states that any
form of corruption, bribery or kickback is strictly
prohibited in its employee manual. Employees
shall not solicit or accept any forms of bribing
benefits, including banquets, cash, gifts, rebates
and commissions. If any case of suspected
corruption or other criminal offence is discovered,
it will be reported to the Independent Commission
Against Corruption or other relevant authorities.

The Group also has a well-established
whistleblowing policy to encourage our staff to
report any suspicious cases related to misconduct
or malpractices with a confidential platform in the
Company. The Board provides reporting channels
and guidance for the employees to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters in relation to
business ethics principles. During the reporting
period, the anti-corruption training and average
training hours data for employees and directors
was not available as we did not provide any
training to employees during the year. The Group
will plan to provide external or internal anti-
corruption training to them in the coming year.

During the reporting period, the Group was not
aware of any non-compliance of laws and
regulations relating to bribery, fraud, extortion and
money laundering.
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B8. Community Investment B8. HEHRE
As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is EAB—FRAHSEEEIHNLE K
constantly aware of the community needs and SE—F@EIHEE R UBN
strives to ensure our continued success and BERBRMOFEXD KK - Bk
growth. Besides making donations to charitable T RZEZHEBERIN 0 REBE IR
organizations, the Group also encourages our EEEISMERIES -

employees to participate in volunteer activities.

During the Year, the Group attended and FR AEBEC2EANEKET

organized some cooperate social responsibility TCEMESETHBEEE G

(CSR) related events and the details were [ERAT R

summarised in the following table:

Events SEE

e  September — October 2021, Niseko Town e —_ETE-_—FHAAE+A-
Halloween Festival 2021 (Donation for one 2021 F BB AT (38 Y
free accommodation ticket) —REEEES)

o December 2021, Niseko Annupuri New Year o —E-—F+=Zf ZitH
Fireworks (Donation of JPY10,000) 5% R F R TCE R (18

710,000 H &)
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Independent Auditor's Report
B ZBEERE

|IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{8E : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 110 to
226, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2022, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30 June 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor's Report
B ZBEERE

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Company’s annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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Independent Auditor's Report
B ZBEERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment for property, plant
and equipment on hotel hospitality business
Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies in notes 3.8 and 3.11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had property, plant and
equipment with the brought forward net carrying amount of
HK$306,642,000 (before the current year impairment 0ss)
arising in hotel hospitality business.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the directors of the
Company assessed the recoverable amount of the non-
current assets based on higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use. The recoverable amount of the
non-current assets in the hospitality business cash generating
units (“"Hotel CGU") was determined by the directors based
on fair value less costs of disposal.

The impairment assessment involves significant judgements
and assumptions by the directors of the Company underlying
the determination of the fair value less costs of disposal of
the non-current assets in the Hotel CGU.

The directors of the Company has engaged an independent
professional valuer to determine the fair value less costs of
disposal of the non-current assets in the Hotel CGU. The
determination of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on the recent sales of similar transactions in the market.
Directors of the Company concluded that, based on the
assessment result, impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment of HK$7,641,000 has been recognised for the year.
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Independent Auditor's Report
B ZBEERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
Our procedures on the impairment assessment by the
directors of the Company for property, plant and equipment
on hotel hospitality business included:

() obtaining and reviewing the valuation report prepared
by the independent professional valuer engaged by the
Group;

(i discussing with the independent professional valuer
and challenging the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the valuations, including comparable market
transactions, and to assess the independence,
objectivity, qualifications and expertise of the
independent professional valuer;

(i) assessing the valuation methodology adopted by the
independent professional valuer and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuation;
and

(iv) checking input data to supporting evidences, such as
the market comparables used and assessing the
reasonableness of these comparables.

Impairment loss allowances assessment on
loans receivable

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements and
the accounting policies in note 3.18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group has gross loans receivable
amounting to HK$214,338,000, which is significant to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole. The Group has
applied HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and assessed
impairment loss allowances for loans receivable based on
expected credit loss (“ECL") model.

In determining the impairment loss allowances on loans
receivable, the management assessed historical default rates,
the values of the collaterals if any, timing of future cash flows
as well as those relevant forward-looking information such as
the expected future cash flows and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors which involve estimation and
significant judgement.

BT ER ()
EEAHREBESEZGE

Bz BERREFRHBEERFEBYE
BB ES K s& B 1R I 2 BB R f 2 2 Fr 845

() BEhEH EXEEEIBUEE
RERDPT AR B2 (HEHRE

(i BB HFXMAEM®RERNEE
PRz B E R RR (BT
MmHR5) ANFHER LB XA ERMZ
BN BB BREERME

(i) 57458 7 W2 A AR D 2 1 (B
I LB R AR 2 B R B
iR

(iv) BREFERXXM 28 AZBIE - Ol
PR I5 AT L B BUR AT F AT
REE AR -

FE W & SR E S 1R B A R A

FELHREMBRRW T2 iR 0%
WAL Z FETHR -

RZBE-_—FXA=1+H  B£EEZEK
&4 1A /5214,338,00008 7T © BhiR A BT IE
BEREEMBEA . BSXECEARASE
HBREEAFIORSHTE - LREHE
EEE ([BaEERE ] BT M ERER
BB E B -

EERWEFURERIRE R - BIEENG
BEEBOLE  BEMBR2EBEAR) AR
RenERARZEFHM@ATEILEER - flin
TEHIRRIR B IR 8 IASH K Al 5T R B A H
ZAEMRBLERE -

TECCFFR o BERFHFEEERAT 105



Independent Auditor's Report
B ZBEERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment loss allowances assessment on
loans receivable (continued)

Our procedures on the impairment loss allowances
assessment by the directors of the Company on loans
receivable included:

(i) Obtaining an understanding of the Group's credit 10ss
policy and methodology for impairment assessment in
relation to the application of ECL model under HKFRS 9;

(i) Inquiring management for the status of each of the
loans receivable past due as at year end date and
corroborating explanations from management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding of credit
status of debtors, checking of historical and subsequent
settlement records and other correspondence with the
debtors;

(i)  Evaluating the appropriateness and reasonableness of
methodology, parameters and assumptions used in the
assessment of ECL such as criteria for judging
significant increases in credit risk, definition of credit-
impaired financial asset, key data inputs and forward-
looking information; and

(ivy Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the
management’s calculation of impairment loss
allowances under ECL model.

DIRECTORS’' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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Independent Auditor's Report
B ZBEERE

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group'’s internal control.

ZLMENF RS M B WRA KR
ZHiE

BB R EREAAMBRRBER
B ERNRGFEERMEBM B AERR
at WIHABREMEROZBEIRS - B
BARE-NN\—FRREE0GK  AFE
Zrm ET(ERRBE)EL BRIt ZINIE
Hip sk o AT AR RE 2 ARREMR
Hib AT BBSAESIE -

AEREESEANRE  HEREBEEEET
RERHETT 2 BT TIFTRERERBER BT
FEZEBRFERRM - $5ERR 2] R EREF 238
REL - WERSNEEESEARBER A
TEEAERBELSHFAMBRRIEL 2K
PORTER - BIAR BE AR -

ERBEBETERETEBIES - &M
BERERAE  WRBERERLEE - &M
I

o BEBIAFEAE B RRRE S EE RR 1 B 2R
EMBRRFEEAHERRANER -
R MATTERAIEFARYZEAR -
AR FEER 78 e M3 & B AHERRE © 1F
REMERER - AR AGFA e
KE&BR - BE  BFBER - ERRAL
FERBRAMEZEZ £ B RaEE
3R HRRE 8 By B AR AR R A R
% = 10 B 6 AR T 48 B ) B K BE AR PR
AR ©

o THREBAMONBERS AR
BEMBHRF  EANLEY B
EENBEANRAEREL -

TECCFFR o BERFHFEEERAT 107



Independent Auditor's Report
B ZBEERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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B ZBEERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Hung Yun, Andrew
Practising Certificate Number P04092

Hong Kong, 30 September 2022

TECCFFR o BERFHFEEERAT

LMENRF RS M B WRA KR
ZHE®)

 HEAKME
ﬁmﬁfﬁﬁilﬁ’]*ﬁ?ﬁﬁé’%%ji I BR 1 &
BRFTARIRER A BR AT ERMBE L
MHBEERREMEER AREERANER
T REBREVE PR ERER 1T B 3k FE AR B9 [ &8
B o

REEBBNEET - WP HAHRE
REMBRROEAEREZ 2FE - BAM
BRBRENFE - RIPERIERTER

NARBULEEER  ARBEENERLT
BARAEBELEEENSERANTIRIZ
%ﬂﬁii@%%ﬂ%ﬁti?%EEﬁU &M A ER
BEPRE  GARMENEBEIREPHE

A FFIA

BRI EERENMEERERAET

HEDIAD

OB R

HEFE 4R 5% P04092

EHE  —E-—FHNA=+H

109



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FREREKER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

2021
—E-—fF
HK$'000
AT
Continuing operations FELSEER
Revenue g 6
Services income FRASUA 15,875 18,756
Interest income FBUA 2,472 4,943
Trading income ELTON 18,898 393
Dividend income REMA 3,807 -
41,052 24,092
Cost of sales HEKA (58,115) (13,174)
Gross (loss)/profit (E8)/EF (17,063) 10918
Other income and gains Hi A e 8 3,487 4,557
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHRAX (17) (121)
General and administrative expenses — R RITHFEX (38,685) (44137)
Finance costs BB A 12 (1,773) (2,204)
Share of loss of associates NEEERRER 19 (252) (5,619
Impairment loss on interests in associates — FAEEE A B Z SR EE R 19 - (3,883)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B HEKREREBERE
receivables 21 1,173 374
Net (l0ss)/gain on fair value change of BOTEFABR 2/
financial assets at fair value through BEZRTEES
profit or loss (BB WE3E 23 (70,193) 1,036
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment EWEZ CRERE)/
loss of loans receivable REBERR 22 (12,933) 8,824
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment — Efh el 0B G &R E
l0ss) on other receivables and deposits EiERE/CHlEER) 21 6,624 (1,928)
Impairment loss on property, plant and WE - BELRERESSE
equipment 16 (8,073) (15,6298)
Net (deficit)/surplus on revaluation of BREMEER(BY) /A%
investment properties FE 17 (600) 200
Loss hefore income tax FrERAEE 9 (138,305) (47,617)
Income tax credit R 13 2,467 5,841
Loss after income tax from continuing BEREER 7 EREER
operations (135,838) (41,776)
Discontinued operations BERIEEEER
Profit for the year from discontinued BRIEEEEBER
operations pavl 7 - 4,879
Loss for the year FRER (135,838) (36,897)
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consolidated statement of Comprehensive Income
ReREBRR

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &ZE—ZT_-_—F A=+THIEFE

2021
—E-—fF
HK$'000
THL
Other comprehensive income Hih2ERA
Items that may be subsequently R RES P EE Am
reclassified to profit or l0ss ZEH
Exchange differences arising on MEBIINERAEE
translation of foreign operations ERZES (57,498) 749
Release of exchange reserve upon HENB L BRER
disposal of subsidiaries ANE 15 35 - 651
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKA
for the year (57,498) 1,400
Total comprehensive income FRZEWMALE
for the year (193,336) (35,497)
Loss for the year attributable to: THATEEFRESR !
Owners of the Company NETE Z=UN (135,838) (35,365)
Non-controlling interests EI 3 = (1,532)
(135,838) (36,897
Total comprehensive income for THATEEFRZEBA
the year attributable to: wmE
Owners of the Company NEIE Z=UN (193,336) (35,014)
Non-controlling interests EI3 g = (483)
(193,336) (35,497)
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable A~AREEAELESR
to owners of the Company: (B8)/B7: 15
From continuing and discontinued REFBELERELLE
operations REEH
— Basic — &R HK(0.87) cent #&fli  HK(0.23) cent %1l
— Diluted — 8 HK(0.87) cent #&{li  HK(0.23) cent %L
From continuing operations REBELEER
— Basic — &K HK(0.87) cent #fli  HK(0.27) cent &1L
— Diluted — 8 HK(0.87) cent #fli  HK(0.27) cent &1L
From discontinued operations RECKRIHEEEK
— Basic —EXK N/A FEH HK0.04 cent &l
— Diluted — 8% N/A RiE HK0.04 cent &l

TECCFFR o BERFHFEEERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MERKAR

Asat30June2022 MW-ZE-—F,XA=1+H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENERE 16 299,001 377,212
Investment properties REME 17 19,000 19,600
Interests in associates I NI 2 19 3,235 3,487
Financial assets at fair value BRAOFEFABRZ
through profit or loss SREE 23 - 59,805
Loans receivable FEME X 22 - 554
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 321,236 460,658
Current assets REEE
Inventories 7E 20 4,172 50,252
Trade receivables, other receivables, & 5EUERIE - B fELL
deposits and prepayments PR - Re RIENFIE 21 14,621 80,623
Loans receivable FEME X 22 10,305 65,337
Financial assets at fair value BRAFETABRLZ
through profit or loss TRMEE 23 281,051 7,500
Deposits in a financial institution NEREIE 2 73 24 20,599 318,384
Pledged bank balances BIERRITE S 31 690 1,126
Bank balances and cash RITHEHRER S 24 66,174 16,574
Total current assets REBEERE 397,612 539,796
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables, other payables B 5 « EtpER
and accruals FIEREER 25 6,232 7,909
Contract liabilities R ON=NE 26 2,651 2,658
Borrowings BE 27 54,550 128,549
Lease liabilities HEAR 28 348 318
Tax payable FEFRIE 2,545 2,845
Total current liabilities RGeS 66,326 142,279
Net current assets TEEEFE 331,286 397,517
Total assets less current liabilities A& ER B EE 652,522 858,175
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mERBERAE

Asat30June2022 MW-Z-—FXA=1+H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIBEE 29 42,949 55,266
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEERE 42,949 55,266
Net assets EEFE 609,573 802,909
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to owners EAEHEAELESR
of the Company
Share capital N 30 784,776 784,776
Reserves ] (175,203) 18,133
Total equity MRS 609,573 802,909

These consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 226
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 30 September 2022 and are signed on its behalf

by:

FIOERAZ AV BHREREN -F
TCHENA=tHEESSHEREET

% Wl MIEERREE

Cheng Chi Kin
BFE

— - —

=

Wong Siu Keung Joe

')A
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEEEHR

For the year ended 30June 2022 HEZT-_—FA=+HIEFE

Share Share  Contributed ~ Exchange Special  Share option
premium* surplus* reserve® reserve* reserve®

Other  Accumulated

losses
ZitBE

Nor-
controlling
Interests

Total

At1uly 2020 R-Z-FF+tA-B 184776 1217887 340932 (575530) (43246) 55,791 13037 (1473724 837923 (46,177) 791,746
Lapse of share options BREAN - - - - - (55,791) - 55,791 - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - - - - - - - - - 46,660 46,660
Release of otfer reserve upon HENEADNEL
disposal of subsidiaries EltiE - - - - - - 29027) 2007 - - -
Transaction with owners HEEAZRS - - - - - (55,791) 29027) 84,818 - 46,660 46,660
Comprehensive income 2EUA
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - - - (35,365) (35,365) (1532 (36897)
Other comprehensive income Rf2EHA
Exchange differences arising on BEINEBREL
translation of foreign operations EizE - - - 300) - - - - (300) 1089 749
Release of exchange resenetoproft  HEHB AT E,
or loss upon disposal of subsidiaries ~ JMNEREZER - - - 651 - - - - 651 - 651
Total comprehensive income EREERALE
for the year - - - 351 - - - (35,369) (35,014) 483) (35497)
At 30 June 2021 RZBZ-EXB=1R 184776 1217887 340932 (57,179 43.246) - (15990 (142,21 802,909 - 802,909
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consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ReEEED®

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &ZE—ZT_-_—F A=+THIEFE

Share Share  Contributed Exchange Special Other Accumulated
capital premium* surplus* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses* Total
g R EE* BARHK  NERE  BERE*  HitRE RitEE* by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
a7 T Thx TAn Thx Thn FHEL ThL
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c)) (note (e))
(B3t @) (M (b)) (B (c)) (M (e)
At 1July 2021 W-B--%tf-A 784,776 1,217,887 340,932 (57,179) (43,246) (15.990)  (1,424,271) 802,909
Comprehensive income 2EHMA
Loss for the year FREE = = = = = = (135,838) (135,838)
Other comprehensive income Hit2ERA
Exchange differences arising on BERNEBMES
translation of foreign operations ERES = = = (57,498) - - - (57,498)
Total comprehensive income FR2ERAEE
for the year - - - (57,498) - - (135,838) (193,336)
At 30 June 2022 R-B-Z£xA=1A 784,776 1,217,887 340,932 (114,677) (43,246) (15,990)  (1,560,109) 609,573

* These reserve accounts comprise of the consolidated deficit reserves *
of HK$175,203,000 (2021: consolidated surplus reserves of
HK$18,133,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

ZERBRBEREVBIR RN ZERE B
%175,203,0008 T (Z T = —F : LA BHHE
18,133,000/ 7T) °
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consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ReEEEn®

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

Notes:

116

In prior years, the Group undertook capital reorganisations resulting in
the elimination of: (i) the share premium account of the Company with
a balance of HK$260,881,000 as at 30 September 2005 against
accumulated losses of HK$88,157,000 as at that date with the
remaining balance of HK$172,724,000 credited to contributed surplus
of the Company; and (ii) share capital of the Company of
HK$168,208,000 which was credited to contributed surplus of the
Company.

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
on the translation of financial statements of foreign operations.

Special reserve arose from the business combination carried out by
the Company in 2004, which was accounted for as a reverse
acquisition. Details of the transaction were set out in the circular of the
Company dated 14 June 2004.

Share option reserve represents the fair value of the share options
granted to the eligible parties at the grant date.

Other reserve represents the effects of transactions with non-
controlling interests.

=R

REBERBEFEGETZRNRASTA  EH()
AARR-_ZEERFNA=TAZBMHERS
#:260,881,0007 7T ¥ 8 %2 B 2 2 3t B B
88,157,000 T + #4%8 172,724,000 T BJ5F A K
ANRABARE R () HHEFTARARBARGBZ
AN A T FRZS 168,208,000 7T

SMERERIBREBINEBIBREMELME
PE S ZE -

BHREHIERARAE_STOFETERS
PEMEL - ZIREB A GO IME—TRERUE -
RBHBENARBTBEMR -_ZTMF A+
B2k

BRGS0 A A R
B2 AT -

HitfwiE R EE R 58 E -
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HeBKRER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &ZE—ZT_-_—F A=+THIEFE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$'000

FET

HK$'000
TERT

Cash flows from operating RELRIHEERE

activities

(Loss)/profit before income tax FrS il (B1B),/&F

Continuing operations FESEER (138,305) (47,617)
Discontinued operations BRIHEEETS - 4,879
Total st (138,305) (42,738)
Adjustments for: FTFIEAELAR
Depreciation of property, ME - BEMRETE
plant and equipment 16 5,156 8,246
Deficit/(surplus) on revaluation REMESHBL(B)
of investment properties 17 600 (200)
Dividend from financial assets at BRAFEFABREL
fair value through profit or loss TREECRE 6 (3,807) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR 2 e 35 - (9,039)
Loss on derecognition of associates 4% - HERREE & 1 AIE 18 - 678
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BER&HE
plant and equipment BB 9 268 -
Provision for allowance of inventories 17 & ## 9 9,396 -
Reversal of impairment loss on B RN RIER EEERE
trade receivables 9 (1,173) (374)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ Hib EUGRIE R IE S
impairment loss on other CREsERE),/
receivables and deposits REEE (6,624) 1,937
Impairment loss on property, ME - BE KRR
plant and equipment REEE 16 8,073 15,628
Impairment loss/(reversal of FEW EZURERE,
impairment loss) on loans CREEERD)
receivable 22 12,933 (8,824)
Net loss/(gain) on fair value of BRAFEFABREL
financial assets at fair value SRMEELNTEER/
through profit or loss (Wrzs) 558 23 70,193 (1,036)
Written off of property, plant and WEEME -« BE R RE
equipment 9 - 236
Gain on lease modification HEE 8 (101) (22)
Interest income from banks and RITREEEERBWA
a financial institution 8 (202) (1,836)
Finance costs BB A 12 1,773 2,204
Share of loss of associates DMEEE A REE 19 252 5,619
Impairment loss on interests in REEE N R 2 ERRERE
associates 19 = 3,883

— - —

=
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HFERKRER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT

Operating loss before working capital 484 ¢ &8 v KL EE

changes (41,568) (25,638)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERD,/(8m) 37,039 (230)
Decrease in trade receivables, B FEARTE - HibE

other receivables, deposits and FIE - e RIEMAFUA

prepayments B 75,755 6,862
Decrease/(increase) in loans R E R A,/ (32 0)

receivable 42,653 (3,229)
(Decrease)/increase in trade BoEMNIETE « HibB

payables, other advances and RERTER (L), /12 m

accruals (852) 2,51

Cash generated from/(used in)  REEXKHAE/(FA)BE
operations 113,027 (19,724)
Tax paid BERFIE (200) (10)

Net cash generated from/(used in) & £ M5, (FrA)RELBE

operating activities 112,827 (19,734)
Cash flows from investing RETBH2HESRE
activities

Purchase of financial assets at fair Wi R A FEF ABR

value through profit or loss JERMEE (320,899) -
Proceeds from financial assets at fair & AT E A2

value through profit or loss ERMEEFETE 29,460 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, — HEWE « BEREZEZ

plant and equipment PS5k IE 1,000 -
Net cash inflows from disposal of HEMBRARRERAFHE

subsidiaries 35 = 5,389
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME  BEMRE

equipment 16 (736) (4,884)
Compensation from profit guarantee 2 W FIRE 2 #ifE

received 7,500 2,500
Interest income received from banks B UKIRTT R 4 B F &

and a financial institution WA 202 1,836
Dividend received B E 2,657 -
Decrease in pledged bank balances — E3EERITAE A 436 5,026

Net cash (used in)/generated from R&E8 (FiH) FIERETFE
investing activities (280,380) 9,867
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HeBKRER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &ZE—ZT_-_—F A=+THIEFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET
cash flows from financing RETBH2RESRE
activities
Repayment of borrowings EBEEE 38 (67,508) (8,738)
Repayments of principal portion EBEHEEAENEEHES
of the lease liabilities 38 (522) (1,674)
Repayment of interest portion of EEHEEAENFEES
lease liabilities 38 (31) (94)
Advance from non-controlling IR RS TR IR RE
interests, net 38 - 361
Interest paid BERFIE 38 (1,742) (2,110)
Net cash used in financing MEZTHMARLS TR
activities (69,803) (12,255)

Net decrease in cash and cash BeRkBEEZEEER

equivalents B RE (237,356) (22,122)
Effect of foreign exchange Exgunso g

rate changes (10,829) 3,039
Cash and cash equivalents at FNEERREEHEER

beginning of the year 334,958 354,041
cash and cash equivalents FRESRRESEHEER

at end of the year 86,773 334,958

Analysis of the balances of cash HERELZEBEELHIN
and cash equivalents

Deposits in a financial institution REREIEZ TR 24 20,599 318,384
Bank balances and cash IRITREH AR S 24 66,174 16,574
86,773 334,958
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

120

GENERAL INFORMATION

DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the Company’s registered
office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda and its principal place of business was
Room 905, 9/F., Wings Building, 110-116 Queen'’s Road
Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the business of (i) hotel hospitality
business; (i) provision of money lending services, (iii)
trading and distribution of liqguor and wine; and (iv)
investments in listed securities and funds.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS")

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSsS

In the current year, the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) has applied for the first time the following
new standards, amendments and interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, which are relevant to and
effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1

July 2021:

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4, —Phase 2
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

The application of these new or amended HKFRSs
has no material impact on the Group's results and
financial position for the current or prior period.
The Group has not early applied any new or
amended HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. 5 EMERSEN(EE
MRS

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, have been issued, but are not yet
effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group:

Amendmentsto HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®
HK Interpretation 5 (2020)  Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting policies?
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single
transaction?
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use'

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract’

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSS
HKFRS Standards 2018-2020"
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023
3 The amendments should be applied prospectively to the

sale or contribution of assets occurring in annual periods
beginning on or after a date to be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

2.

122

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. E%ﬁ Ei’gﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%iﬁﬂﬂ (&%

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers
to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in
2010. The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a
requirement that, for obligations within the scope
of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 to
determine whether at the acquisition date a
present obligation exists as a result of past events.
For a levy that would be within the scope of
HK(IFRIC)-Interpretation 21 Levies, the acquirer
applies HK(IFRIC)-Interpretation 21 to determine
whether the obligating event that gives rise to a
liability to pay the levy has occurred by the
acquisition date. The amendments also add an
explicit statement that an acquirer does not
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28,
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where
there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture.
When the transaction with an associate or joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, any gains or losses resulting from the
loss of control of a subsidiary that does not
contain a business are recognised in the profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors'
interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from the
remeasurement of retained interest in any former
subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors' interests in the new associate or joint
venture.
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(Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

HK Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

HK Interpretation 5 (2020) was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1
issued in August 2020. The revision to HK
Interpretation 5 (2020) updates the wordings in the
interpretation to align with the Amendments to
HKAS 1 with no change in conclusion and do not
change the existing requirements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
Policies were issued following feedback that more
guidance was needed to help companies to
decide what accounting policy information should
be disclosed. The amendments to HKAS 1 require
companies to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. The amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify how
companies should distinguish changes in
accounting policies from changes in accounting
estimates. That distinction is important because
changes in accounting estimates are applied
prospectively only to future transactions and other
future events, but changes in accounting policies
are generally also applied retrospectively to past
transactions and other past events.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

2.

124

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. ¥ S EMERSERN(EE
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") MEHEER ) 2

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been by eEAMEEEKRERZH

issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

In specified circumstances, companies are exempt
from recognising deferred tax when they
recognise assets or liabilities for the first time.
Previously, there had been some uncertainty
about whether the exemption applied to
transactions such as leases and decommissioning
obligations — transactions for which companies
recognise both an asset and a liability.

The amendments clarify that the exemption does
not apply and that companies are required to
recognise deferred tax on such transactions. The
aim of the amendments is to reduce diversity in
the reporting of deferred tax on leases and
decommissioning obligations.

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while
bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Instead, the
proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of
producing those items, is recognised in profit or
loss.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’
a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly
to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a
contract can either be incremental costs of
fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and
materials) or an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling contracts (e.g. the
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the contract).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Standards — Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of
standards, including:

o HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, which permit
a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of
HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation
differences using the amounts reported by
its parent, based on the parent’s date of
transition to HKFRSs.

° HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify
the fees included in the 10 per cent’ test in
paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability,
explaining that only fees paid or received
between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or
the lender on other’s behalf are included.

o HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative
Example 13 to remove the illustration of
reimbursement of leasehold improvements
by the lessor in order to resolve any potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives that might arise because of how
lease incentives are illustrated in that
example.

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the potential impact of these new
pronouncements upon application.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

126

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “"HKFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial instruments and investment
properties, which are measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000")
except when otherwise indicated.

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

RREERFESBK
3.1 6REH

3.2

3.3

3.4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

RREERFEEMBR2)

3.4 Business combination and basis of 3.4 ¥BEHREGEESERE(E)

consolidation (Continued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the
dates of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal,
as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is
accounted for using the acquisition method. The
cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of
assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity
interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair
value. The Group's previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date
fair value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs
are deducted from equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

128

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.4 Business combination and basis of

consolidation (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration
are recognised against goodwill only to the extent
that they arise from new information obtained
within the measurement period (@ maximum of 12
months from the acquisition date) about the fair
value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified
as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or
loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group's interest and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests is adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.4

3.5

3.6

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of
non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes
in equity. Total comprehensive income is
attributed to non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interest having a
deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The Company
controls an investee if all three of the following
elements are present. power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee, and the ability to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that
there may be a change in any of these elements
of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in subsidiaries are included in the
Company'’s statement of financial position at cost
less any impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable.
Accounting policies on impairment of interests in
subsidiaries are described in note 3.11 below.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.6 Associates (Continued)

Associates are accounted for using the equity
method whereby they are initially recognised at
cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are
adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s
interest in the associate are not recognised unless
there is an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between
the Group and its associates are recognised only
to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in
the associate. The investor’'s share in the
associate’s profits and losses resulting from these
transactions is eliminated against the carrying
value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair
value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired
is capitalised and included in the carrying amount
of the associate. Where there is objective evidence
that the investment in an associate has been
impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other
non-financial assets. Accounting policies on
impairment of interests in associates are
described in note 3.11 below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.7 Revenue recognition

)

Revenue from contract with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or
services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the goods or service may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the
goods or service is transferred over time if
the Group's performance:

e  provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

o creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

132

3.7 Revenue recognition (Continued)

)

Revenue from contract with customers
(Continued)

If control of the goods or services transfers
over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the
goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. Where the
contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For contracts
where the period between the payment and
the transfer of the promised goods or
Services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

A contract asset represents the Group's right
to consideration in exchange for services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.7 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Revenue from contract with customers
(Continued)
A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer services to a customer
for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.

(@ Sales of goods
Revenue from sales of goods is
recognised at a point in time as when
the control of the goods has been
transferred to the customers and there
is no unfulfilling performance obligation
after the acceptance of the goods.

(b)  Services income

Hotel revenue from room rental is
recognised overtime as the customers
simultaneously receives and consume
the benefits of the Group's services.
Hotel revenue form food and beverage
sales and other ancillary services are
recognised at a point in time as when
the relevant services provided to the
customers and there is no unfulfilling
performance obligation after the
services rendering.

(ii) Revenue from other sources
(@ Interestincome

Interest income from a financial asset
is accrued on a time-apportioned basis
by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the
rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset’s
net carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

134

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.7 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources (Continued)
(b)  Rental income
Rental income under operating leases
is recognised on straight-line method
over the term of the relevant lease.

(c)  Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when
the right to receive the dividend is
established.

3.8 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of property, plant and
equipment includes its purchase price and the
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Freehold land is stated at cost and not
depreciated.

Buildings are depreciated over the shorter of the
term of the lease or fifty years using the straight-
line method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

RREERFEEMBR2)

3.8 Property, plant and equipment 3.8 M1¥ BERREE)

(Continued)

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
shorter of the remaining term of the lease or at 5%
per annum using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
other property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Over the shorter of
lease terms or at 30%

Right-of-use assets

Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements  Depreciated over the

shorter of the

remaining terms of

lease or at 5%

Equipment, furniture and 16.60%-33.33%
fixtures

Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

20.00%-33.33%
12.50%-33.33%

The assets’ estimated useful lives, estimated
residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or l0ss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.9 Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation.

When the Company holds a property interest to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an
investment property.

On initial recognition, investment property is
measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is stated at fair
value. Fair value is determined by external
professional valuers, with sufficient experience
with respect to both the location and the nature of
the investment property.

The carrying amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position reflect
the prevailing market conditions at the end of
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the
fair value or the sale of an investment property are
included in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND HBREERTESHBER &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
3.10 Goodwiill 3.10 &

Goodwill represents the excess of the
consideration transferred of a business
combination, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and the fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interest over the
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
recognised identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities measure as at acquisition
date. The consideration transferred of the
business combination is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of
exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the
Group.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units and is tested annually for
impairment (note 3.11).

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the recognised identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
a business combination is recognised immediately
in profit or oss.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the
attributable amount of goodwill recognised is
included in the determination of the amount of
gain or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

138

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries,
property, plant and equipment, interests in
subsidiaries and associates are subject to
impairment testing.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that
they are impaired. All other assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that
the asset’s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a
result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Goodwill in particular is
allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related
business combination and represent the lowest
level within the Group at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purpose.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

RREERFEEMBR2)

3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets 3 FemMEERME(E)

(Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are
credited initially to the carrying amount of
goodwill. Any remaining impairment 10Ss is
charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash
generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods. In respect of other non-
financial assets, an impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount and only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if
no impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no 1oss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period
relates.

3.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, including an appropriate
portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses,
is calculated using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less any applicable selling expense and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

140

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.13 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Income earned on temporary investments of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
those assets is deducted from borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.

3.14 Government subsidy

Government subsidy is not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them and
that the subsidy will be received.

3.15 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise of current tax
and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

RREERFEEMBR2)

3.15 Income taxes (Continued) 3.15 FR8%i (&)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the corresponding amounts used
for tax purposes. Except for goodwill and
recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred
tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount of
the asset or liability is realised or settled and that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled
entities, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income in which case the
taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

142

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.16 Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases
or finance leases) are required to be capitalised in
the consolidated statement of financial position as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but
accounting policy choices exist for an entity to
choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-
term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a lease
term less than 12 months. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed
on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liabilities); (i) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs
to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use
assets applying a cost model. Under the cost
model, the Group measures the right-to-use at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

RREERFEEMBR2)

3.16 Leasing (Continued) 3.16 HE (&)

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities are recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the date of commencement of the lease. The
lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable: (ii)
variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected
to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects
the lessee exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the
Group measures the lease liabilities by: (i)
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liabilities; (i) reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made; and
(i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a
change in future lease payments arising from
change in an index or rate, a change in the lease
term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase
the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

144

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.16 Leasing (Continued)

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment property
to a tenant. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense on the straight-line basis over the lease
term.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

3.17 Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s)
(the “functional currency”) are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

RREERFEEMBR2)

3.17 Foreign currencies (Continued) 3.17 & (&)

Exchange differences arising from the settlement
of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are recognised as profit or [0ss in
the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income, in which case, the exchange differences
are also recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of
foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the
rates approximating to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at
the rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve (attributed to minority interests as
appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in
profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial
statements on the translation of long-term
monetary items forming part of the Group’s net
investment in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3.

146

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND RREERTEGBE 2
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.17 Foreign currencies (Continued) 3.17 N (&)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a
foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the foreign
exchange reserve.
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3.18 Financial instruments 318 €T A

(a) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(@

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.

FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss include financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit
or loss, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at fair
value through profit or loss on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

148

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL") on trade
receivables, contract assets, financial assets
measured at amortised cost and debt
investments measured at FVOCI. The ECL are
measured on either of the following bases:
(1) 12 months ECL: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date: and (2)
lifetime ECL: these are ECL that result from
all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECL is
the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECL is probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an
approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure 10ss
allowances for trade receivables using
HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The
Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For other debt financial assets at amortised
cost, the ECL are based on the 12-months
ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECL.

For loans receivable, ECL is determined by
reference to the estimation of the exposure
at default (“EAD"), probability of default
("PD") as well as a loss given default (“LGD").
The 12-months and lifetime PDs represent
the probability of default occurring over the
next 12 months and the remaining maturity
of the instrument respectively. The EAD
represents the expected balance at default,
taking into account the repayment of
principal and interest from the reporting date
to the default event together with any
expected drawdowns of committed facilities.
The LGD represents expected losses on the
EAD given the event of default, taking into
account, among other attributes, the
mitigating effect of collateral value at the
time it is expected to be realised and the
time value of money.

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECL, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

150

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or (2) the financial asset is more than
90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less 10ss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non
credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at
amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
including trade payables, borrowings, lease
liabilities, other payables and accruals issued
by the Group are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the amortisation process.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.18 Financial instruments (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of direct issue costs.

Derecoghition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset
expire or when the financial asset has been
transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when
the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

3.19 Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, which will probably result in an
outflow of economic benefits that can be
reasonably estimated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

152

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.19 Provisions and contingent liabilities

(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, the existence of which will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

3.20 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and deposits held at call with banks, and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.21 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are
expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are
recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

RREERFEEMBR2)

3.21 Employee benefits (Continued) 321 EEREA (&)

Defined contribution pension obligations
The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The Scheme is
responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to the retired employees and the Group
has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or other post-retirement benefits
beyond the employer contributions. Contributions
under the Scheme are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the PRC.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Sweden and Japan are required to
participate in contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans. Contributions are recognised as
expenses in profit or loss when the services are
rendered by the employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

154

3.22 Related parties
A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

@)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Ccompany's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.22 Related parties (Continued)
An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (Continued)

(o)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(if)

(iif)

that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

156

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.23 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share
capital is determined using the nominal value of
shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing
of shares are deducted from share premium (net
of any related income tax benefit) to the extent
they are incremental costs directly attributable to
the equity transaction.

3.24 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported to
the executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major businesses.

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments: (i) hotel hospitality business; (ii)
provision of money lending services, (iii) trading
and distribution of liquor and wine; and (iv)
investments in listed securities and funds.

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service
lines requires different resources as well as
marketing approaches.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

3.24 Segment reporting (Continued)
The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRSS, except that:

— fair value change on investment properties
— share of result of associates

— impairment loss on interest in associates

— finance costs

— corporate income and expenses which are
not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment

are not included in arriving at the operating results
of the operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets except interests
in associates and investment properties. In
addition, corporate assets, bank balances and
cash and deposits in a financial institution which
are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment are not
allocated to a segment, which primarily applies to
the Group's headquarter.

Segment liabilities include all liabilities but tax
payable and deferred tax liabilities. In addition,
corporate liabilities which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment and are not allocated to a
segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

3.

158

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND RREZERTESHEER &)
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

3.25 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) 3.25 B EE (BERH)

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is fair value at
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any impairment losses and intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each annual reporting period, with the effect of
any change in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Amortisation is charged on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives

as follows.

Production formula 10 years
Non-competition agreements 7 years
Sales backlog agreements 5 years

The amortisation expense is recognised in profit
or loss and included in general and administrative
expenses.

3.26 Share-based payment transactions 3.26

Share options granted to employees of the
Group and others providing similar services
The fair value of share options has been
recognised in the profit or loss as share-based
payments.

The fair value of services received is determined
by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date is expensed in full when
the equity instruments granted vest immediately
unless the compensation qualifies for recognition
as an asset with a corresponding increase in share
option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes judgements, estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of competitors’
actions in response to severe industry cycles.
Management reassess the estimations at the end of
each reporting period.

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a
straight-line basis where appropriate over their
estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual values, if any. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives, depreciation method and the
estimated residual values, if any, of the assets at least
at the end of each reporting period in order to
determine the amount of depreciation expense to be
recorded during any reporting period. The depreciation
method, useful lives and residual values are based on
the Group’s historical experience with similar assets
and taking into account anticipated technological
changes. The depreciation expense for future periods is
adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.
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160

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Japan. The Group carefully evaluates tax
implications of transactions in accordance with
prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provision
accordingly. However, judgement is required in
determining the Group's provision for income taxes as
there are many transactions and calculations of which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.

Estimated impairment of trade
receivables, loans receivable and other
receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of receivables on a forward-looking basis. In
making the judgement, management considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information such as actual or expected significant
changes in the operating results of customers, actual or
expected significant adverse changes in business and
customers’ financial position. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed
by the Group’s management.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying amount of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value-in-use. The calculation of the fair
value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The Group uses its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR") to
measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have
to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.

Fair value measurement

Certain of the Group’s assets and liabilities included in
the consolidated financial statements require
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities utilises market observable inputs
and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining
fair value measurements are categorised into different
levels based on how observable the inputs used in the
valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value
hierarchy”):

4.
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AEBEEREENRBEZAFEFE

BURNATSUBREHAENLE

B BEAVFEFERMA 28 ABE

DERTABL  EESNEENE

Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ)\%ﬂfizﬁf%ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ
%/'& :

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical F14 0 MHAEBEERITBEME Y RE
items (unadjusted); (REsHARE)

Level 2:  Observable direct or indirect inputs other than FoM BENLEABIEIN  AHEEE
Level 1 inputs; SRS R ABE

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from FE38% - TRl ERE ABUE (BN 3R

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised
in the period they occur.

The Group measures the following item at fair value:

MISRBEPF L2 H8IE) -

I8 B 9 887 I8 4R TY DA B A da A
BEHZBBEAVEFEFEEALZ
REBARE - REEBR < MEEA
B TR E L B R -

REBERNFEFENLTIER :

—  Investment properties (note 17) — BEWHEME17)
—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss — BAVEEFABRZEEEE (M
(note 23) 3$23)

For more detailed information in relation to the fair
value measurement of the items above, please refer to
the respective notes.
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(@) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
loans receivable, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, deposits in a financial
institution, pledged bank balances, time deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade payables, other
payables and accruals and borrowings.

The main risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC
and Japan with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in HK$, Renminbi (“RMB”)
and Japanese Yen (“JPY”), which are the functional
currencies of respective group companies. The
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk primarily
arise from certain financial instruments which are
denominated in United States Dollar (“USD"),
which are currencies other than the functional
currency.

In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between the HK$ and the USD would be materially
unaffected by any changes in movement in value
of the USD against HKS.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy.

5. MERRETRE
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

5. MBEABREHE 2

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) BIREMESEEERBEE)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
policies in place for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debtor at
the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk of the Group is primarily attributable
to trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits, loans receivable, deposits in a financial
institution, pledged bank balances, time deposits
and bank balance and cash.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the assets as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

164

(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

It considers available reasonable and supportive
forward looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

o external credit rating (as far as available)

e actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the counterparty’s
ability to meet its obligations

o actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the counterparty

e significant expected changes in the
performance and behaviour of the
counterparty, including changes in the
payment status of counterparties in the
group and changes in the operating results
of the counterparty

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments
when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation
of ECL are unbiased and probability-weighted, and
incorporate all available information that is
relevant to the assessment including information
about past events, current conditions and
reasonable and supportable forecasts of future
events and economic conditions at the reporting
date. In addition, the estimation of ECL should take
into account the time value of money.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

5. MBEABREHE 2

(@) Financial risk management objectives (@) BIKEKREEEERBEE)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk of deposits in a financial institution,
pledged bank balances, time deposits and bank
balances is limited because the majority of the
counterparties are institutions with good
reputation. No impairment had been provided
under 12-month expected credit loss assessment.

The Group presumes that the credit risk of loans
receivable has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise. The Group considers
that default has occurred when the instrument is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more backward default
criterion is more appropriate.

The credit risk of loans receivable is determined
based on the combination of the internal and
external credit rating, the average debt recovery,
peer review information and comparison with
public available data. The Group calculates ECL
using three main components: a probability of
default ('PD"), a loss given default ('LGD’) and the
exposure at default (‘'EAD’). The 12-month ECL is
calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, LGD
and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated using the
lifetime PD instead. The 12-month and lifetime PDs
represent the probability of default occurring over
the next 12 months and the remaining maturity of
the instrument respectively. The EAD represents
the expected balance at default, taking into
account the repayment of principal and interest
from the balance sheet date to the default event
together with any expected drawdowns of
committed facilities. The LGD represents expected
losses on the EAD given the event of default,
taking into account, among other attributes, the
mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it is
expected to be realised and the time value of
money. The total impairment allowance on the
loans receivable as at 30 June 2022 amounted to
HK$204,033,000 (2021: HK$175,747,000) has been
provided under expected credit 10oss assessment,
of which additional expected credit losses of
HK$12,933,000 (2021: reversal of expected credit
loss of HK$8,824,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 June 2022.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5.
(Continued)

MBEREE @)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) BIEREEBEERBEE)

166

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

An analysis of changes in the gross amount and
impairment allowances of loans receivable as at
30 June 2022 and 2021 is as follow:

Stage 1
E1RER

HK$'000
TER

EERK(E
BWESRGABENRERER_-Z
T oER-E-—FXA=1H
BB -

Stage 2 Total
E2RER e
HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FTHERT

At 30 June 2022 R-—EBE-_—_FxXH=1+H

Loans receivable EWE - 784 213,554 214,338
Impairment allowances  JFiEEE - (83) (203,950) (204,033)
Net amounts HEE - 701 9,604 10,305

Stage 1
E1PEER

HK$'000
TR

Stage 2
F 20
HK$'000

FHIT

Stage 3 Total
3R R
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET

At 30 June 2021 RZEZ—-f£XA=1+H

Loans receivable FERER - 18,200 223,438 241,638

Impairment allowances  JEifEEE - (2,801 (172,946)  (175,747)
Net amounts HEE - 15,399 50,492 65,891

For the trade receivables, the Group carries out
regular review on these balances and follow-up
action on any overdue amounts to minimise
exposures to credit risk. The Group measures the
lifetime expected credit loss based on the
outstanding balances and historical credit loss
experience adjusted to reflect the Group’s view of
current and forecast economic conditions that
may affect the ability of the debtors to settle
receivables. The total impairment allowance
amounted to HK$126,000 (2021: HK$1,296,000)
had been provided under expected credit loss
assessment by using simplified approach
according to the ageing by due date disclose in
note 21, reversal of expected credit loss of
HK$1,173,000 (2021: HK$374,000) was recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 30 June 2022.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The loss allowance as at 30 June 2022 and 2021

was determined for trade receivables as follows:

5. BWERBRER &)

BEREEEERBEE)
EERE (&)

RIBE - —FR-_F-—FXA
—t+HEMESERRBEETZE

(a)

Expected
credit loss
rate —
weighted
average
(%)

BNER
BRlE
— i
74
%)

BEEET

Gross
carrying
amount

(after

excluding
credit-
impaired
balance)

ARREE
(1BR
FERE
R
HK$'000

Net
amount

Loss
allowance

BRER
HK$'000
T#T

At 30 June 2022 RZBEZZFXHA=1H

Not yet pass due 18] 7 480 29 N/A TR 7,404 = 7,404
Overdue within 90 days AHEA90 B A N/ATiE B 79 - 79
Overdue 91 to 180 days BETHZE180H N/AFER 14 = 14
Total ek 7,497 = 7,497

Expected
credit 10ss
rate —
weighted
average
(%)
BEEE
BB x
— hE
5

(%)

carrying
amount
(after
excluding
credit-
impaired
balance)

BEEE

(ks
EERE
B k)
HK$'000

Net
amount

Loss
allowance

ERRE
HK$'000
TRT

At 30 June 2021 R-ZB-—-&XH=1H

Not yet pass due 18 A 8L ER N/ATRiE 4N - 4

Overdue within 90 days #HI0 B N/AZNiE A 20 - 20

Overdue 91 to 180 days BWEI9IBAZE180H N/ANEF 21 - 21

Total B 452 - 452
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

168

(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For the other debts instruments, given the short
term nature of these assets, the ECL had been
provided under 12-month expected credit 10ss
assessment. The total impairment allowance
amounted to HK$153,000 (2021: HK$6,847,000) has
been provided under expected credit loss
assessment.

The Group has concentration risk on trade
receivables and loans receivable.

At the end of reporting period, the Group has
concentration of credit risk as HK$6,559,000 (2021:
HK$84,000) and HK$7,034,000 (2021: HK$251,000)
of total trade receivables after considering the
impairment loss due from the Group’s largest
trade debtor and the five largest trade debtors
respectively.

The Group also has concentration of credit risk as
HK$9,604,000 (2021: HK$43,029,000) and
HK$10,305,000 (2021: HK$65,891,000) of total
loans receivable after considering the impairment
loss due from the Group’s largest borrower and
the five largest borrowers respectively.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
deposits in a financial institution, time deposit,
bank balances and borrowings. The Group’s
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s deposits in a
financial institution, bank balance and borrowing
with a floating interest rate. Management closely
monitors cash flow interest rate risk and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

5. MBEABREHE 2

(@) Financial risk management objectives (a) BIREMESEEERBEE)

and policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/(decrease) of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
(decrease)/increase the Group’s loss for the year
and the accumulated losses by approximately
HK$482,000 (2021: HK$2,316,000) respectively.

The sensitivity analysis above was determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the reporting date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100
basis points increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period
until the next annual reporting date. The analysis
was performed on the same basis for 2021.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.
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e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

5.

170

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following table details the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of reporting
period of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates, or if
floating, based on rates current at the end of
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

5. BERBRER &)

(a) BBEMEEEERBRE)

RBEESER(E)

TR AEEFTECREBE
RBEMR AT AN EFF
B DIRBETHRBRARESR
E(BRRABITONER(IE
FBAR)RBERRZERITH
REFE2MEXH) RAEER
ERANRZRFAHEE -

Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow  on demand
ERIAREER —ERH
REE RERELHE BEEXR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET TET
2022 —EC-CHE

Borrowings BE 54,550 54,782 54,782

Trade payables, other BSREMNIRE - K
payables and accruals FERFRIB R ERT B A 6,232 6,232 6,232
Lease liabilities MEARE 348 348 348
61,130 61,362 61,362

2021 —E-—F

Borrowings = 128,549 129,018 129,018

Trade payables, other B S REMNERIE - Hi
payables and accruals FER IR ERTE R 7,909 7,909 7,909
Lease liabilities HERRE 318 322 322
136,776 137,249 137,249
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Fair values
The fair values of the Group’s financial assets is
determined as follows:

The fair value of investments in unlisted
private funds as at 30 June 2022 and 2021 is
determined by the Directors of the Company
with reference to the valuation statements
provided by the fund administrator, in which
the fair value disclosed in the valuation
statements are indirectly determined by the
sum of underlying investments with quoted
price

The fair value of compensation from profit
guarantee is determined by the Directors of
the Company with reference to the actual
financial result of Delta Prestige Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Delta
Prestige Group”) for the year ended 30 June
2016

The fair value of listed securities is
determined by reference to their quoted
market prices at the reporting date

HKFRS 7 requires disclosure for financial
instruments that are measured at fair value by
level of the following fair value measurement

hierarchy:

Level 1 — Quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted price
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the assets or
liabilities, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that

are not based on observable market
data.

5. MBEABREHE 2

(b) A¥E
rEBERMEEZ A FEEEN
T

* NITZZFRZT=—
NA=ZTHZELETLAR
EREZRPETIBART]
ESESENEGEEAM
REMHERSET - MEE
e PR QBT
AR ESBE L RERRET

o aAREMEZRFETH
ARRMEEK2ERFER
ERAR AR RENME AT
([EREEEEDEE_F
—RERA=TRIEFEZ
ERMIEREETE

s LWEFZAFEDZER
RfE Bz TSREETE

BAEVHHREEETHRRE -
BIWIAT R EFFESERD RH
BRAVEAEZSRTA:

F1E — HABEHEER
AR5 2 B R

(R -

BEI1RBREZHRE
RN A LR
BR2EEXARE
AR ©

F2 —

WIRIEAIERRED
LHEAECEE
S B EHARE -

EIR —

TECCFFR o BERFHFEEERAT 171



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Fair values (Continued)

5. MERBRER &)

(b) 2P E@E

Total
#E
HK$'000
TET

Level 3
B3I
HK$'000
FTERT

Level 2
B2
HK$'000
TET

Level 1
B1R

HK$'000
TR

At 30 June 2022 RIEZZFEAA=1H
Assets BE
Investments in listed securities  FEAIEE 205,260 - - 205,260
Investments in unlisted FETRAESEE
private funds - 75,791 - 75,791
205,260 75,791 - 281,051

Total
BE
HK$'000
FAHT

Level 3
31K
HK$'000
FHET

Level 2
E2R
HK$'000
FAET

Level 1
£

HK$'000
THET

At 30 June 2021 R-ZE-—-£xXH=+H
Assets EE
Compensation from ERRERE
profit guarantee - - 7,500 7,500
Investments in unlisted FETRAELEE
private funds - 59,805 - 59,805
- 59,805 7500 67,305

The methods and valuation techniques used for
the purpose of measuring fair value are
unchanged compared to the previous reporting
periods. There were no significant transfers of
financial assets and liabilities between Level 1,
Level 2 and Level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications.

SERFEMAIAERMEERT
EUBEHREHEMER - B14
F2RBREIRRNFERBRNER
AYESHEENBEIEANE
5 o
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e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. BERRER &)
(Continued)
(b) Fair values (Continued) (b) AFEE)
The fair value of compensation from profit HHIRBEHEZATEBEBEIN
guarantee is a Level 3 recurring fair value e N (EEE o N B S HE
measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and TR HAR RN ESHREER

closing fair value balances are provided as below:

2021
—E—F
HK$°000
FHET
Opening balance RS
(Level 3 recurring fair value) (B3I EMERFE) 7,500 10,000
Repayment during the year FAEERE (7,500) (2,500)
Closing balance HRsR o
(Level 3 recurring fair value) (BIBEEMEAFE) - 7,500
One of the key significant unobservable inputs to ETaMNREMELATEZHE
determine the fair value of compensation from P—IBEEEEBARTAIERH A
profit guarantee is the actual financial result of BRAEREFEEHE_T—X
Delta Prestige Group for the year ended 30 June FRA=ZTHILEFEZEBRTB
2016. ES 0
A better actual financial result of Delta Prestige EREFEEHEZE_ZT—REAX
Group for the year ended 30 June 2016 would R=TRIEFEZERVBFEE
result in a decrease in the fair value of B EMNREMEZATE
compensation from profit guarantee, and vice BRORLY  RZINAR °
versa.
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FREMBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. @RS EHRE

Revenue represents the amounts received and W THIEFANLHBRRE NI A K&
receivable for goods sold to outside customers, net of HEREHBERRINRERLES
returns and discounts and sales related taxes, income Mz BB RERRIE  BEEE 2
from hotel operations, interest income from loans WA~ BRERZFEWA KR EHE
receivable and dividend income from investments in HFIE 2 REBMA o

listed securities during the year.

2021
—E——4E
HK$'000
FHET
Continuing operations: FEREEK
Service income: BRIGUA -
Hotel hospitality business B JE R ST 15,875 18,756
Interest income: FEWA -
Money lending services BER® 2,472 4,943
Trading income: B WA :
Liguor and wine AR EE 18,898 393
Dividend income: REWA -
Investments in listed securities EBHKRE 3,807 -

41,052 24,092
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

Segment reporting

(a)

Reportable segments

The Group determines its operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief
operating decision-maker that are used to make
strategic decisions. The chief operating decision-
maker has been identified as the Company’s
executive directors.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the chief
operating decision-maker has decided to rename
the segment of “investments in funds” to
“investments in listed securities and funds” to
reflect the current business activities in such
segment.

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group
had completed the disposal of the new energy
business. In accordance with HKFRS 5, the
segment of new energy business for the year
ended 30 June 2021 were presented as
discontinued operations in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Group currently has four reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services
and requires different business strategies as
follows:

(i) hotel hospitality business;
(i) provision of money lending services;

(i) trading and distribution of liguor and wine;,
and

(iv) investments in listed securities and funds.

There were no inter-segment transactions
between different operating segments for the year
(2021: Nil). Central revenue and expenses are not
allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segments’
results that is used by the chief operating
decision-maker for assessment of segment
performance.

— - —

=

6. BIRRSMWE @)

DEBE

(a)

FER o« BEFERKERRLA

AHRESE

AEBRBEXFELBERREEMN

AREARZ REETEED

H - XrZEERARECHEERAR
NAJHITES o

HE_Z__FXA=Z1+HLF
B TEEERAREDATEHE
SRE] DENEBEESRAI LT
BERESKE ] URBZHHE
RS ERIEE -

BE_T-_—FRA=+THIF
B AEBECSTROEMERE
e RBEFBVBHBRELERES
%ﬁ% @1_7__5/\\)%_‘1’5
I FEREBDBENRAS

BrraBmRTEINRER
_IJ:z«( %fi

AEBREA L ETREHE -
R 3 R T L % IR
B EEGERAE  HA%
EENEERSES R - RES B

e -
() EERELRE
() IRELEERE

(i) BEREREBERDHE K&

(iv) LEBEFELESKE

TR BR P ST

RH(—B=—4: M) R
SR B S I WA E BB
R EBIETHE D BRB 2 5
2EHE - A B R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. 2R %E®RE &)
(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DREBEE)

(b) Segment revenue and results (b) DEWREREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue R mEDEI ) ANERZ WS
and results by reportable segments: MEETWOT -

For the year ended 30 June 2022

BE-ZE-_—_fxXA=1+HLHF

176

E

Investments

Hotel Money in listed

hospitality lending Liquor  securities
business services  andwine  and funds Total

BERE LTR%R
£% RER® BEER HEERE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThARL ThARL ThARL ThRL ThARL
Segment revenue gl 15,875 2472 18,898 3,807 41,052
Segment loss PEER (9,136) (10,888) (26,862) (66,142)  (113,028)

Unallocated corporate income AABREMA R

and gains 3,487
Unallocated corporate expenses R AR AR (i)

(Note) (26,139)
Finance costs AR (1,773)
Share of loss of associates AMEBEAREE (252)
Net deficit on revaluation of RENEFEREHTE

investment properties (600)
Loss before income tax from REEREKL

continuing operations FERAEE (138,305)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30June 2022 #HEZZTZZ—FXA=+HIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. &R o%EERE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DTERE (E)
(b) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (b) oEBWBIREE(E)
For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE_ZT-_—FA=+HIHF
E
Hotel Money
hogpitality lending Liguor  Investments
business Services and wine infunds
BESG
=5 AERS BEER EeRE Al
HK$' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000
TAL TAL TATL THT THx
Segment revenue P& 18756 4943 0 - 24,092
Segment (loss)/profit HE(FR) /&7 (22,569) 13338 (807) 108 9,630)
Unallocated corporate income AABREMA R
and gains 3339
Unallocated corporate ROERART (W)
expenses (Note) (29.820)
Finance costs AR (2.204)
Share of loss of associates AMEBEAREE (5,619)
Impairment loss on interests REEARZBERERE
in associates (3883)
Net gain on revaluation of RENFERNGTE
investment properties 200
Loss before income tax from BREOEEKL
continuing operations FEHAIERE (47,617)
Note: Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included staff iz 2T - —FLR T -—FXA
salaries, directors’ remuneration and consultancy fees =+HILEFE KROBEQAFRMAXE
for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021. ZEREEIHS ESEMEREM
B -
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i e M RRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. &R o%EERE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DERE (&)
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (c) 27EEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets BAREo BN AEBZEE
and liabilities by reportable segments: ReaE wmT
2021
—E——4E
HK$'000
FHT
Segment assets PEEE
Continuing operations FEREER
Hotel hospitality business B JE SR ST 303,063 378,820
Money lending services BER 11,337 66,544
Liquor and wine JBFEE G 19,032 71,817
Investments in listed securities B LHERESKRE
and funds 283,002 122,935
Total segment assets DEEERE 616,434 640,116
Interests in associates REEE N T 7w 3,235 3,487
Investment properties HEME 19,000 19,600
Deposits in a financial institution MR & BL#E 2 73 20,599 318,384
Unallocated bank balances AOBLIRITHEB LIRS
and cash 55,847 9,485
Unallocated corporate assets FAoBARIEE (MIsE)
(Note) 3,733 9,382
Consolidated total assets IREAEBE 718,848 1,000,454
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e MBRRME

Forthe yearended 30 June 2022 #HZE—_Z_-_—F#XA=+HILFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. &R o%EERE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DEWRE (&)
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) c) oEEEREE(E)
2021
—E——4E
HK$'000
FHT
Segment liabilities SEERE
Continuing operations FEREER
Hotel hospitality business B IE SR TS 45,379 122,027
Money lending services EE IR 149 246
Liguor and wine AR EE 2,489 2,468
Investments in listed securities EESRESKE
and funds 8 113
Total segment liabilities DA ERARE 48,025 124,854
Tax payable FERTTR IR 2,545 2,845
Deferred tax liabilities BEEIBAE 42,949 55,266
Unallocated corporate liabilities Ko B AGIEE 15,756 14,580
Consolidated total liabilities meaBas 109,275 197,545
Note: Unallocated corporate assets mainly comprised of s APBRARBEEFEREHZ-Z
compensation from profit guarantee for the year ended Z—FXRNAZTHIEFEZEFR
30 June 2021. EiEE -
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e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. lt&R9HEEE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DE®RE(E)
(d) oOther segment information (d) HttnEER
For the year ended 30 June 2022 BE-E-__FX<A=t+HL#F

E

Investments

Hotel Money in listed

hospitality lending Liquor securities
business services and wine and funds  Unallocated Total

BERS LHESR
% HERE BRER ESRE AR ait
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
FiEn TiEn TR TR FEn FiEn

Amounts included in the AL BRNSERS
measure of segment profit AREEHEZEE
or loss or segment assets:

Additions to non-current assets REERBAE 673 - - = 63 736
Depreciation of property, % BEREENE

plant and equipment (4,684) (327) = = (145) (5,156)
Impairment loss on property, % BERERE

plant and equipment EEE (7,641) (432) - = = (8,073)
Reversal impairment losses on EfEgER

other receivables and deposits REREFRAR = - - 3,580 3,044 6,624
Reversal of impaiment losseson—— E SEKEERE

trade receivables FBEE - - 1173 - - 1173
Impairment losses on loans receivable FENEZE B - (12.933) = = = (12,933)
Interest income from banks and FIReEKE

afinancialinstitution FlEKA = = 15 - 187 202
Deficit on revaluation of RENEEREL

investment properties - - - - (600) (600)
Netloss on fair value of BATEFARRL

financial assets at fair value SBEEATE

through proft or loss FEsE - - - (70,193) = (70,193)

Amounts regularly providedto ~ EHEIELERFE
the chief operating decision- REEYEFAIE
maker but not included in BHAFRHEZSE:
the measure of segment
profit or loss:
Finance costs RERK (662) (31) = = (1,080) (1.773)
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For the year ended 30June 2022 #HEZZTZZ—FXA=+HIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. &R o%EERE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DTERE (E)
(d) oOther segment information (Continued) d) EHiboEERE)
For the year ended 30 June 2021 HE_ZT-_—FA=+HIHF

3

Hotel Money
hospitality lending Liquor ~ Investments
business services and wine in funds Unallocated

+
SR BEER 2ekE AP
HKS'000 HK$' 000 HKS'000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000
i AT Tn B BT

Amounts included in the A ERFSERS
measure of segment profit AREEHEZEE
or loss or segment assets:

Additonstonon-currentassets  FEERHEE 1330 - - - 354 4,884
Depreciation of property, nE - BERRENE

plant and equipment (6,175) (2,067) - o - (8,246)
Impairment loss on property, n% - BEREE

plant and equipment HEER (13,605) 2016) (7) - - (15,629)
Impairment losses on other EfERGER

receivables and deposits REHERE - - - (189) (89) (1928)
Reversal of impairment losses BARWEERE

on frade receivables FRED - - 374 - - 3
Reversal of impairment losses N ETREERER

onloans receivable - 8824 - - - 8,824
Interest income from banks FTReREE

and a financial institution FBMA - - 18 - 1818 1836
Surplus on revaluation of REMFERRS

investment properties - - - - 200 20
Change in fair value of BATEARRZ

financial assets at fair SBEAELATERY

value through profit or loss - - - 1,03 - 1,036

Amounts regularly provided ERRIEEENRE

to the chief operating REBYEETAIE
decision-maker but not ENSEETEZSE

included in the measure
of segment profit or loss:
Finance costs BERA (1,030) (10) - - (1,164) (2,200
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FREMBERRME

For the year ended 30June 2022 HEZT-_—FA=+HIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. iR %EE =)
(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) PTEREE)
(e) Geographic information (e) HEER

The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong
Kong (place of domicile), the PRC and Japan.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets (other
than financial assets) by geographical markets are
detailed as below:

AEBFEZEEMBEIEMUREER
(RELHEL) - PRI AR

AE BRI R TIZE D KB IR
BEPZWaMBERAFRBDEE
(EREERIN ZERFFBDT

Revenue from
external customers
(including continuing
and discontinued
operations)

Non-current assets

REPREE 2z
(BEFERER
BRI R T FREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
“ECCF T F B -F DT F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHET FBT FHT
Hong Kong 55 6,279 4,943 22,235 24,543
The PRC F 18,898 772 - -
Japan HR 15,875 18,756 299,001 375,756
41,052 24,471 321,236 400,299

182

(f)

The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the goods and services
are delivered. The geographical location of other
non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets.

Major customers

For the year ended 30 June 2022, revenue from
one customer of wine and liquid segment
amounted to HK$18,814,000 contributed over 10%
of total sales of the Group.

There is no significant revenue that is more than
10% of the Group's revenue derived from specific
external customers for the year ended 30 June
2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

7. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 7. ERILIERER
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group has HE-_ZT-_—FA=1+HLFE"
completed disposing the business of development, AEBEEKABLE=HHERE -
manufacture and distribution of a vegetable fuel HEE N SETE YRR D 2 RS (T ET
additive (“New Energy Business”) to an independent REIRZETS]) ©
third party.
New Energy Business represented the separate line of HE-_Z-_—FA=+HLFE"

major business and is classified as discontinued MeeREBEFBEXEBZIRAEN - I

operations for the year ended 30 June 2021. DA B TR PRI o
The results and cash flows of the New Energy Business MEEREBBE_T_—F A=+
for the year ended 30 June 2021 is as follows: AIEFECHERRESRENT ¢

2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHT
Revenue Wz 379
Cost of sales SHE KA (298)
Other income and gains HaA ke M
Selling and distributing expenses HE RS HAX (394)
General and administrative expenses —RITHAX (3,949)
Impairment loss on other receivables H b R IE R IR & R E R 1B
and deposits ©)
Loss before income tax FriS i Al 518 (4,160)
Income tax expense FriS i f 2 -
Loss after income tax from BRI EHEBE 2
discontinued operations FrigFii& &8 (4,160)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HEMTE AR 2 Wa (MiaE35) 9,039
Profit for the year from discontinued operations = 4% || 48 & 2 1% 7 F (1% 7 4,879
Cash flows from discontinued operations: EARIFCEXEBHIRSRE
Operating cash inflows KEBREMA 679
Investing cash outflows FEBREMH (4,390)
Financing cash inflows BMEHESMA 1,298
Total cash flows HemELTE (2,413)
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FREMBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

8.

184

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 8. Hfuf AR

Continuing operations FEREER
Interest income from banks and IRTT R SRR B U

a financial institution 202 1,836
Additional compensation in relationto B8 MR B EEINEE

profit guarantee - 170
Government subsidies (note) BT Bh (B3E) 1,011 948
Gain on deregistration of subsidiary FESEMT B A R 2 Wi 550 -
Rental income el A 510 510
Gain on lease modification HE BB S 101 22
Other sundry income Huzmk A 1,113 1,065

3,487 4,551

Note: The government subsidies represented a subsidy under B5E - BRAT 4 B $E B 8 15 BITT IR & BT e B AR B

Employment Support Scheme launched by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and subsidy
received under “Employment Adjustment Subsidy” and “Spread
Prevention Co-operation Support Fund” from Japan
Government. There are no unfulfilled conditions and other
contingencies attached to the receipts of those subsidies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. FSMAIEIE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/ PSRRI EE &% (5t A) 75
(crediting): B8 -
2021
—E = —4E
HK$'000
FHET
Continuing operations FEREER
Auditor's remuneration ZEETEN & 1,750 1,900
Depreciation expenses in respect of: EETHREBEBZIHERY :
Owned assets BEEE 4,829 7,139
Right-of-use assets FREEE 327 1,107
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME - HE ME&HE
and equipment 2 B8 268 -
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAEMSZ 2 FEKA
expense 58,115 13,174
— Provision for inventories — FEREE 9,396 -
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment JEW & ZOREE R,
loss) of loans receivable (note 22) CREEBERED)(HE22) 12,933 (8,824)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ HEMERFIE RIES
impairment loss on other CREEERR),
receivables and deposits (note 21) BEEE (F1E21) (6,624) 1,928
Impairment loss on property, plant Y B KR
and equipment (note 16) BEEE (M1 16) 8,073 15,628
Employee benefit expense EEEARZ
(including directors’ remuneration): (BiEE=Ele) -
Wages and salaries TENF® 5,197 8,834
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFF B FR
schemes 109 475
Short term lease expenses RERERS 303 251
Exchange losses, net 0 H E518 )5 5 4 646
Reversal of impairment loss on B 5 W ERIB R EE1E
trade receivables (note 21) B0 (fFFE21) (1,173) (374)
Written off of property, plant WM - BE L&
and equipment = 236
Loss on derecognition of associates BIEREREE N 2 B8 > 678
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e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 10. EFH&
Particulars of the remuneration of the directors for the UTRFREZZHMEER -
year were as follows:
Year ended 30 June 2022 BE-E-_—_HXA=tHLEE
Contributions
to retirement
benefit
Fees schemes Total
RINEF
wue FTEIHR #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET THET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (note i) B0 BR AT A (FT3ED) 425 16 441
Mr. Liu Shihao (note i) a5 s A (BT 184 7 191
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (note iii)  EJk 3 5 4 (Kt xiii) 195 5 200
Mr. Charlie Lu (note iv) BRB L (i) - - -
Mr. Chan Wai Ki (note v) BRI A (FHEEY) 28 1 29
Mr. Eric Todd (note vi) ERIZE A (M vi) 80 3 83
Mr. Yiu To Wa (note vii) whigEE S A (BTt vii) 50 1 51
Independent non-executive BIEHTES
directors
Mr. Chiu Wai On BERRE 135 - 135
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEIREAE 135 - 135
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (note vili) 7 18 5 4 (Bt viii) 135 - 135
Total et 1,367 33 1,400
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e BERERME

For the year ended 30June 2022 #HEZZTZZ—FXA=+HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 10. EFE#ME (2

Year ended 30 June 2021 HE-Z-_—FA=+HLFE
Contributions
to retirement
benefit
Fees schemes Total
BIARER
we FTEIfEEK st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THBIT FET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Wong Hin Shek (note ix) FRELE (FEEiX) 1,763 16 1,779
Mr. Chan Wai Ki (note v) PRI A (PRt V) 500 18 518
Mr. Eric Todd (note vi) ERIE A (FiTEEvi) 500 18 518
Mr. Yiu To Wa (note vii) BhaEEE A (BTREvii) 80 1 81

Independent non-executive BYEHITESE

directors
Mr. Chiu Wai On BEREE 120 - 120
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERELE 120 - 120
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (note x) EMEELT (M) 15 - 15
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho (note vii) 7558 5 4 (BT viii) 53 - 53
Total et 3,151 53 3,204
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

188

Notes:

(vii)

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin was appointed as executive director with
effect from 24 August 2021.

Mr. Liu Shihao has been appointed as an executive director with
effect from 12 August 2021 and resigned as executive director
with effect from 25 March 2022.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe was appointed as executive director
with effect from 25 March 2022.

Mr. Charlie Lu was appointed as executive director the
Chairman of the Board with effect from 16 August 2021 and
resigned as executive director with effect from 26 November
2021.

Mr. Chan Wai Ki resigned as executive director with effect from
22 July 2021.

Mr. Eric Todd was appointed as executive director with effect
from 24 March 2020 and resigned with effect from 1 September
2021.

Mr. Yiu To Wa was appointed as executive director with effect
from 27 May 2021 and resigned with effect from 22 July 2021.
Mr. Sheung Kwong Cho was appointed as independent non-

executive director with effect from 18 May 2021.

Mr. Wong Hin Shek resigned as executive director with effect
from 27 May 2021.

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen resigned as independent non-executive
director with effect from 23 December 2020.

10. EFdE (2

GEX

0]

(i)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 10. EFE#ME (2

Mr. Charlie Lu waived the director fee for the service
period from 16 August 2021 to 25 November 2021.
Except for this, there was no other arrangement under
which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the years ended 30 June 2022 and
2021.

Disclosures required by Section 383 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies (Disclosure of
information about benefits of directors) regulation (Cap.
622G) and Listing Rules:

(@ The executive directors’ remuneration shown
above was mainly for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group during the years ended
30 June 2022 and 2021.

(b)  The non-executive and independent non-executive
directors’ remuneration shown above were mainly
for their services as directors of the Company and
the Group during the years ended 30 June 2022
and 2021.

(c) None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 30
June 2022 and 2021.

(d) During the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021,
there were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities
of such directors.

(e) No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year (2021:
Nil).

— - —

=

ERBLEERE_ZS_—FNA
+RBE-_ZE-_—F+—A-+EH
MRBHECEEME - Rt 2o
EEVERNEBEE_T-_—_FRK=_F
T—FRNAZTRLEFEFEHERNE
L HEE KR EREEAME -

RIBREHERI (F622F ) E 38315~ A
A(HBEEENEER) RHI(F6226
B) R ETRAREMRE 2 EH

@ EXFITHITESZHFMEED
PREE_E-_—_FRk_F - —
FRAZTHIEFEREARAR
NEEEHERREHR RS -

() EXFRRIEMITRE L IEHITE
E2EFMNEESRRBE_ZT
T ZFERZT—FA=+H
IFFEEREARRIRAEEES
R R

(@) ﬁﬁ§$ﬁﬁi:f::$&:
T—FEXRAZ=ZTHIEFEE W
HYEEH%H&EX%ETﬂ%%LtHE%%%%%U°

d BEZZEZ_FRZZTEZ—FRX
A=+HLFE BERESS
XEBAESEH 2EE AR KE
FRESEHECERBELRE
FBUERKRERZEEEK

THEE AR REEERE CH
@ XS5k °

) MNEXRIFANTMAEE BESF
BRARBRMEAHARRFE
BMEBERERRAREZNH
PR ERIEEEA R R
5 REREHN(ZFTZ—F:
&) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE-_ZT-_—FA=THILFE

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 11. E.“%Erﬁﬁki&ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁf

AND RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group include
one (2021: three) executive directors of the Company,
details of whose remuneration are included above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2021: two)
individuals for the year ended 30 June 2022 were as

AEBRERSHFALH  Eh—%F
(ZEZ—F: ZR)RARANTE
ZOREFZIMEFBEN L - T
=R(ZTE—F WMB)ALIREE
—E__FXNA=ZTHLEFEZMS

follows: RN
2021
—E——4E
HK$°000
FATT
Wages and salaries TERY® 2,439 1,178
Contributions to retirement RIREFEF IR
benefit schemes 32 34
2,471 1,212
Their emoluments fell within the following bands: HZEALTZEENTLAT4AER -

Number of individuals

AB
2022
-
HK$0-HK$500,000 07 7T % 500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001 7 7T 2 1,000,000 & 7T 3 1

No share options were granted to non-director, highest
paid individuals in respect of their services to the Group
for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021.

There were no arrangement under which the above
non-director, highest paid individuals waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for the years ended 30 June
2022 and 2021. No compensation for loss of office has
been paid by the Group for any individual for the year
ended 30 June 2022 and 2021.

BE_ T - -_F-—9<H
—t+HEFERMEEEERa T AL
P A E B IR 2 RIS B A BE AR
T o

HE_ZT-_—_F#Rkk-_F=-—FXA
“t+BHIFEE LlFEEZSHA
THERBENLHEREXAETRL
FAMe BHE-_ET-_—_FE_-F
T—EXAZTHIEFE  AEEW
mEE R AT BERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

12.

13.

FINANCE COSTS

12. MBRREF

2021
T —F
HK$'000
FBT

Continuing operations BEREER
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 662 1,030
Interest on other loans HuERF S 1,080 1,080
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEFE 31 94
1,773 2,204

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Hong Kong profits tax was provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit arising in Hong Kong
for both years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021. No
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for
the current and prior periods as the Group has no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

The subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to
enterprise income tax (“EIT") at tax rates of 25% for both
years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021. No provision for
the PRC EIT has been made for the current and prior
periods as the Group has no assessable profits arising
in the PRC.

The Group is also subject to the PRC withholding tax at
the rate of 10% (2021: Nil) in respect of dividend income
derived from the PRC incorporated companies.

Under the relevant Japan tax regulations, the profits of
the business under tokumei kumiai arrangement which
is distributed to a tokumei kumiai investor after
deducting any accumulated losses in prior years is only
subject to 20.42% withholding income tax in Japan. The
withholding tax is final Japanese tax on such distributed
tokumei kumiai profits and such profits are not subject
to any other Japanese taxes. There is no withholding tax
paid or payable for the both years ended 30 June 2022
and 2021 as there is no profit distribution.

TECCFFR o BERFHFEEERAT

13. FiI"fRNER

BE_ZE-_—_FKFK-_F=-—%H
“tRLEMEFE REBELZM
AT ERR B i AR T K 16.5% 1B BB F
BREE AR AEERB AT RBE
HEYEEEBSELREZREREHN &
WERBBFEFRIELBE -

BE-_ZE-_—_FFK-_F=-—%H
el = WK Sy N Sl i 2 v )
BAA BRI R 25% SN 2SR
([TZEMER]) - ARASERE A
BT EESEA PR EEERT S
o W E P RS EESREL &
fi o

REBE TRAL T B AL B A A
FEESE 2 IR B AIZ10%(— T = —4F ¢
) MRS BRI -

BIEHBAARBEEN  ERBHEL
PEIE T 25 20m M (RHURAE FEE
MR BEEDRE—RERBHEE
BE )N BARRAR20.42% 2 FBIIFT
"R -BHMRABBEDIKE BB
A 2 R BATRIE - MA@ RN E
ERHMT A EMB ATIE - AR
WENDE WBEE_T-__Fk=
T —FXNAZTHIMEFELE
BT ER TR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE-_ZT-_—FA=THILFE

13. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 13. AR RESR ()
The subsidiary established in Japan is subject to HE T _ZFEKZZTZ—"FX<A
prefectural and municipal inhabitant taxes on a per =tHRLEFEE RBERKIZIZHER
capita basis in accordance with the relevant Japan tax RIZERBEHABE B AT B ROIRALE
regulations for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021. MR TARE R -
2022 2021
—E-= —T-—F
Continuing  Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operations operations operations
HE B i BRI
REER REEK BEER BEES
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HKS' 000
TER TER TAL TAT
Current tax for the year FEREETE
—The PRC — 190 - - -
— Japan —BAR 10 - 10 -
Deferred tax ERHIE (2,667) - (5,851) -
Total income tax credit FrEREs R (2,467) - (5,841) -
Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the (I0ss)/ FAMGHALZE 2 HKEROME
profit before income tax per the consolidated statement AT (B1R)/ BFEERAT -

of comprehensive income as follows:

2022
—E-C
Continuing  Discontinued Continuing  Discontinued
operations operations operations operations
BiE BALE HE B
BEXR REEK BEEB BEEK
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THET THET TET TAT
(Loss)/profit before income tax ~ BSRAT (B1B) /7 (138,305) - (47,617) 4,879
Tax on (loss)/profit before RERRMEET KR AR
income tax, calculated at B R BTG
the rates applicable to the tax (518)/EAIFE
jurisdictions concerned (25,958) - (8,904) 1,112
Tax effect of expenses not TBREZMFER 2
deductible for tax purposes 23,622 - 3,331 1,060
Tax effect of income not taxable  B/ERFIMA BB £
for tax purposes (2,686) - (3,544) (2172
Tax effect of taxlosses not recognised  RIERHIBERHN AT E 2,555 - 3,276 -
Total income tax credit FiEHE R AE (2,467) = (5,841) -
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e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

14. DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the years ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil).

15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share is based on the (loss)/profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share
based on the following data:

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to

14.

15.

Bz 2

EZSTESMEBEE_T - _FKXA
=tRLEFERNEAMRE(ZT=—
FE) -

BE(ER) 27
SREA RIS (BR),/ B HERE

NEEBAREFA(ER), S8Rk
FRDBHTEBBINEFOEGE -

BREXN(ER) BFNTRTIS8E

HE

HK$'000
TR

Rt EBRERNEE

owners of the Company for the (BR),/ B ZAAT

purpose of calculating basic and B ANELRFA

diluted (loss)/earnings per share: (B518), %A

Continuing operations RECEER (135,838) @1,776)

Discontinued operations EAR PR SRS = 6,411
Total loss from continuing operations &KL ZEF LB &I

and discontinued operations KR RETE  HEBRE (135,838) (35,365)

Number of shares
BHEE

2022
o

[ e p—

‘000

Weighted average number of ordinary

shares for the purpose of calculating (E8),/&BF 2
basic and diluted (loss)/earnings T AR N AE 19 8

per share

TR

RIEF EERER L #E

15,695,532 15,695,532

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share amount for the year of
2021 were not presented because the impact of
exercise of the share option and convertible preference
shares was anti-dilutive. Diluted loss per share amount
for the year of 2022 were not presented because the
convertible preference shares was anti-dilutive.

Potential ordinary shares are dilutive when and only
when their conversion into ordinary shares would
increase 10ss per share attributable to owners of the
Company from continuing operations.

— - —

=

RRTERERE R RRELERAR
RESHESRE BMAEE2I —FT— —F
Bz Ek#g(BR) BASE- A
KA B LR AR REERE - &)
VEZN T —FEZ2EREEEH
HER -

BESERENESRSEBRSGIE
MARBEE NBIERBEREEBZ
BRUEBER - T EREEIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERRME

For the year ended 30June 2022 HEZT-_—FA=+HIEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. MR - BER&E

Equipment,
Right-of-use Freehold Leasehold furniture  Plant and Motor
assets Buildings improvement and fixtures  machinery vehicles Total
RE HE FF GAR
g [ =2 NEEE EEXE RE At
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TAL TAL TEL BT TAL T TAL AL
COST: RA:
At 1July 2020 RZE-F5+A-H 6,609 202,049 295,669 8,789 4,038 2620 1,918 521,292
Additions RE - - - = 876 454 3,554 4,884
Lease modification HEEH (814) - - - - - - (814)
Written off sk - - © - 3 (236) - (259)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAA = = 3 (2429 (1,324) (177) - (3930)
Exchange realignment B BE = (6,069) (9,555) - @) (39) - (15,686)
At30June 2021and 1July 2021 HZE=-xA=TER
i = 5795 195,980 286,114 6,360 3,544 2622 5072 505,487
Additions AE 653 - - 252 484 - - 1,389
Written off ik (5,795) - - (4,051 (1,102 - - (10,948)
Disposal HESE - - - - - - (3,554) (3,554)
Bxchange realignment B R - (34,979) (50513) (243) (449 (474) (147) (86,805)
At30 June 2022 RZE--FxA=1H 653 161,001 235,601 2318 2477 2,148 1371 405,569
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z:HTER
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES: e :
At 1uly 2020 RZZ-EFtF-A 4387 29130 61506 8681 3804 2620 1188 111,406
Provided for the year FREE 1,107 - 5993 9% 254 4 793 8,246
Written off ik - - - - 2 - - 2)
Impairment oss recognised ERARESE 30 5497 7,056 3 788 178 1,635 15,628
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - (2429 (1,324) (177) - (3930)
Bxchange realignment ERAE - (%64) (2,080) - () 8] - (3052
At30Jung 2021 and Uy 2021 RZE--ERA=THR
“T--%+f-A 5795 33,663 72,675 6,360 3,544 2622 3616 128,275
Provided for the year FREE Kl - 4581 1 % - 141 51%
Written off ik (5,795) - - (4,051) (1,102) - - (10,943)
Impairment oss recognised BREIRESR 326 3,088 3983 241 388 - 47 8,073
Disposal HESH - - - - - - (2,286) (2,280)
Bxchange realignment AT - (6,094) (14,295) (283) (449) (478) (147) (21,702
At30 June 2022 KZZZZFRR=1H 653 30,657 66,944 2318 2477 2,148 1371 106,968
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: REFE:
At30 June 2022 RZE--FxA=1H - 130,344 168,657 - - - - 299,001
At30 June 2021 RZEZ-F~A=1A - 162,317 213439 - - - 1,456 377,212
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e BERERME

For the year ended 30June 2022 #HEZZTZZ—FXA=+HIEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BRER W (2)

(Continued)

Right-of-use assets

As at 1 July 2020
Lease modification

EHEEE

Land and
buildings
leased for
own use
BAW

HELH
kEF
HK$'000
TATT

R-ZE_FFLA—H 2,222
HEEN

(814)

Depreciation e (1,107)
Impairment loss recognised EHERBEEE (301)
As at 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZEZ—FA=THK

T —%t+H—H -
Lease modification HEBN 653
Depreciation e (327)
Impairment loss recognised EERBEEIE (32¢6)
As at 30 June 2022 R-ZE-—FXA=+H -

The freehold land is situated in Japan.

Property, plant and equipment with the brought forward
net carrying amount HK$306,642,000 (2021:
HK$389,361,000) (before the current year impairment
loss) is attributable to the cash-generating unit of hotel
hospitality (“Hotel Hospitality Business CGU") with which
the goodwill amount is recognised. As at 30 June 2022,
the Directors reviewed the recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment in Hotel Hospitality
Business CGU as the business incurred losses. Hotel
Hospitality Business CGU continuously faced the low
occupancy rate as the result of the continuance effect
of COVID-19. This had adverse impact on the estimation
of the recoverable amount. As the recoverable amount
of the Hotel Hospitality CGU is lower than its carrying
amount, the directors of the Company considered that
an impairment loss of approximately HK$7,641,000
(2021: HK$13,605,000) has been recognised for the year
ended 30 June 2022.

— e —

=

KA AR B

AR E R B 5 306,642,000 T (=&
— —4F : 389,361,000/ 7T) (1 FE A
BERIEN) 2% BELRERE
WBEERFZRESEAEM(LEER
FEERLEABN]) EELHE
BERR - R-_E-_—FxA=+H"
HRBERTERELEER RES
EEMBEERTFESReEELENY
ME BMEMRETREDELE - AR
FRBRRECHEYE  BEXREF
¥R eELBENBEmMREAEER
HO KRB CBETEETFFE - &
NBERFEBBESEEEM Z AT
O&EBERNEERE ARAEER
AERBE-_TE-_—®#XA=+H1
FERERREREEL7,641,0008 T (=
T~ —4F : 13,605,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

16.

196

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of the Hotel Hospitality
Business CGU is determined by the Directors of the
Company with reference to a valuation report issued by
an independent professional valuer. The recoverable
amount of the Hotel Hospitality Business CGU has been
determined from fair value less cost of disposal, in
which fair value is primarily making reference to the
recent sales of similar transactions in the market and
cost of disposal is estimated at 3.5% (2021: 3.5%) of
assessed fair value. It is Level 3 non-recurring fair value
measurement. The key significant unobservable input to
determine is the discount on age, location and
condition. The higher discount on these factors would
result in the lower in the fair value measurement of the
fair value less cost of disposal, and vice versa.

As at 30 June 2022, the Directors reviewed the
recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment
in the business segment of money lending business as
the business incurred losses. Lesser interest income
has been recognised for the year since there was no
new loan for the year. As such, money lending business
incurred losses for the year. As a result of such review,
an impairment loss of HK$432,000 (2021: HK$2,023,000)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2022.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment in the business segment of money lending
business is based on the fair value less cost of disposal.
It is Level 3 non-recurring fair value measurement. The
key significant unobservable input to determine is the
discount on age and condition. The higher discount on
these factors would result in the lower in the fair value
measurement of the fair value less cost of disposal, and
vice versa.

16. MR - BER&ME (2)

BIEREFEBRBEEEEMN 2 AJURD
SHEIHAARTESEL2EB/IUEE
HEMAMBRGEERSMETE - B/E
REEBBRSELBEMNZAI KROS5
BAFERLEXRAMET  AFE
TELEMB2ABEURSHEE
& A AR T IR G E A F B 3.5%
(ZE=—F :35%) HE - LRERE
FEIFIEEEE AT EANE - BEFH
NEBEATAERGASE LTS -
B KRR BRIRE - X E R EMEL
WEBA  AFERESEXANHAF
EFEHE  RZIMR e

RZEZZFXA=1+H AR EE
ENBBEE NESENZESS
BrmE BERREZTREEE -
HRAFETEFNEER  KERE
BERABWMAR D - Al EEEK
RERBEHE - EREAEEN &
NAEREBE-_ZE-_—_FA=1H
HEEZHEAZERERFPHEREE
& 184320000 jo( — & = — F:
2,023,000 7T) °

EEXBIRZME BEAREZ
A E S R TR QP ER G E KT
H o WARIBEBFE IR TR FEF
E-BEMANIEEANABER
ABBEBFHMMNNERE - %F
ARSIV EBA - X FER L EX
AR FEAEBE - R2TA -

DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

17. REME

2021

T —F

HK$'000

FHET

At beginning of the year FH) 19,600 19,400
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation of WEYHE 2 B

investment properties (&%), B (600) 200

At end of the year FK 19,000 19,600

The fair value of the Company’s investment properties
at 30 June 2022 and 2021 has been assessed by an
independent professional valuer. Deficit on revaluation
of HK$600,000 (2021: net surplus of HK$200,000) has
been recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2022.

As at 30 June 2022, investment properties in Hong Kong
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$19,000,000
(2021: HK$19,600,000) have been pledged to secure
borrowing facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3
recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation of
the opening and closing fair value balance is provided
below.

RZEZ—FR_ZFE-_—F A=+
B ARG EWEZAFETIERSE
T EEMBEMETHMG ARAER
e -_—H#<A=THILFEZ
RETHARZRPERENEA
600,000 TL(ZE = —F : BHRFE
200,000 7T) °

R-ZEBE-_—FXA=1+H FEHEE
419,000,000 o( = & = — F:
19,600,000 7L) 2 B BIREMEDE
R UERASEER 2 EERE
(M$7E27) »

DPFEER
BEMENTEBEILLEHAFE
e FPRERATELBRYER
AT o

2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHT
Opening balance FHER
(level 3 recurring fair value) (B3P EMATE) 19,600 19,400
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation of WEME S
investment properties (E54L) Bt (600) 200
Closing balance FIRERR
(level 3 recurring fair value) (BIMEEMRTE) 19,000 19,600
Change in unrealised (losses)/gains iR ELS A=1H
for the period included in profit or FriF&EETAIBERZZ
loss for assets held at 30 June KEH (BE) M= (600) 200
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

17.

198

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Company’s policy is
to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

For the fair value measurement for investment
properties in Hong Kong under direct comparison
method, it is assumed that each of the properties is
capable of being sold in its existing state with the
benefit of vacant possession and by making reference
to comparable sales evidence as available in the
relevant markets.

One of the key inputs used under direct comparison
method in valuing the investment properties was the
price per square feet and taking into account of location
and other individual factors. The price per square feet
used is HK$8,399 (2021: HK$8,665). An increase in the
price per square feet would result in an increase in the
fair value measurement of the investment properties,
and vice versa.

The fair value measurement is based on the above
properties’ highest and best use, which does not differ
from their actual use.

17.

B’EME2)

P EEHRE)

REBE_ZE-_—_FK-_F-_—F,XH
STHLEFEE  F1REF2H 2B
MERIAE - MEIBEEBAZINNE
FIREL - KRB ZBRANRERIE
BHIRZREARERS A TFESER
2B ERIEMR -

RRBERLBAFERTEREDE
RFEME  BRBERTEDETIR
HARXEHE  YE2EAMTH
AR Z A B LB ERE

AR A MR - R E I LA
RzEEWABEZ— AT FHRE
% ADHREEREMESEE -
BTG 5 R (B 583998 7T (— 2
— 4 1 8665/87T)  SFHREA L
R A YRR T @RS
RZIMA °

RFEFEDRELAMEZ &R R

REMR ZEAGEEERART
AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

18. GOODWILL 18. &
HK$'000
FHET
COST: RN :
At 1 July 2020 R-ZE-_EF+H—H 109,696
Disposal of subsidiaries B A A (59,974)
Exchange realignment PE H SR 5,722
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZEZ—FA=1+HK
—E-—F+H—H 55,444
Exchange realignment bE R (10,037)
At 30 June 2022 RZE-—FA=+H 45,407
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES: KETRERE :
At 1 July 2020 R_ZE_ZEF+H—H 109,696
Disposal of subsidiaries S B AR (59,974)
Exchange realignment bE 5 R 5,722
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZE-Z—FA=1THK
—E-—F+H—H 55,444
Exchange realignment bE H B (10,037)
At 30 June 2022 R-ZE-__FXA=+H 45,407
NET CARRYING AMOUNT.: BREFE
At 30 June 2022 R-ZE-__FNA=+H -
At 30 June 2021 RZE-—FA=+H -
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is AREITRERG - BEDEZELTA
allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU") identified BrIReEEBA([REEESM]) -
as follows:
HK$'000
FET
Year ended 30 June 2022 BE-Z__FXA=1tHLEE
Hotel hospitality business B JE R TS 45,407

HK$'000

FH&T
Year ended 30 June 2021 BE-E-_—EXA=1HILEE
Hotel hospitality business B JE R F T 55,444
The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of hotel HMEELABTFERELEERFEE
hospitality and was fully impaired in the previous years. & e BERE -

CTCCFFR e BRFEFREEERAT 199



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERRME

For the year ended 30June 2022 HEZT-_—FA=+HIEFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. PR EATRIZHEE
2021
—E-—4F
HK$'000
FET
At beginning of the year REY] 3,487 12,989
Share of loss for the year DIEFAEE (252) (5,619)
Impairment loss recognised FAERZREERE
for the year - (3,883)
At end of the year REFER 3,235 3,487
Details of the Group's associates are as follows: AEEZBENRFEOT
Particulars of Place of Percentage of
Name of company issued capital  incorporation interest held Principal activities
NGRS ERITRAHE SMRIHI FisRET Dt TEEK
2022 2021
—E-C —TE—F
Ming Fong Group HK$10,000 Hong Kong 31.2% 31.2% Dormant
Limited ("Ming Fong")
REEEIERARAR 10,0007 7T B U R4S
(repe )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. RBVEQATRICHER (7)

The summarised financial information of the Ming Fong AERHEMBAR(AEEE]) M
and its subsidiaries (“Ming Fong Group”) extracted from V%{ﬁﬁ%gﬁﬂ T hESEARE =
its management accounts for the years ended 30 June F__FR-_F-_—FA=t+AL

FENEERAR

2022 and 2021 is as follows:

HK$'000
FHET
Ming Fong Group BHeEEE
As at 30 June RAB=+H
Current assets MBEE 11,378 11,235
Current liabilities mENaE (1,010) (60)
Net Assets EEFE 10,368 11,175
Reconciliation to the Group’s AEERBEEEN
interest in Ming Fong Group: FERNEER:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A5 B #) % & #& L 1 31.2% 31.2%
Group's share of net assets of AEBE DR E ARIEE
the associate FE 3,235 3,487
Goodwill on acquisition g0k - 3,883
Less: impairment loss recognised B FADERBEESRE
for the year - (3,883)
Carrying amount of the investment &M REE 3,235 3,487
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

19. RBEQTFIZEE (&)

202

2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHET

Revenue W &5 - 2,029
Loss for the year FHEHE (807) (18,011)
Other comprehensive income Hib 2wl A - -
Total comprehensive income ZHIRALEE (807) (18,011)
Dividend received from the associate B UB# % A FIR% 2 - -
Reconciliation to the Group’s AEBSLHEEEEE

share of result in Ming Fong FIE R -

Group:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 2N £ & &9 % 5 7 th 71 31.2% 31.2%
Group's share of loss of associates 7N @G VB & A R E 18 (252) (5,619)
Impairment loss on interests B A R 2 R EE R

in associates = (3,883)

As at 30 June 2021, given that the recent development
and operating result of Ming Fong Group, the Directors
of the Company reviewed the recoverable amount of
interests in associates, in which the goodwill amount
was recognised at the date of acquisition. The
recoverable amount of interests in associates is based
on the fair value less cost of disposal. As a result of
such review, an impairment loss of HK$3,883,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2021.

The fair value less cost of disposal of interests in
associates is determined by the adjusted net assets
value under cost model and is Level 3 non-recurring fair
value measurement.

The key significant unobservable input to determine is
the discount on age and condition of receivables. The
higher discount on these factors would result in the
lower in the fair value measurement of the fair value
less cost of disposal of interests in associates, and vice
versa.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, no
further impairment would be recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 30 June 2022.

R-E-—FNA=+H " ERHE
EEZEHBERERREEEE  AQF
EEEMNBENR ZER 2 AT E
TR ETPHESHEORWE B R
R RBERF 2= AT RE & HE
EE@i@MﬁEW$ e mRE
BEM AR EREE—_ZT-—F
ANAZTHEFEZREEZERER
R RE R R (B 718 3,883,000 JT ©

REERR 2 2 AP ER L &K
ATERAEA T ZRHBREEFE
B YBEMNOFHEEERTFEE -

BEEMANIEEANAEREAR
B RRUCRTAMRE SV RREERE -
ZERZNREBAR - REEE QA
ZiEm 2 N EREERANRFE
AHEBE - RZIA -

o

ARAREERR TERBE_Z
::E/\H_—I-EILEEF*Z#?E\%E
W gk P HERE — PRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

20. INVENTORIES 20. &8
2022 2021
—=E—= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Consumables SHFESh 174 199
Merchandise 7 3,998 50,053
4,172 50,252
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 21. B BIRIE - HthEU &
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND H-wmaRmAf®RE
PREPAYMENTS
2022 2021
—=-= — B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EIIRIA 7,623 1,748
Less: Provision for impairment losses & : & &5 i85 & (126) (1,296)
Trade receivables, net (note a) B 5 el BRE %58 (st a) 7.497 452
Other receivables (note b) H b E (s b) 6,297 74,752
Other deposits and prepayments Bt e MIBIFOR 827 5419
14,621 80,623
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE-_ZT-_—FA=THILFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 21. 8
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND g -
PREPAYMENTS (continuead)

Notes: M‘TEE .
(a) The Group allows credit period of 0 to 365 days (2021: 0 to 90 (a)

days) to its trade receivables.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision for
impairment losses, based on invoice date, is as follows:

FE 4 B

« H il FE M &
BReREMARER

(%)

AEERTEESRUIEEFSEEHEN
FO0E35H(ZZTE-—F :0%90H) °

REZAHCHRRESREFER 2ES
FEWERTARRIR DATAN T

Within 30 days 30K 845 41
31-60 days 3ME60H 79 20
Over 90 days 90BN E 6,573 21

7,497 452

As at 30 June 2022, trade receivables of HK$6,559,000 (2021: Nil)

has been secured by the collateral.

The movements in the expected credit loss for trade receivables
for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

KRB A=10 ZE5EKEE
6,559,000/ 7T (T = —4 : ) UKW R
VEFE(R -

BE_T-_—_FR-_ZT-—%xxA=+H
IFFEESRKEBEZBHEERES
mE

At 1July ntA—A 1,296 2,058
Reversal of impairment loss for the year — 4F /A5 & /&5 18 # 8] (1,173) (374)
Disposal of subsidiaries &M E AR = (578)
Exchange realignment b 5 A 3 190
As at 30 June HANA=+H 126 1,296
(b)  Other receivables mainly represented redemption of investment b)) HMEERBETZEAR_-_Z-_—%7A

fund of HK$61,242,000 as at 30 June 2021, which was fully

settled subsequent to 30 June 2021.

The movements in the expected credit loss for the other
receivables for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:

Z+HBEREES61,242,0008 7T %
ERHEER T —FNA=ZTHEEH
B o

HE-_T-—_FR-T=-—FA=+H
IHFEEHEMERRENEREEEEE
N

At 1 July wtA—H 6,847 4,912
(Reversal of impairment 10ss)/ FRCRERERD),

impairment loss for the year REE 1B (6,624) 1,928
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBE AR - )
Exchange realignment [ 5 F % (70) 16
As at 30 June WANA=1+H 153 6,847
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e BERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

22. LOANS RECEIVABLE

22. BERE®

2021

T —F

HK$'000

FHET

Gross loan and interest receivables  FEMWE R & H| S 42 FE 214,338 241,638
Less: impairment losses allowances & : BEEEREE (204,033) (175,747)

10,305 65,891

Less: Non-current portion B IEREE D - (554)
Current portion mENE S 10,305 65,337
As at 30 June 2022, the loans receivable with gross R-ZTBE-—F=XA=+8 '  ERKAHL

principal amount of HK$162,677,000 (2021:
HK$200,562,000) in aggregate and related gross interest
receivables of HK$51,661,000 (2021: HK$41,076,000)
were due from nine (2021: ten) independent third
parties. These loans are interest-bearing at rates
ranging from 5.5% to 20% (2021: 5.5% to 20%) per
annum. Except for the balances of HK$554,000 as at 30
June 2021, all the loan receivables were repayable
within twelve months from the end of the reporting
period and therefore were classified as current assets.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group held collateral over loans
receivable with gross principal amount of
HK$57,171,000 (2021: HK$85,155,000).

Impairment loss of HK$12,933,000 (2021: Reversal of
impairment loss of HK$8,824,000) has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 30 June 2022.

— - —

=

Z(ZEZ—F: TR)BIUFE=ZFR
S A 162,677,000 (T =—
4 : 200,562,000 7T ) 2 FEUR & 7k K 48
8 U 1) B 48 58 51,661,000/ L ( =&
—— % 41,076,000 7T ) c ZEE K
RERRSSEENE(ZT-—F :55
EZE20E)EE -BRZZEZ_—FH
=+ B a4 554,000 7T - FrB &
H&z%?ki,ﬁaﬁ&iﬁﬁﬂi&+_1lﬂWg
AEDFEAREEE ©

RZE-Z—FA=+8 ' xEEH
R4 4858 /57,171,000 T (ZF = —
& 1 85,1550008 T) 2 EKERIFE
ARG o

SEE18 12,933,000/ (T = —4 :
B ET 18 [E 8,824,000/ 7T ) CREE
—E-—FRNA=ZTHIEFENEGES
EEWEKPIER
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

22. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The movements in the impairment losses allowances
for loans receivable for the years ended 30 June 2022

and 2021 are as follows:

22, EWERR(#)

BHE_Z-_—_Fh_F-—F,H
—t+HIEFE BREZFRZREEIE
BEEEHWT -

2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 July w+A—H 175,747 168,401
Provision/(reversal) of impairment FNRERIBREE
loss for the year (B[) 12,933 (8,824)
Adjustment on interest receivables  FABRMEBEBEREL
arising from the impaired loans JEUF B 15,353 16,170
At 30 June RNA=1H 204,033 175,747

Reconciliation of gross carrying amount for loan
receivables for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021

are as follows:

BHE_Z-_—_Fh=_F-—F,~H
—t+RLFERUEFREmMAE Y
BRNT -

Stage1 Stage2  Stage 3 Total

EIRE H2BBE FEIEER #st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT TET FTERT FTERT

Balance at 1July 2020 R-ZB-_TFELA—-BziH - 18,517 203,721 222,238

Financing originated RERE - 1,027 20,086 21,113

Repayment BN = (1,344) (369)  (1,713)
Balance at 30 June 2021 and RZEZ—F- A=+tHK

1 July 2021 TS A-HAzER = 18,200 223,438 241,638

Financing originated RERE - 973 16,852 17,825

Repayment BN = (1,344)  (43,781)  (45,125)

Transfer B - (17,045) 17,045 -

Balance at 30 June 2022 RZE-_—FA=71H
R = 784 213,554 214,338
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e BERERME

For the year ended 30June 2022 #HEZZTZZ—FXA=+HIEFE

22. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. BUgER (@)
Movements in the expected credit loss in respect of Bz -_—_Fr=_F=-—9FXA
loan receivables for the years ended 30 June 2022 and =+ HILEE  E@EVE DL TEH
2021 are as follows: EEBEBEHNT :
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1EE  Fo2BR FIRER fast
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
FTAT FAT FAET TET
Balance at 1July 2020 RZZZFLA—HzH#H - 2,275 166,126 168,401
Expected credit loss HEHEEER - 526 (9,350) (8,824)
Adjustment on interest TR YA B
receivables - - 16,170 16,170

Balance at 30 June 2021 and RZEBE-—FA=+AK

1 July 2021 —To—F+A-BrEH - 2801 172946 175747
Expected credit loss EHEEER - 4,721 8,212 12,933
Adjustment on interest FEEWF S

receivables - - 15,353 15,353
Transfer L - (7,439) 7,439 -
Balance at 30 June 2022 _gz:i/\ﬂ +H

= - 83 203,950 204,033
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

208

23. BAFEHAARRZEMEE

2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHET
Compensation from profit guarantee & KR B & = 7,500
Unlisted private fund (note (a)) IE ETRAFES (B (@@) 75,791 59,805
Listed securities in Hong Kong at BEHENECEELTES
market value (note (b)) GEIO) 205,260 -
281,051 67,305
Less: Non-current portion B IERBE D = (59,805)
Current portion mENE S 281,051 7,500
Notes: M5 -
(a) For the year ended 30 June 2022, the fair value gain of unlisted (a) HE-_Z-—_FXA=tHILFE L

private fund was HK$15,986,000 (2021: HK$1,036,000) which has
been dealt with in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2022.

The fair value of the unlisted private fund is Level 2 recurring fair
value measurement.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the fair value loss of listed
securities was HK$86,179,000 (2021: Nil) which has been dealt
with in the consolidated financial statements of comprehensive
income for the year ended 30 June 2022.

The fair value of the listed securities is Level 1 recurring fair
value measurement.
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e MBRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND 24. SRITHEER K Bl & Ll B 7? & it

DEPOSITS IN A FINANCIAL
INSTITUTION

Bank balances and cash

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods ranging from one day to three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy financial institutions with
no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of
the bank deposits and bank balances and cash
approximate to their fair values.

Time deposits comprised of short-term bank deposits of
HK$25,000,000 (2021: Nil) with an original maturity of
three months or less held by the Group. The amounts
carried interest 1.8% (2021: Nil) per annum.

Bank balances as at 30 June 2022 of HK$7,133,000
(2021: HK$3,133,000) are denominated in RMB, which
are placed with banks in the PRC.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies.
Under Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Deposits in a financial institution

As at 30 June 2022, HK$$20,599,000 (2021:
HK$318,384,000) was placed in a creditworthy licensed
financial institution with no recent history of default. The
short term time deposits earn interest at the respective
short term time deposits rates.

The carrying amounts of the deposits in a financial
institution are denominated in HK$ which are
approximate to their fair values.

— - —

=

MZFE™

RITEBRREE
RITBERBEARTERNEZF 8
M REREUA S o 52 B BT R 2 73K
HNF-—HE=AAF S BI¥LE
B2 BN FRME - WK E R H
EHTF M R ERERA B o SRITHERT
MR EZERIFARIOIVEERCHE L
T RS o IRITTF A RIRITRER K
RezREEEERQFEES -

THEREEASEMEERIEA
A=A THREBRITER
25,000,000 8L (ZT=—F : #&) ° Z
LLMIRFNRI8B(— T - —F : )
ETE

RIZBEZZFRNA=ZTHNRITHER
7,133,000 7T (ZF = —% : 3,133,000
BT DAARYFE - X FRFEZ
FKIRTT o

AREATERABREMER - 1R
R B REESMNE B BUER NLAEE - &
ENRMEEEMRE  AKEELEES
ERBETINERT 2 RITHARE
RIBBEMER -

RERMEBZER
RZEBE-—FXA=1+H  AAQAFMA
EERITAMBWEELN LS 2 IFE
% B H O 17 720,599,000 T ( — &
——1%F 1 318,384,000 T) - B HA
TE B 77 R0 I% A8 B 52 B E HA T SRR 3K B
RIS o

REMEEZFREREEAET
FHE - BERPERES -
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e MR

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE-_ZT-_—FA=THILFE

25. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES 25. &
AND ACCRUALS -]

I BT 3t £ SR
BB

2021
—E-—4F
HK$'000
FHT
Trade payables (note (a)) Z 5 ERIE (M5 @) 1,727 2,460
Other payables and accruals HE T RIBE R ERTE R
(note (b)) (M3E (b)) 4,505 5,449
6,232 7,909
Notes: BSE -
(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, is (@) MR EQHESENEEERSITH
as follows: T
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within 30 days 30HA 1,604 2,349
31-60 days 31E60H 61 75
61-90 days 61290H 31 14
Over 90 days 90H A E 31 22
1,727 2,460
(b)  As at 30 June 2022, other payables and accruals consists of b RZTEZZFXA=1+A HaEMNKE

accrued audit fee of HK$1,750,000 (2021: HK$1,900,000).
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 #&HE—Z_-_—F A=+THIEFE

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. S¥AR

The contract liabilities mainly represented the advance ’]E1 FERBUBREFPHMENR
consideration received from customers. The Group will o REEFBNE MR TR ARK
recognise the expected revenue in the future when or iﬁﬁ;ﬁuﬁlﬁn c BERWABERLE KR
as the goods is delivered. Except for the balance of —E - _HFNA=1+HZ 82,343,000
HK$2,343,000 (equivalent to RMB2,000,000) as at 30 BT (FEE AR 2,000,0007T) FBHA
June 2022, which is expected to occur beyond to the RARK12EA Z%BIEEI FRAKRT
next 12 months by reference to the latest track record, FERRTEEIRN KRR 12 AR A -

all remaining balances are expected to occur within the
next 12 months.

Movement of contract liabilities EHEBNEH
2021
T —4F
HK$'000
FHT
Balance as at 1 July B+ A —HEES 2,658 2,275
Decrease in contract liabilities as AFEAERRZSEL
a result of recognising revenue BERD
during the year (49) (34)
Increase in contract liabilities as HTEWFRIBES A LB EIE N
a result of receipt in advance 133 138
Exchange realignment ME 5, B (91) 279
Balance as at 30 June RANA=1THBm4E% 2,651 2,658

SToCFTH « REFRREEARAR 211



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE-_ZT-_—FA=THILFE

27. BORROWINGS

27. &8

212

2021

—E——%

HK$'000

FHET

Bank loans, secured ABEFRITER 42,550 116,549
Other loan, secured BEBEMER 12,000 12,000
54,550 128,549

Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment
on demand clause, borrowings are repayable as follows:

Within one year or on demand

—E AR B

RIEERGHAEAERBHAY
B RERMREREEGRZEE
fEEARIA T HEERE

2022 2021
—=-= —E-—4F

HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
TBT

54,550 128,549

Bank loans were secured by (i) land and building with
the carrying amount of HK$299,001,000 (2021:
HK$375,756,000) (note 16); (ii) the bank balances of
HK$690,000 (2021: HK$1,126,000); and (iii) the entire
equity interest of certain subsidiary as at 30 June 2022
and 2021.

The abovementioned bank loans are charged at floating
rates of 0.75% per annum (2021: 0.75% per annum).

Other loan is secured by a legal charge over investment
properties with the carrying amount of HK$19,000,000
(2021: HK$19,600,000) and is charged at 9% (2021: 9%)
per annum.

#8177 E FA () BR E {8 A& 299,001,000 7%
7T (=ZF = —4F : 375,756,000 70 ) 2
+ 3 A8 F (Y 5E16) 5 (i) IR 17 4 8
690,000 7T ( — & — — 4F : 1,126,000
BT RihETHBRARN ==
FEN_TE-—FXRXAZ+HEIRE
YEHR IR o

FRRITERDEFBFMNE0TSE
(ZF =% FRRO75E)FE -

H b B 5% A B TH 8 & 19,000,000 7T
(ZZ = —% : 19,600,000 L) IR &E
MEETEWCIEER - WIRFFERIE
(ZF=—F : FRIRIF)FE -
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For the year ended 30June 2022 #HEZZTZZ—FXA=+HIEFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. B &R
The amount included in the consolidated statement of REMBRAKRMEEREERER
financial position in respect of the carrying amounts of HEIFRNESHHOSTENT ¢
lease liabilities and the movements during the year is as
follows:
Land and
buildings
T RIEF
HK$'000
FAT
As at 1 July 2020 RZE-_ZEFt+H—H 4,126
Interest expenses MERX 94
Lease payments MER® (1,768)
Lease modification GEN=LED (836)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR (1,298)
As at 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZEZ—FA=THK
2%t H—H 318
Additions NE 653
Interest expenses BRI 31
Lease payments MERH (553)
Lease modification MEEH (101)
As at 30 June 2022 R-ZE-—FXA=+H 348
Future lease payments are due as follows: AREENZOZNRERWAT :
2021
—5 = —4E
HK$'000
FAT
Minimum lease payment due AT R B B &K
MERRK
— Within one year — —FK 360 322
Less: future interest expenses B ARRAEFX (12) @)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 348 318
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For the year ended 30June 2022 HEZT-_—FA=+HIEFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 28. lHE&R»®)
The present value of future lease payments are RIRFEFZHIBEBHDHT -
analysed as:

2022 2021
—g-—f | —=—&

—— =

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT THET

Current liabilities mEBAE 348 318

2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THETT

Short term leases expenses MHRERY 303 251

Aggregate undiscounted commitments 2 #iFH & #9 K BEER
for short term leases A ERR 303 251
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e M EHRRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #HZE_-Z

29. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences
under the liability method using applicable tax rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised by the Group and their movements are:

T FEXNA=tTHILEE

29. EIEIRIR

B E T RBAEBE L L MERE
TEIEZ HAME  NaBifERnEs
%E\u-l_é°

Y TBEEEE @2 £ B
& (&L BB

Fair value

adjustment

arising from

business

combination

EBaGHEE

ZAFERE

HK$'000

FATT

At 1 July 2020 R=Z= Eﬁtﬁ =i 62,609
Credited to profit or loss for the year (note 13) FF AFAEZ (FHFE13) (5,851)
Exchange realignment M 5, 58 B (1,492)

At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZEZ—FXA=1+H

E=—=2=-—-%+tHA—H 55,266

Credited to profit or loss for the year (note 13) s+ AERNEz (3L 13) (2,667)
Exchange realignment ME H, B (9,650)

At 30 June 2022 R-ZB-—#XA=+AH 42,949
As at 30 June 2022, the Group has estimated unused tax n= ZFEXA=1TH  X&E

losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$104,668,000 (2021:
HK$89,021,000), subject to the agreement of Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. As at 30 June
2022, the Group has estimated unused tax losses arising
in the PRC amounted to HK$35,892,000 (2021:
HK$35,614,000) which are available for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies will expire at
various dates for a maximum period of five years from
the reporting date. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these estimated unused tax
losses and provision for inventories as these were
incurred by the companies that have been loss-making
for some time.

Eis/%fzzzm%@mwa
/&5 18104,668,000/8 T ( — & — — 4 :
89,021,000 7T ) ] £ [R HA A 1E 1K 65 6%
BEEBZARZAKRERTER - H
BEMFERBRAE -R_ZE-_—_F XA
—t+8 AEEEFBRELZEE
&h 3 % 18 &5 $8.35,892,0008 T ( = &
——4% : 35,614,000/ ) &R E B
F(EEABAHREHHRTRF)Em
AREEEZE RN T 2 KRR ERT %
Ao KRANBWERZSHTRBAR
HEBERELCHREBEELEE  REAZ
AR ARIBEE I AEHEE
iafﬁxﬁﬁ'ﬂz RIEL -
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For the year ended 30June 2022 HEZT-_—FA=+HIEFE

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. &%

Number of
shares Amount
5 EE E

‘000 HK$'000
TR FHET

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 eachat W_ZT-_—FN_FT - _4F
30 June 2021 and 2022 NAZTHESREE
0.058 7T &k

Authorised: SEE
At 1 July 2020, 30 June 2021, R-ZE-ZTF+H—AH -
1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 —E-—-FXA=t+H"
—E-—-FtA—-HRK
—E-FXA=1H 30,000,000 1,500,000
Number of
shares Amount
v 2= NEE
‘000 HK$'000
T THT
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRETE
Authorised: SEE
At 1 July 2020, 30 June 2021, R-ZE-_ZEF+EH—A8 -
1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 —B-—-%XA=tH"
“E--ftA—-HRK
—E-__F,XH=1H 15,695,532 784,776
31. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 31. SEEH
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated BRER S MAE IR H A 2D PTARER &S] -
financial statements, the Group had pledged the ﬁi%g%iﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%$ﬁ%
following assets to secure borrowing facilities granted =Ix1H =B - I oS
; : i AR RRES T ;

(note 27) to the Group. The carrying amounts of these
assets are analysed as follows:

2022 2021

—E—-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Property, plant and equipment I EN =Nk 299,001 375,756
Investment properties REMHE 19,000 19,600
Pledged bank balances EHEARITHES 690 1,126
318,691 396,482
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32. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 32. X F M

Share
Share Contributed option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total

ROEE  BARR BRERE  RHER @t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

THL THL THEL THEL THEL
At 1 July 2020 R-E-ZFtA-A 1,217 887 414,226 55,791 (1,801,111) (113,207)
Lapse of share options BIRER N - - (55,791) 55,791 -

Loss and total comprehensive income  EREBRZERA
for the year ] — - - (244,068)  (244,068)

At30June2021and 1July2021 R-B--EXA=1AHE
“E--Ft+H-H 1,217,887 414,226 - (1,989,388)  (357,275)

Loss and total comprehensive income  EREBRZERA
for the year &% = = = (94,644)  (94,644)

At 30 June 2022 RZEZZF5xA=1H 1,217,887 414,226 - (2,084,032)  (451,919)

TECCFFR o BERFHFEEERAT 217



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MERRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 &HE—Z-_—F A=+THIEFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 33. XA FMBERAE
OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—g-—% | —=—&

— =

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

Non-current assets FRBEE

Interests in subsidiaries S ENGIE 69,630 147,954
Total non-current assets FMBEELE 69,630 147,954
Current assets REBEE

Other receivables H R RIR 1,203 9,020

Financial assets at fair value AT EFAERZ

through profit or loss SREE 205,260 -
Deposits in a financial REREE 2T
institution 20,599 318,384

Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIA S 40,289 9,025
Total current assets mENEERE 267,351 336,429
Current liabilities RENSE

Accruals and other payables FEstE R N EM E FIE 3,010 379

Amounts due to subsidiaries  FETHI B A T3R8 1,114 56,302

Lease liabilities HEAE - 201
Total current liabilities MENBERRE 4,124 56,882
Net current assets REBEEZRE 263,227 279,547
Net assets EEFE 332,857 427,501
EQUITY E

Share capital A& Zs 30 784,776 784,776

Reserves E 32 (451,919) (357,275)
Total equity R 332,857 427,501
Statement of financial position of the Company was RRBFBRARERZE__F AN
approved and authorised for issue by the board of A=THESESESH & RXETE -
directors on 30 September 2022 and are signed on its WHTINEEREKEE -
behalf by:

Cheng Chi Kin Wong Siu Keung Joe
BFER Bk
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34. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL 4. FREEMBLAFRZEH
SUBSIDIARIES
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully interest attributable Principal activities and
Name of company establishment paid share capital to the Company place of operation
ARER AR/ B ERTRARRE AAREERERD L TEERRCE Y
Directly Indirectly
B &
DeTai Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Money lending in Hong Kong
ERUNBAERAR BE 18T RERRT
Guofeng Liquor & Wine Business ~ PRC US$2,000,000 - 100%  Trading and distribution of
(Sichuan) Ltd.* (note) A 2,000,000 T liquor and wine in the PRC
EREE (T BRAR RREEERHEEEER
(PzE)
Cambridge Venture Partners Japan JPY10,000 - 100%  Hotel hospitality services in
Kabushiki Kaisha (“CVP KK") B 10,000 A Japan
1 BRI E 5 RS
Goldkeen Limited (“Goldkeen”) Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Property investment
mRERAR(RED BE 18T NERE
* The English name is for identification only * BB TBEEER
Note: I
This subsidiary is registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under LB A RRBHBIEEELAINEBERE

the law of the PRC.
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35.

220

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Disposal of the Perfect Essential Holdings
Limited and its subsidiaries (together the
“EPS Group”)

On 5 February 2021, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of its entire interest of the EPS Group at a consideration
of HK$5,800,000. The disposal has been completed on
10 February 2021. Gain on disposal amounted to
HK$9,039,000 for the year ended 30 June 2021 was

35. HEMBE 2T

i & Perfect Essential Holdings
Limited R EMtE QX B (HK B A
[EPS&HE )

RZZE-_—F_ARA - AEEHE—
BRI E=FEI M E - UWHEEER
EPSE&E 2 2 &b - B4 5,800,000
BT HEFEER _ZT-_—F_A+
Axfk - BE-_E=-—F~A=+H
LIEFE 2 & Wz A9,039,000%8 7T -

analysed as follows:

DT -

HK$'000
TR

Net liabilities disposed of: EHEBEFRE
Inventory & 1,278
Trade receivables H 5 EWARIR 326
Prepayment and other receivables TE T FRIE K E At FE R IE 1,423
Cash at bank MITRS 41
Amount due to non-controlling interests FEAS IETE AR M 2 3N IR (44,022)
Borrowings BE (243)
Lease liabilities HEAE (1,298)
Trade payables H S ENIRIA (201)
Other payables and accruals HEMENFIEREGSER (8,224)
(50,550)
Add: Release of non-controlling interests hoc B IR S 46,660
Release of exchange reserve to HEREHINERFERBR
profit or loss upon disposal 651
Less: Proceeds from disposal B BEFTEIE (5,800)
Gain on disposal (note 7) HE W () (9,039)
Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HEELEZRESRAFEE
Cash consideration received DYIEESRE 5,800
Cash at bank disposed of EHERITRS (411)
5,389
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35.

36.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement, amount
due from the EPS Group amounted to HK$116,564,000
in the book of the Company had been assigned to the
purchaser of the EPS Group.

The cash consideration of HK$5,800,000 for the disposal
of EPS Group had been fully received by the Group for
the year ended 30 June 2021.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

As lessor

Rental income generated by leasing the investment
properties held by the Group during the year was
approximately HK$510,000 (2021: HK$510,000). Tenants
located in the investment properties were committed
the to Group for leasing the properties for the next one
but not later than two years for the year ended 30 June
2022.

The Group had the following future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating lease
contracts, which were entitled to be received as at 30
June 2022 and 2021:

35.

36.

HEMBLT (@)

BIEEE W% © N2 FIRE FEIEPS
& [F 3N IE 116,564,000/ 7T & & 3E F
EPSEEME R °

HE-_ZE-_—FXA=Z1THIEHFE -
AEEDEHERENEEPSERMER
% 185,800,000 7T °

HRERE

EREEA
FAHEAEERENEREMEN
e WAL A5100008 T(ZFE = —
F :510,000870) c HEZZTZZF <
AZ+BLEEE MNREEWENHAE
EEMAEBEAZRAKR—FERTE
RREREME -

AEERENAIHEEEREARNA
AT R R & B W8 G B R
k—ZZEZ—FXA=1H

— = — —

=

YeER) -

2021

—E-—4F

HK$'000

FHT

Not later than one year TER—F 262 517

Later than one year but not later BR—FENERMRF

than two years 59 86
321 603
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37.

222

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A new share option scheme was adopted by the
Company on 13 December 2013, which replaced its old
share options scheme adopted in 2003. Under the share
option scheme, the Directors of the Company may, at
their discretion, grant to full-time employees and
executive directors of the Company and its subsidiaries
the right to take up options to subscribe for shares of
the Company. Additionally, the Company may, from
time to time, grant share options to outside third parties
for services provided to the Group. The share option
scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
expire on 12 December 2023. The subscription price of
options is subject to a minimum which is the higher of
the nominal value of a share, the closing price of the
shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant and
the average of the closing prices of the shares on the
Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the grant date of the options.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the share option scheme
must not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. No option may be granted which, if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of
shares already issued and issuable under the share
option scheme exceeding 30% of the aggregate number
of shares of the Company.

The acceptance of an option, if accepted, must be
made within 21 days from the date of the offer of the
grant with a non-refundable payment of HK$1 from the
grantee to the Company.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of options granted to each participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue from time to time unless the same is approved by
the shareholders of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders' meetings.

During the year, no share-based payment expenses
(2021: Nil) has been charged to profit or l0ss.

As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, no share option granted
under the scheme is outstanding.

37. FRRRHERTE

ARABIR—_ZTE—=F+_A+=HK
MEFTERER S MRER=ZZTZ=
FRM EERETE - BIZFERE
E ARREZAHBERTFARQA]
MEWNBARZHEERNITESE
PN RERNRG KD ZBRRE -
PEAN - RAT A A AINRE = F %
LB EARASERHRE 2
WM - BRIES TR KSR - BRI
BEFEBR_ZE=_=F+=-A+=
HEE - BAREZ REETSERR
miEwm - BEE BRGEHZATATR
KWmEREERLERESZEAATARE
RS BBROEB TSR TE
ZEEE -

RIZBE R B R 2 RITREBK
BE=H8E  TEEBEABRAR
A2 BITHD 10% © 2 ETTEREARE
& REBRESCEZRTRAE
BT B AR BB IB AN R B D A 2R
30% @ AINSR LA REBAE -

% BB - AR AMBERNZZER
HEBEA2IBEAR > MARA A
BT NAREIFIA

BRIFESARRRRLE  TRIEH
SEER12EABRANETEERZ
BRE(BECTRE - B RHEARTT
B2 BHE) Mo BT RS ERTZ
B @8 TREBEeTKEEITRN
2 1% °

BB A TR A AU B B R
BRERRGRRZIER

TR BMERODAFRA(ZF=—
FE)EBEmR -

R-E-—FE-_E-—F A=+
B WMEREEREOEREN R
171 ©
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38. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 38. i SH &R E RMEE

OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

HEREEBMELREZ KR

activities:
Amount due
to non-
controlling Lease
Borrowings interests liabilities
B ER
B8 Bm 8 HESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIL THL THL
At 1July 2020 RZE-ZHtH-H 140,671 43,661 4126
Changes from financing MERSRESD .
cash flows:
Advance to the Group MR B - 361 -
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (8,738) - -
Lease payment HERK - - (1,674)
Interest paid ERFE 2,110) - (94)
Total changes from financing BERSRESBAR
cash flows (10,848) 361 (1,768)
Other changes: Hitt#5
Interest expenses FIBAY 2,110 - 94
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) KT B B (P 35) (243) (44,022) (1,299)
Lease modification HEBY - - (836)
Exchange adjustments SRR (3,141) - -
Total other changes Hitn@Ea% (1,274) (44,022) (2,040)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 R-ZE--#xXA=tHK
—E--£+A-H 128,549 - 318
Changes from financing MERSRERD .
cash flows: ‘
Repayment of borrowings BEREE (67,508) - -
Lease payment HERK - - (522)
Interest paid ERFE (1,742) - (31)
Total changes from financing AMERSRERDAR
cash flows (69,250) - (553)
Other changes: Hi# s .
Addition E - - 653
Interest expenses FlBFHY 1,742 - 31
Lease modification MEEY - - (101)
Exchange adjustments B 5 R (6,491) - -
Total other changes H2Ban (4,749) - 583
At 30 June 2022 R-ZBE-_—&XH=+H 54,550 - 348
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39.

40.

224

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management

The key management of the Group comprises all
directors of the Company. Details of their remuneration
are disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objective of managing capital is to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns and benefits for
members and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes borrowings, deposits in a financial
institution, time deposits, bank balances and cash and
total equity as disclosed in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
management considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the management, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues as well as the issue of new debts or redemption
of existing debts.

39.

40.

FREALXS

FEEE AR
AEEEXTREEABBREARAZE
EX - ABRECHEFBERNGEARM
TSR M EE 10955 -

BemEEE

AEEESEERRGERERAKRESR
BENFFRERE M R R B H

KAz WHFHRIEEEARLGERE - A
R EARRA

AEEZERAEBERBAGEFR &
TRERE RNEREBZER X
s RTERLREURRES
R P EBHRINE B

AEBEEBEYERIEAERE—
ReEREMTERED  EEEZ
BEBRERN 2 BARKA RAARRE -
RREBE 2D  ~EEKERE
T R ETH AR R R A (A
PASHET R BB ANMETE -
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40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 40. B BBRER &)

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their corresponding fair values.

ARAEZERR  NEaMEHRKRR
BERAINEZEHEERERAME
ZEREEREEMEREZ A FHEMRS °

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting periods was as

RBEHRRZEERBLELERWT ¢

follows:
2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHT
Borrowings =R 54,550 128,549
Deposits in a financial institution N R T (20,599) (318,384)
Pledged bank balances B IPRITAE R (690) (1,126)
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRE S (66,174) (16,574)
Net debts BEFHE (32,913) (207,535)
Total equity B 609,573 802,909
Net debts to equity ratio BEFHEE RS X (0.05) (0.26)

— - —

=

FER o« BEFERKERRLA
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41. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as recognised as at 30 June 2022
and 2021 may be categorised as follows:

A1. ERNB Sz eMBERERM
AfREE

AREBR T FR_F=-—FX
AZtTHRBRZeMEERSHEE
BREED T ¢

2021
T —F
HK$'000
FHT

Financial assets SREE

Financial assets at fair value through & A FEABE 2

profit or loss ERMEE 281,051 67,305
Financial assets at amortised cost BEERNATECERMEE 111,605 480,251
392,656 547,556

Financial liabilities o A= N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  J&#E sy At E 2 2 maE 61,130 136,776

42. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 42. REHESR

The Company has conducted a series of disposal of
listed securities from 11 March 2022 to 7 September
2022. A total of 1,072,600 shares of Hong Kong
Aerospace Technology Group Limited (“HKATGL") were
disposed on the open market at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$18,170,000. The
average selling price of disposal of each HKATGL share
is approximately HK$16.94.

Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 7 September 2022.
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MEE=

RESULTS

Years ended 30 June
BERA=THILEE

2022 2021 2020 2019° 2018’
—B-C “Eo-F 2T ZE-NF T \HH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TR THT THL AT
Revenue W 41,052 24,092 48,922 62,881 59,896
Loss before income tax — FFE R ATE 1B (138,305) (47,617) (176,670) (172,920) (202,190)
Income tax credit mETEE 2,467 5,841 9,101 3,988 39,777
Loss for the year from SERRERY
continuing operations FREE (135,838) (41,776) (167,569) (168,932) (162,413)
Profit for the year from RESIR S
discontinued operations 793 - 4,879 - - 4,929
Loss for the year FREE (135,838) (36,897) (167,569) (168,932) (157,484)
Loss for the year PTATEGER
attributable to: B
Owners of the Company ~ RAEHEE A (135,838) (35,365) (163,520) (154,992) (156,754)
Non-controlling interests  JFiE iz - (1,532) (4,049) (13,940) (730)
(135,838) (36,897) (167,569) (168,932) (157,484)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR

At 30 June
RAB=1H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C —T-—F —E-FF —“T-NFE —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TERT FET FET FA5T FET
Total assets BERAE 718,848 1,000,454 1,061,954 1,271,949 1,409,707
Total liabilities =lEr it (109,275) (197,545) (270,208) (305,307) (270,603)
609,573 802,909 791,746 966,642 1,139,104
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228

The Group had disposed the new energy business during the year
ended 30 June 2021.

The new energy business has been presented as discontinued
operations in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2021. For the purpose of this financial summary, the new
energy business has not been re-presented as discontinued operations
for the four years ended 30 June 2018 to 2020.

The Group had disposed the electric business during the year ended
30 June 2018. The electric cycle business has been presented as
discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 30 June 2018.
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ERREIRETS
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